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Content 
 
This document contains the 2012/13 Annual Report and the 2012/13 Annual Statement 
of the Accounts.  The Annual Report precedes the Annual Accounts and provides 
information about the Council and Greater Manchester. It includes information on 
reforming public services, the Council’s aims, objectives and values plus details of how 
the Council works and how it performed in 2012/13 in relation to value for money and 
performance indicators. The Annual Report summarises what the Council spent money 
on in 2012/13 and how that money was raised. It also includes the simplified summary 
accounts. 
 

The Explanatory Foreword is the first section of the Annual Accounts and concentrates 
on the finances of the Council and includes a summary of its expenditure (both revenue 
and capital) compared to the budget plus an introduction to the annual accounts for 
2012/13. 
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Foreword 
 
Our Community Strategy and its delivery plan have been refreshed to focus on the 
issues to be addressed to achieve our vision. We remain convinced that job creation is 
a driver for growth, boosting confidence  in our city and making it an attractive place to 
work, live and invest. Our focus will, therefore, be on growth, people and place.  There 
will be challenging times ahead with Welfare Reform in particular likely to impact heavily 
on low income families. Work, through the Manchester Investment Fund, on complex 
families and then subsequently other streams of research as part of the Whole Place 
Community Budget pilot, has taken us to a position where we can develop perhaps the 
biggest transformation of public services ever seen - a move to place-based rather than 
service-based budgeting with the potential for both better outcomes for service users 
and savings in expenditure. 
 
A particularly severe grant settlement this year has meant that these continue to be 
challenging times for the Manchester City Council, as we endeavour to minimise the 
impact of significant budget reductions on services for our residents. 
 
Manchester keeps pushing forward regeneration and growth despite the recession. We 
remain a world class city with more global businesses choosing to invest in Manchester. 
This investment brings job opportunities both in the city and in local neighbourhoods. 
Manchester Airport, the Etihad Campus, the Science Park, Siemens and Princess 
Parkway are just a handful of examples of areas that are benefiting through this 
investment.    
 
However, what has changed during April 2012 to March 2013 (2012/13) was the way in 
which we and other public services, our partners in business and the voluntary sector 
organised staff and money to work together to achieve our ambitions. With less central 
government funding and plans to fundamentally change public services taking shape, 
we simply could not carry on in the same way.  
 
This Annual Report tells you of these changes and how we are doing in reaching our 
ambition for Manchester. It also includes a summary of the Annual Accounts. It should 
be read along with the State of the City, State of the Wards and Communities of Interest 
Reports which provides more detail.  
 
In these uncertain times, we are constantly looking at what the risks are to achieving our 
ambitions for Manchester 2015. We are as confident as we can be that we have the 
right approach, plans and partnerships in place for us all to support our residents to fulfil 
their potential for longer, happier, healthier and wealthier lives.  
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Sir Howard Bernstein, Chief 
Executive, Manchester City Council 

Sir Richard Leese, 
Leader of the Council 
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Introduction 
 
This Annual Report looks at what we spent in 2012/13 and what we achieved as we 
work towards realising our goals of living longer, happier, healthier and wealthier lives. 
Progress is not as quick as we would like in some areas but plans are in place to deal 
with this. Brief information about these plans has been included with hyperlinks to 
documents that can give you more information. 
 
Within the Annual Report we have included a summary of the Council’s Annual 
Accounts. By law we must produce a Statement of Accounts every year. This Statement 
must be audited by our external auditors and approved by our Audit Committee. Our 
external auditors are Grant Thornton. Their role is to independently state whether the 
accounts are an accurate and complete record of our finances. The Audit Committee’s 
role is to agree the accounts on behalf of the Council.   
 
The Annual Report should be read along with the State of the City 2012/13 Reports and 
the 2012/13 Annual Governance Statement (AGS). The AGS describes how the Council 
makes its decisions and deals with the money it receives and spends. It also looks at 
whether we have properly dealt with the risks attached to our decisions and our 
spending arrangements.  
 
About Manchester 
 
The Mancunian qualities of innovation, hard work and enterprise made Manchester the 
first modern city and placed it at the heart of the industrial world. But during the 20th 
century, the decline in industry led people to leave in search of work elsewhere. 
Nonetheless, the originality and creative heart and soul of Manchester has inspired a 
successful reinvention over the past 20 years. World-class sports facilities, expanding 
service industries, a growing knowledge economy, world-renowned universities and one 
of the busiest airports in the United Kingdom have brought new money and new jobs to 
Manchester, cementing its role as the powerhouse of the North West region. This 
economic growth has been led by one of the highest rates of private sector growth over 
the past 15 years and the creation of over 50,000 jobs across the city. However, in spite 
of this renewed success and pride, Manchester is still tackling social problems left by 
40-50 years of economic decline.  
 
Serious new challenges are now affecting the city and its communities. The banking 
crisis, credit crunch and recession have affected and still do affect the growth of the 
economy. These challenges have impacted on all aspects of the local economy over the 
past few years, yet the level of business activity in the city along with the strength of the 
private sector, suggests that Manchester is well placed to benefit from wider economic 
recovery.  
 
Manchester’s population continues to grow, with the 2011 Census recording that the city 
was home to over half a million people. Projections forecast an increase to 519,000 by 
2015. 
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A number of groundbreaking developments reflect the dynamic nature of the city and 
give cause for optimism about the future: 
 

• The City Deal, an agreement with the Government that will see key powers and 
responsibilities transferred to Greater Manchester to support economic growth. 
Among other things, this will result in improved housing, transport and 
infrastructure. 

• The Etihad Campus, a £127million investment across 32 hectares of East 
Manchester, creating 250 new jobs, 80 apprenticeships and a further 155 
construction posts in addition to safeguarding 310 existing jobs. 

• The SHARP Project, which builds on developments in broadband and digital 
infrastructure to establish digital and creative media hubs that are currently used 
by Sky 1 and Channel 4. MediaCityUK in Salford establishes the Greater 
Manchester area as the second most significant media centre in Europe.  

• Airport City Enterprise Zone, a new initiative which will link together a string of 
key sites to establish a new hub for global business and is expected to create up 
to 10,000 new jobs to the area over the next decade. 

• The £1.5 billion Greater Manchester Transport Fund has financed the extension 
of the Metrolink to Chorlton and East Manchester with further extensions to 
Wythenshawe and the Airport underway. 

• Corridor Manchester offers exceptional potential for growth, with over 20,000 
jobs planned over the next decade. This includes plans to expand the Science 
Park to support new business incubator activity, and the development of a 
biomedical centre of excellence at the former Royal Eye Hospital. The most 
significant of these developments is the proposed establishment of an 
International Centre for Graphene following the development of this material by 
scientists at Manchester University. Graphene has the potential to revolutionise 
IT infrastructure and other manufacturing applications. 

• The Siemens UK Industry headquarters on Princess Parkway is being expanded, 
with the creation of an additional 300 to 400 jobs over the next two years. 

 
About Greater Manchester  
 
In April 2011 the ten authorities in Greater Manchester were the first in the country to 
develop a statutory Combined Authority to co-ordinate key economic development, 
regeneration and transport functions. This new governance arrangement has been 
designed to bolster economic growth and help deliver a brighter future for Greater 
Manchester and the North West.  
 
The Greater Manchester Strategy, first developed in 2009, describes the aims and 
objectives for the city region. It sets out an ambition to secure long-term economic 
growth whilst ensuring that Greater Manchester residents are able to contribute to and 
share in that prosperity. The objectives of the strategy have been informed by the 
Manchester Independent Economic Review, an in-depth investigation into the potential 
of and barriers to the growth of the Greater Manchester economy. The ambition remains 
the same but the strategy and approach is now being reassessed in light of the 
economic challenges facing the city region. Consultation is underway on a draft new 
strategy for Greater Manchester covering 2013 – 2020. 
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Greater Manchester’s new governance arrangements also include a business-led Local 
Enterprise Partnership (LEP) aiming to support business and local authorities to 
develop the local private sector, tackle major barriers to growth and formulate shared 
strategies for the local economy to increase job creation. 
 
Further progress has been secured through the Greater Manchester City Deal 
announced on 20 March 2012. This has led to a substantial transfer of powers and 
responsibility from central government, supporting the objectives in the Greater 
Manchester Strategy of growth and job creation. The deal reflects the maturity of 
Greater Manchester’s civic and business leadership, and sets the framework for a 
rebalanced relationship with central government. 
 
The Council’s aims and objectives 
 
The Manchester Partnership has a vision of Manchester as a world class city, as 
competitive as the best international cities, that stands out as enterprising, creative and 
industrious; a city with highly skilled and motivated people living in successful 
neighbourhoods whose prosperity is environmentally sustainable and where all 
residents are valued and secure and can meet their full potential.  
 
This vision is set out in the Manchester Community Strategy. An updated statement 
regarding how partners in Manchester will work together to achieve this vision in the 
face of the current economic and financial challenges is set out in the new Strategic 
Narrative for the City.  
 
The Council and other public sector partners have experienced significant reductions in 
funding over the past three years. Public services can no longer be delivered on the 
same scale and so change is unavoidable. The Council will focus on three areas – 
Growth, People and Place - to direct its resources towards the vision for the city and 
the objectives in the Greater Manchester Strategy. These objectives focus on growing 
the economy of the city and city region and connecting people to new economic 
opportunities, reforming public services to support independence, reducing long-term 
reliance on high cost public services and maintaining services focused on the needs of 
local residents and neighbourhoods. 
 
Growth 
The city has enormous potential to create jobs and economic wealth for the benefit of 
Manchester residents and the Greater Manchester city region. The Council will work 
with its partners to reduce barriers to Manchester people developing the skills they need 
to access jobs in the city. This will enable them to contribute to and benefit from the 
economic success of the city, improving their own quality of life and their family’s.  
 
People  
The Greater Manchester Strategy demonstrates the critical link between economic 
growth and competitiveness and people-focused public service reform. Without 
addressing the latter the full potential for growth will not be realised. The key is not so 
much how the Council can reduce its level of spend, but how better outcomes from total 
public spend within the city can be delivered. Just reducing spend on its own will leave 
residents vulnerable and reduce growth prospects. 
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Place 
Manchester is rightly proud of its diversity and of the different people that make this city 
great. A ‘one size fits all’ approach would not be fit for Manchester. The delivery of our 
services must be focused on the needs and characteristics of the places they are 
delivered in – the individual neighbourhoods of Manchester. Through the Council’s 
elected members, as community leaders and representatives, and as an organisation, 
we will deliver and commission services and operate in a way that reflects the 
characteristics of Manchester’s different neighbourhoods.  
 
The Council’s Values 
 
The Council fosters a culture of behaviour based on shared values, ethical principles 
and good conduct. These values underpin everything the Council does, including how it 
works with partners and serves its local communities. The Council’s values are People. 
Pride. Place. 
 
• People. - Every day Council employees will go further to make a difference to the 

lives of Manchester people. Council employees will treat colleagues, partners and 
customers with the respect they deserve and believe only their best is good enough. 

• Pride. - Council employees are proud of the role they play in making Manchester a 
success. Council employees accept the responsibility invested in them and rise to 
meet the challenges they need to overcome. 

• Place. - Council employees celebrate all things Manchester and strive to make 
Manchester’s streets, neighbourhoods and city an even greater place to live, work 
and visit. 

 
About Us - The Council Structure 
 
The Council is made up of 96 Councillors and it meets seven times a year. It starts with 
an annual meeting in May when it appoints a Lord Mayor of Manchester and elects 
councillors to serve on committees for the year ahead.  Full Council meets to debate the 
budget, constitution and the policy framework. Council also appoints: 
• the Executive - the principal decision making body 

• Overview and Scrutiny Committees - to monitor decisions taken, hold decision 
makers to account, review Council policies and make recommendations on future 
policy options 

• Regulatory Committees including:  

• Audit Committee  

• Licensing and Appeals Committee  

• Licensing Policy Committee, and  

• Planning and Highways Committee  
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• Personnel Committee and Constitutional and Nominations Committee - to consider 

staffing, constitutional and related matters 

• Standards Committee – to promote high standards of conduct by councillors. 

Some decisions are delegated to officers (the Council’s staff) and details are included in 
the Scheme of Delegation in the Council's Constitution. 
 
During 2012/13 the Council was structured around four directorates: 
 
• Families, Health and Wellbeing - The directorate delivers the Council’s priorities in 

prevention, promoting independence and wellbeing.  The directorate delivers more 
holistic, joined-up outcomes for vulnerable adults in Manchester.  The directorate 
also works in an integrated fashion with Public Health Manchester to promote health 
and wellbeing. 

 
• Children and Commissioning – The vision for the directorate is to ensure all children 

and young people in Manchester are healthy, safe, enjoy and achieve at school so 
they have the skills, abilities self esteem and positive outlook to get good jobs, make 
a positive contribution and be successful in adult life. 

 
• Neighbourhoods – The directorate is committed to developing, delivering and 

commissioning high quality services that best meet the needs of Manchester 
residents in the most cost effective, efficient and responsive manner.  The 
directorate has a relentless focus on the needs of different neighbourhoods, 
ensuring the city is clean and safe.  

 
• Corporate Core – The Core directorate provides the leadership, governance and 

support that enables the organisation to achieve Manchester’s ambition to be a 
world class city, with sustained economic growth and better lives and opportunities 
for residents. 

 
In 2013/14 the directorates have been restructured so there are now three directorates: 
The Corporate Core, Growth and Neighbourhoods and Children and Families. 
 
Reforming Public Services 
 
The Council has experienced a significant reduction in resources over the past two 
financial settlements, first having to make savings of £170million from 2011/12 to 
2012/13 followed by a requirement to achieve further savings of £80million by 2014/15. 
To address these challenges the Council has embarked upon a radical programme of 
public service reform to ensure that, with the council’s partners in the public, private and 
voluntary sectors, the maximum benefit is obtained from the remaining resources in the 
city. 
 
In order to achieve the vision for the city, greater emphasis is being placed on treating 
public spending as an investment and reducing dependency on high-cost services. A 
series of programmes are being piloted and rigorously tested to understand their ability 
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to reduce dependency on high-cost services and reduce public service expenditure. 
These include: 
 
• New delivery models for services, such as health visits, immunisations and dental 

checks, for 0-4 year olds to help them get the best possible start in life and be ready 
to be happy and successful at school. 

• Transforming justice through better, more co-ordinated support for offenders at the 
points of arrest, sentence and release. This programme focuses on young people 
(the peak age of offending is 19), women offenders, due to the whole system costs 
of female custody on families, and domestic violence. 

• Integrating Health and Social Care, improving community services and reducing 
unnecessary hospital admissions particularly amongst older people. 

• Encouraging behavioural change, such as citizens taking more responsibility for their 
own neighbourhoods. 

• A whole family approach with "troubled” families, getting the full spectrum of public 
agencies, national and local, to work together in a co-ordinated way, focussed on the 
family rather than just their particular service speciality. 

• Helping troubled families obtain and sustain employment, working with the NHS to 
reduce the number of people moving from sick pay to sickness benefits and 
strengthening the links between schools, training providers and employers. 

 
Case study: Family Intervention Project 

 
Following an extensive history of Children’s Services and multi-agency involvement, 
Family Y was referred to the Family Intervention Project (FIP) by the allocated social 
worker. 
 
There are six children, aged 5 to 15, in the family; the father and mother live apart. The 
eldest child aged 15 is not the biological son of the mother. Three of the children were 
supposed to be living with father but often all six end up staying in mother’s three-
bedroom flat. All six had previously been subject of a Child Protection Order, the 
primary concern being neglect characterised by inadequate home conditions, poor 
sleeping arrangements, lack of routines, poor school attendance and lack of 
boundaries.  
 
In addition, both parents were regular cannabis users. The mother had served a three-
year sentence for smuggling controlled drugs into the country and the father was facing 
eviction by his Registered Social Landlord (RSL) for cultivating cannabis in his property. 
At least one of the children was thought to be a drug user by smoking cannabis and was 
suspected of being an occasional dealer when visiting his biological mother outside the 
Manchester area.   
 
A chaotic home life, overcrowding and a lack of discipline and routine meant the 
children would often not go to bed until the early hours and, consequently, would fall 
asleep at school or not attend at all. Difficulties of getting the children up in the morning, 
coupled with the need to get six children to a number of different schools with different 
travel arrangements meant that it was logistically impossible for them all to arrive on 
time. The children were disengaged from school activities and exhibited challenging 

10 



Manchester City Council Annual Report Incorporating Statement of Accounts 2012/13 
 
behaviour. Three of the children had been excluded from mainstream schools, one of 
them despite being regarded as an A–C student.  
 
A number of the children presented with physical and mental health problems that had 
not been attended to and none had regular dental check-ups. Avoidable accidents, due 
to lack of parental supervision, had led to a number of injuries to the children.  
 
The mother had little control over the children, especially the older ones, resulting in 
constant complaints about their antisocial behaviour: littering communal areas, 
harassing other tenants, causing damage to the property and starting fires. The mother 
had been informed that, because of this, her tenancy agreement that was coming to an 
end would not be renewed. Also, one child had recently been arrested for shoplifting. 
 
The family was in financial crisis. The mother’s ability to cope with her situation 
continued to deteriorate and her situation began to affect her ability to manage everyday 
tasks. She was also being pressured by the Jobcentre, which expected her to be 
looking for work. She had little motivation to improve her situation and mentioned 
wanting to end her life.  
 
Although the family was later referred to the Complex Families Parenting Team (CFPT), 
their assessment indicated that the mother’s situation was too chaotic for her to fully 
engage with the course.  
 
Interventions have been planned around a multi-agency approach that addresses the 
family’s needs in a holistic and sequential manner. All relevant agencies attended case 
conferences, core groups and strategy meetings to ensure a multi-agency response to 
the family’s needs. The FIP worker transported the mother to meetings where 
appropriate. The FIP and other key workers kept in close contact with the family, 
regularly making planned and unplanned visits, including evenings, early mornings and 
weekends.  
 
Outcomes: 
 
• Effective, trust-based relationships have improved between the mother and 

professionals 
• A co-ordinated, multi-agency approach to addressing the family’s needs is in 

working progress 
• The mother has visited her GP for support in dealing with her emotional wellbeing 

but needs to be more open about her cannabis use 
• The two youngest children’s educational needs are now being met more effectively: 

two of the children now have places at a primary school in the local area; two other 
children have a Statement of Special Educational Needs, and alternative provisions 
have been identified at PRUs 

• Work is ongoing around helping the family to become more financially stable 
• Work is taking place to support the mother in improving her parenting skills  
• Mother has found a new tenancy. 
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Climate Change 
 
The aim for Manchester to be among the world’s leading low carbon cities has remained 
among our priorities over the year. Organisations and individuals across the city have 
continued to make progress against the city’s climate change action plan, expanding the 
scale of the activity seen in 2011/12, and helping to embed action on climate change in 
the way the city works, lives, and continues to develop. Work in 2012/13 has also 
helped to ensure that the scale of this activity will continue to grow in future years, 
supported by joint-working with Greater Manchester colleagues and Government 
through the newly established Greater Manchester Low Carbon Hub. 

The Government’s Green Deal initiative was piloted in Manchester this year, delivering 
energy efficiency improvements to over 250 properties, in advance of the launch of the 
Greater Manchester Green Deal Programme in early 2014. Alongside physical 
improvements to our buildings and infrastructure, 2012/13 has also seen the launch of 
the Manchester Carbon Literacy project, aiming to equip all residents, workers, and 
students with the knowledge they need  to take action on climate change that will 
improve their lives, their families’ and those of communities across the city and the 
planet. 

As well as major citywide projects and programmes, increasing numbers of 
organisations are taking responsibility for their environmental impact and action on 
climate change. Increased numbers of businesses and schools are taking action with 
support from the Environmental Business Pledge and Eco Schools programmes, 
helping to not only reduce their carbon footprint, but also to make financial savings that 
support their successful operations. Record numbers of residents have also used the 
Greater Manchester Energy Advice Service this year, looking to take action to reduce 
their energy bills and carbon emissions. 

Manchester Schools Flying their Green Flag – Case Study 
 
Eco-Schools are an international awards programme that guides schools in improving 
their environmental performance.   The scheme provides a framework for schools to 
embed environmental principles into the heart of the school.   The programme offers a 
variety of themes including litter, waste, energy, water, school grounds, biodiversity, 
healthy living, transport, and global citizenship.   
 
In Manchester, the council supports the programme and encourages all schools and 
children’s centres to take part.  Currently in Manchester 83% of state primary and high 
schools, and academies are registered on the programme and approximately 50,000 
pupils in Manchester are engaged in the process.  In addition, around two-thirds of the 
city’s children’s centres are registered on the programme. There is a growing concern 
for schools to be more aware of how they operate environmentally as they contribute to 
40% of the council’s energy bill.   
 
The council offers support and guidance to schools to help improve their environmental 
performance.  Through teacher training to student engagement, working through the 
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Eco-Schools review and action plan, the council can help to tailor projects and services 
to support a school through the programme. 
 
Seventeen schools and two children’s centres in Manchester have been awarded a 
Green Flag.  This prestigious award recognises a schools commitment and 
achievement in tackling environmental issues in their schools, reducing their carbon 
emissions, and changing behaviour of pupils, staff and the wider community to live a 
low carbon lifestyle. 
 
The programme has developed to incorporate compulsory elements.  Schools have to 
show evidence of an energy project, that they understand carbon emissions and 
influence others to reducing their carbon foot print.  In particular, in 2012 Aspinal 
Primary School and Heald Place Primary School excelled in learning about energy and 
were awarded their first Green Flag. 
 
Green Flag schools share their good practice with other schools, and with their local 
communities and the council, building lasting relationships.  They look to work with their 
local neighbourhood, charities, and local businesses, and welcome others into their 
school to show the pride and enthusiasm for where they live and study.  

 
The Manchester Carbon Literacy Project aims to provide access to at least one day of 
training in climate change for all residents, students and workers in the city. Since its 
launch, 2,500 people and some 85 organisations from across the city have been directly 
engaged, including Manchester Arndale, the Co-operative Group, Manchester 
Metropolitan University, The University of Manchester, and several schools. In addition, 
Manchester City Council will train all staff over a three-year period. 

In 2012/13 Manchester businesses reduced their carbon emissions by 2,110 tonnes 
and saved £470,121 through more efficient use of resources with support from the 
Environmental Business Pledge. The scheme also helped to safeguard sales of 
£364,000, demonstrating that the city’s businesses are already making a transition into 
the growing global low carbon economy. 

The city’s climate change action plan for the period 2010-20, Manchester: A Certain 
Future (M:ACF), recognises the role that Manchester can play in helping to address 
climate change, and crucially how the delivery of the plan will benefit Manchester 
residents and businesses. In the three years since the plan was launched, progress has 
been made, with local action on climate change moving from being a subject with 
relatively low public awareness, to becoming an opportunity for positive change that is 
being embraced by increasing numbers of stakeholders across the city.  

In 2013 the M:ACF Steering Group published Manchester: A Certain Future 2013 
Update, providing a summary of progress between 2010 and 2012 and the priorities for 
the next three years to 2015 (www.manchesterclimate.com). Two headline objectives 
are CO2 reduction and Culture Change. 
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Manchester’s Risk & Resilience Strategy 
 
We have reorganised the way we deal with the risks that we face in today’s uncertain 
economic climate and reduced central government funding.  

 
Our approach to dealing with emergency planning has also changed with the Association 
of Greater Manchester Authorities (AGMA) planning and delivering more work across 
Manchester and our neighbouring councils. For further information about this please see 
our Risk and Resilience Strategy. 
 
Council Transformation Programme  
 
Ways of working across the Council have been transformed but there is still more to do to 
complete our transformation programme. Different services are being brought together to 
work more closely as integrated teams. This means services can be planned and respond 
more effectively to residents.  
 
Promoting equality and tackling inequality in Manchester 
 
We take our legal responsibilities to tackle inequality seriously not only because it is our 
duty to do so but also because the success of the City is partly due to the contribution 
made by people from many different ethnic, cultural, and religious backgrounds, of all 
ages, abilities and sexual orientation.  
 
We produce a Communities of Interest Report every year which tells of some of the 
issues that are facing different communities. The Report is used to help us make 
decisions about the areas we need to focus on. We also carry out equality impact 
analysis of our decisions to look at what the likely impact might be on different groups of 
people.   

 
Delivering equality is only possible if we understand what impact our services, policies 
and functions have on our communities.  Under the Public Sector Equality Duty of the 
Equality Act 2010, public services are required to analyse the impact on equality when 
exercising its functions.  Equality Impact Assessments are conducted on any changes to 
policy that could have an impact on the community. 
 

 
Equality Funding Programme Case Study 

 
Last year the Equalities Funding Programme was reviewed to ensure it can support 
Voluntary and Community Sector organisations to tackle inequalities across the city.  
Where previously the programme was split into four separate strands, with individual 
annual funding allocations under BME; LGBT; Disability; and Gender, the programme 
now consists of a single funding pot that will be spread across the full spectrum of 
equalities characteristics. 
 
The portfolio of completed applications suggested that the review was successful in 
broadening the scope of the programme with all protected characteristics represented 
by at least one application.  ‘Age’, not previously explicitly included in the old four-strand 
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programme, was actually found to be relevant to a considerable portion of the 
application portfolio. 
 
The programme, running from 2013 – 2016, with a total value of £1.9m, was agreed in 
April 2013 and consists of 21 organisations being funded for up to 3 years out of a total 
78 organisations who submitted an application.  The combined amount of funding 
requested through these 78 applications was in excess of £7m which highlights just how 
important the Equalities Funding Programme is as a source of support to voluntary and 
community sector groups who aim to deliver projects that address and tackle 
inequalities faced by sections of communities in Manchester. 
 
The Criteria for the fund was derived from the Council’s Corporate Equality priorities, 
including strengthening our knowledge, understanding and evidence base; tackling 
discrimination to narrow the gap and celebrating the diversity of Manchester. In addition, 
reducing worklessness; raising aspirations; and promoting private sector growth make 
up the Manchester Boards priorities for the City. 
 
The programme consists of projects such as supporting women into employment; 
providing advice, training and consultation to LGBT people; supporting integration of 
individuals and families from refugee communities and; supporting disabled people in 
developing independent living skills. 
 
 
 

 
Putting the Customer First 
 
The Customer Service Organisation (CSO) comprises the Customer Service Centre 
(CSC), at the forefront of the new Public Service Hub in the fully refurbished Town Hall 
Extension, and Contact Manchester, the Council’s centralised Corporate Contact Centre 
based at the refurbished Wenlock Way offices.  
 
The CSC is the Council’s customer service operation, handling enquiries from those 
customers who require face-to-face support and assistance. It was launched in June 
2010 with the integration of six counter operations that had formerly operated 
independently from the Town Hall Extension. The CSC was located on the ground floor 
at Number One First Street until the end of June 2013. Since 1 July 2013, the CSC has 
returned to the fully refurbished Town Hall Extension. 
 
Contact Manchester opened in April 2011, bringing together a number of previously 
disparate telephone operations. This was supported by the Council’s new numbering 
strategy, reducing the number of telephone numbers from approximately 95 to just eight 
(0161 234 5000–5007). In addition to telephone contacts, it handles online, email and 
SMS customer enquiries across the majority of the Council’s key services. 
 
During 2012/13 additional services have been integrated into the CSO to support the 
corporate objective of creating a centralised and dedicated customer service ‘centre of 
excellence’ function. 
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Below is a summary of the Contact Centre’s performance during 2012-13. For further 
information see our Corporate Contact Centre Review Report. 
Figure 1  
 

Customer Service Organisation Performance
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Figure 1 shows that whilst transactions with the Council increased overall by more than 
2% from 2011/12 to 2012/13, this was not consistent across the different channels. 
There was an increase in telephone calls of 1%, when comparing the two years, 
whereas email volume declined by nearly 3%. The greatest increase was in the online 
channel, where there was a greater than 10% increase. This is the cheapest transaction 
for the council to process. The face to face channel is the most expensive way for the 
council to process transactions. There was a greater than 3% decrease in this way of 
contacting the council comparing the last two years. 
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Figure 2 
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Figure 2 above shows that two thirds of the service enquires at the Corporate Contact 
Centre, where telephone, email and online form enquires are handled, were for Council 
Tax and Benefits and Neighbourhood Services. Within Neighbourhood Services, Waste 
and Recycling requests are consistently the main enquiry. 
 
Figure 3 
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Figure 3 above shows that almost half of the enquiries at the Customer Service Centre, 
which deals mainly with face to face customers, are related to Benefits. Licensing made 
up 29% of all the enquires.  
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How the Council Performed in 2012/13 
 
Value for Money 
 
The vision for Manchester is to become a world class city; to grow and sustain the 
economy of the city, and to translate that growth into better lives for Manchester 
residents. Achieving this vision, against an increasingly difficult financial and economic 
backdrop, means that even greater emphasis is being placed on changing the way we 
work to deliver better services and improve value for money. This means redesigning 
services to make better use of resources: in essence, 'doing more with less'. 
 
Manchester City Council has a strong financial standing and a good track record of 
achieving savings through adopting more efficient ways of providing our services whilst 
maintaining prudent levels of reserves and maintaining low council tax increases. 
 
In order to obtain the best outcome from each pound spent the Council has: 
 
• Designed and rigorously tested new delivery models for public services designed to 

support Manchester people away from high-cost public services and towards greater 
independence. This will realise savings both for the Council and other public 
services in Manchester. 

• Reduced the operational estate from 363,000m2 at June 2010 to 342,000m2 at 
September 2012, reducing costs and emissions. 

• Designed ways of working closer with partners, for example sharing premises to 
deliver services more intelligently and reduce costs. 

• Improving the level of information we have regarding the evidence of success from 
the services we deliver and commission, so we can get maximum use out of the 
services proven to work best and safely decommission those services that are not 
having the necessary outcomes and are no longer needed. 

• Carried out more of its transactions online, rather than through more costly means 
such as face-to-face or on the telephone. In the first 9 months of 2012/13 there were 
4.16m visits to the website, an increase of 13% from last year. 

• Recorded savings in procurement of £41.46m since the Central Procurement Hub 
was established in 2007/08. In addition to delivering savings the Procurement Group 
has focused on bringing social, economic and environmental benefits to local 
communities. This work included opening up procurement opportunities to small 
businesses through streamlining and simplifying procurement processes. The 
Department of Communities and Local Government recognised the Council as one 
of the winners of the ‘Best Councils to do Business with’ competition in 2013. 

• Improved the level of intelligence and benchmarking on expenditure to further inform 
budget decisions. 

 
Effect of the Current Economic Climate 
 
Manchester remains the main driver of growth for Greater Manchester - both in terms of 
employment and Gross Value Added (GVA) productivity. Whilst the economic downturn 
has had a considerable impact on all aspects of the local economy, on a macro 
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economic level the city remains relatively well placed to emerge more quickly than many 
other UK cities.  
The 2011-13 Local Government Settlement has undoubtedly placed significant 
additional pressure on Manchester City Council, particularly on its ability to continue 
delivering key services to residents and businesses in the city. The Council remains 
committed to our pre-settlement focus of creating the right conditions for economic 
growth in the city - promoting private sector investment, creating jobs, reducing 
worklessness and resident dependency on welfare - the settlement has provided an 
opportunity to redefine the Council's role in delivering this goal. Increasingly, the Council 
will move away from the direct provision of many services in the city and towards a 
strategic commissioning and influencing role; directing services to meet emerging needs 
and ensuring that delivery by external private/public/third sector partners is of the 
highest standard.  
 
Our limited resources are therefore being focused on areas of greatest need; providing 
sufficient resources to safeguard and protect the most vulnerable residents and 
commissioning activity that is not catered for by some of the Government’s flagship 
welfare to work provision.  
 
What has improved in 2012/13 
 
During this year a strategic narrative has been developed and endorsed to refresh the 
Community Strategy 2006-2015 and provide a framework for the Budget Setting 
process. Progress in delivering the Community Strategy continues to be measured 
through the State of the City indicators and supplemented by other data sets such as 
the real time economy dashboard. Some of the key achievements in 2012/13 are 
outlined below. 
 
Economic Growth 
 
In 2011 Manchester’s economy, combined with that of the other four Greater 
Manchester South districts (Trafford, Stockport, Tameside and Salford), generated an 
economic output (GVA) of £32.51billion – over a quarter of the region’s output. This is 
an increase of 1.5% on the previous year, indicating some recovery from the economic 
downturn of 2008–10. Measured in terms of GVA per head of resident population, 
Greater Manchester South outperforms national and regional comparators, rising from 
£17,065 in 2001 to £22,081 in 2011. During the past decade, Greater Manchester 
South’s share of the region’s GVA has risen slightly, from 25.8% to 26.2%, reflecting the 
area’s importance as the hub of economic activity in the North West. However, while the 
GM South economy performs above average when compared to the other Core Cities, 
the gap with London continues to widen.  
 
As the region's major employment centre, Manchester has seen employment in the city 
grow substantially over the past decade, with 309,400 people employed in the city in 
2011. The sectors responsible for the largest share of Manchester’s employment growth 
over the past ten years are the financial and professional services sectors, which now 
account for more than one-fifth (22%) of the city's employees, compared to a national 
rate of 13%. The challenge for the city is to build on the success of the past decade in 
the face of very different economic conditions and a much more competitive and 
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challenging global market. Manchester’s strength in the financial, professional and 
scientific sectors suggests that it is well placed to benefit from an upturn in the 
economy, as these sectors are expected to be some of the key drivers of the recovery.  
 
Increasing the wages of Manchester residents is a priority for the Manchester 
Partnership. The Partnership recognises the need to address the gap between 
workplace wages (the wages of those who work in the city but may live anywhere) and 
resident wages (those who live in the city but may work anywhere). Reflecting the 
success of the local economy, Manchester has the highest average weekly workplace 
wage of any of the Core Cities (£433.40). However, it also has the third lowest resident 
wage (£362.60), resulting in the largest wages gap of any of the Core Cities (£70.80). 
These figures include the weekly wages of both full and part time workers. 
 
Sustainable Travel: supporting residents into work 
 
The Council works in partnership with others to help workless people into jobs. In a 
practical way, the Council recognises that transport can be a barrier to gaining and 
sustaining work. The Wythenshawe Travel Service has over the past 12 months 
assisted over 900 Wythenshawe residents in accessing employment via help, advice 
and guidance on bus services and cycling, including tickets for interviews and recycled 
bikes to reach jobs with a shift pattern. A key part of this service is getting people to 
access jobs in areas they previously considered inaccessible to them. We are now 
looking to expand this successful scheme to other communities in the city. 

Better Transport: connecting communities to opportunities 
 
There are a range of initiatives that have been completed during 2012/13 that have 
been designed to better connect Manchester residents to work opportunities.  These are 
detailed below: 
 
• Improved cycling infrastructure through the Local Sustainable Transport Fund, 

Cycling Safety Fund and Connecting Places Fund. This includes improved, secure 
cycle parking and changing facilities in Manchester City Centre; more cycle lanes 
and "toucan" crossings of the inner ring road; upgrading cycle paths; free cycle 
training for all Manchester residents; support for businesses to encourage more 
people to cycle; and safer junctions for cyclists 

• Improved facilities for bus passengers through the Better Bus Area Fund and 
working with Transport for Greater Manchester (TfGM) and bus operators to secure 
more improvements through the proposal to become a "Better Bus Area" 

• Opening of more Metrolink lines to East Didsbury and Rochdale; more double trams 
serving Manchester in the peak periods; the construction of Queens Road stop 

• Road safety improvements: There were 1,133 road traffic collisions (RTCs) in 
Manchester during 2012. Between April 2012 and March 2013 168 people were 
either killed or seriously injured (KSI) as a result of such collisions. The KSI figure 
provides an important measure for determining the progress made in making our 
roads and communities safer.  KSI casualties fell by 13.8% from 195 in 2011/12 to 
168 in the latest 12 months ending March 2013.  
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Improving Education: equipping our young people for their futures 
 
As regards education, for Key Stage 2 the difference between the percentage of pupils 
achieving Level 4 and above in English and Maths in Manchester and the England 
average has improved to 1% from 3% in 2011 highlighted in the table below. 
 
Key Stage 2 attainment trend 
 
  Results 
  2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 

Manchester 

% L4+ in English 75 75 75 78 84 
% L4+ in Maths 75 76 78 78 84 
% L4+ in English and 
Maths 68 68 69 71 78 

National 

% L4+ in English 81 80 80 82 85 
% L4+ in Maths 79 79 79 80 84 
% L4+ in English and 
Maths 73 72 73 74 79 

 
The percentage of pupils making the expected level of progress (two or more levels) 
from Key Stage 1 to 2 in English and Maths are higher in Manchester than they are 
nationally. The 2012 GCSE results for Manchester schools show increases across the 
board; the percentage of pupils gaining 5 or more A*-C grades including A*-C grades in 
GCSE English and Maths in Manchester has improved to 53.2% this year, compared to 
51.8% in 2011. The Manchester average is still below the England average but the 
difference between the Manchester and England averages has improved from 7.1% in 
2011 to 6.2% in 2012. These improvements are encouraging and will help Manchester 
pupils access some of the opportunities offered by the city’s economy. Further work to 
strengthen the link between education and the skills required by Manchester employers 
will ensure that the city and Manchester pupils benefit fully from this success. 

 
Improving Place: Creating and Maintaining Safe and Clean Neighbourhoods 
 
The continued success of Manchester depends on the ability to develop and maintain 
successful, diverse, safe and clean neighbourhoods. The Council and its partners have 
been focusing on getting the basics right: keeping streets clean, tackling crime and 
providing an efficient and effective waste and recycling service. 
 
Over recent years the respondents to Manchester’s residents’ surveys have expressed 
increased satisfaction with their local area as a place to live, and overall there has been 
a significant improvement in respondents’ satisfaction since 2000/01. In the telephone 
survey this year, 77% of respondents were satisfied with their local area as a place to 
live, which is the same as 2011/12. 
 
The Council is committed to increasing the amount of waste recycled by providing 
services that meet the needs of residents. Following the successful implementation of 
prioritised recycling collections in June and July 2011, recycling has increased 
significantly and 2012/13 was the first full year of this being implemented. Each 
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household has produced 31.65kg less waste in 2012/13 compared to 2011/12. This is a 
6% reduction in household waste produced. Garden and food waste increased from 
23,341 tonnes in 2011/12 to 24,664 tonnes in 2012/13 – an increase of 6% or 6.6kg per 
household.  
 
The city has made further progress in reducing crime and protecting people. 
Manchester’s 2012/13 target for a reduction in victim-based crime (including violence 
against the person, sexual offences, stealing and criminal damage and arson) was to 
reduce it by 5% by April 2013. The Partnership has been successful in reducing victim-
based crime by almost 9% over the past year, and by over 18% since 2010/11, which 
equates to over 10,000 fewer victims of victim-based crime since 2010/11. 
 
Just over 35 million visits were made to Manchester City Council’s cultural and 
recreational facilities in 2012/13. The number of visits to libraries saw a decrease of 
14.7% in 2012/13 compared with 2011/12, while visits to galleries increased by 8.8%, 
with visits to leisure facilities increasing slightly by 1.3%. The number of visits to cultural 
and recreational facilities increased slightly in 2012/13 compared with the previous year. 
This includes visits to the Council’s cultural and recreational facilities, the MEN Arena, 
Manchester City Football Club, and other cultural venues. The Council continues to 
promote and encourage participation from schools and other educational 
establishments in its recreational and leisure facilities. In 2012/13 there were 317,328 
participants from schools, a 5.3% increase on the previous year (301,084). This is in 
line with the increase in overall visits to facilities. Libraries saw an increase of 68.5% in 
participants from this group, while in Galleries the number fell by just over one-third 
compared to the previous year.  
 
People Focused Service Reform: Changing the way Council Services are  
Delivered. 
 
The Council and its partners have been designing radically different ways of delivering 
public services through Public Service Reform. This has changed the focus on public 
services from helping people to helping people to be able to help themselves. By 
working this way public services will aim to encourage resilience and independence and 
reduce the reliance on the most high-cost public services. There is still much work to do 
but already there have been some successes: 
 
• Reducing persistent absence from school - In 2011/12 attendance in Manchester 

primary and secondary schools increased from 2010/11 and is now slightly better 
than the England average. This is a considerable difference from the position five 
years ago when attendance in Manchester primary schools was over one 
percentage point lower than the national average. In Manchester secondary schools 
attendance continues to improve, but is still below the national average. The 
difference between the Manchester average and the England average has improved 
from Manchester being 3.2 percentage points below the England average in 2007/08 
to being 0.8 percentage points below in 2011/12.  

• Reducing offending and re-offending by young people – this is critical to 
ambitions to support independence and resilience and reduce the pressure on 
prisons and the probation service. The number of offences leading to a sentence for 
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young people has reduced by 27.6% in 2012/13 compared to 2011/12. This equates 
to 528 fewer offences committed by Manchester young people. 

• Supporting healthy, independent lives – The key measure of longer, healthier 
lives is life expectancy. Reducing the gap between male and female life expectancy 
at birth in Manchester compared to England overall remains one of the Manchester 
Partnership’s main objectives. The most recent data shows that life expectancy at 
birth for females has increased from 76.9 years in 1995–97 to 79.1 years in 2008–
10, while life expectancy at birth for men has increased from 70.1 years in 1995–97 
to 74.1 years in 2008–10. The Council and Manchester’s Clinical Commissioning 
Groups have a strategy to support people where possible into independence. For 
some people this may be supporting them back into work and independence, for 
other people this may be supporting people to remain safe in their homes rather than 
being admitted to residential or nursing care.  

• Safely reducing the number of children in care - The Council is constantly 
looking to improve outcomes for children in its care but it is still the case that children 
in care generally have worse outcomes than those who are not. Children should be 
discharged from care or adopted as soon as possible once it has been established 
as being in the best interest of the child. The total number of Manchester Looked 
after Children at the end of March 2013 was 1,304, a slight decrease compared to 
the previous year (1,310). 

• Getting more young children (0-4s) well equipped for school - The first few 
years of life are crucial for a child’s development. The percentage of pupils that 
achieved a good level of attainment in the Early Years Foundation Stage (EYFS) 
Profile increased from 54.4% in 2011 to 58% in 2012, but this is still well below the 
England average of 64% in 2012. Good attainment in the EYFS indicates the child is 
ready for school and significantly less likely to be dependant on public services later 
on in life. It is a strategic ambition for the city to improve this score by providing 
universal early years support to ensure children get off to a good start in life. 

 
Low Carbon Technology 
 
Indirect emissions from the Council’s highways are being reduced by a programme of 
replacing street lighting with low-energy LEDs, including street lights, bollards, and 
signs: 

• Over the last year, LED apparatus has been installed in all bollards, refuge 
beacons, belisha beacons and 65% of all illuminated traffic signs which should 
save around 280 tonnes of CO2 and around £51,000 annually.  Completion of 
LED installations on all illuminated traffic signs is expected over the next 12 
months with savings of £13,000 pa. and 70 tonnes of CO2 expected. 

• During 2012/13, the Environmental Business Pledge scheme saved 2,110 tonnes 
of CO2 and £470,121 for Manchester businesses. In addition, the Pledge 
safeguarded sales amounting to £364,000. As a direct result of the success of 
the scheme, the Pledge has been widened out to other Greater Manchester 
Local Authorities creating wider economic and social benefits for businesses and 
residents across Greater Manchester. 
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Summary of the Annual Accounts 2012/13 
 
Introduction 
 
In line with the Council’s commitment to transparency and accountability to its 
stakeholders, we have produced a summary of the Council’s Annual Statement of 
Accounts for 2012/13. This summary has been produced in a simpler format than the 
full Annual Statement of Accounts which is required to comply with proper accounting 
practice.  The Summary Accounts attempt to provide more meaningful information and 
highlight key financial information relating to the Council to non-technical users.  

 
 Where the money was spent in 2012/13 
 

The Council spends money on a whole range of services to 
help support the people of Manchester to achieve and enjoy a 
better quality of life.  This spending can be both revenue and 
capital.  Revenue spending relates to the day to day running 
costs of the Council such as staffing, purchasing services from 
third parties, utilities and minor equipment.  Capital funds are 
spent to buy assets which are to benefit Manchester and its 
residents over a longer period such as buildings and highways. 

 
The Council’s budget 
runs for the financial year from 1 April to the fol-
lowing 31 March.  We consult on our budget each 
year before finally deciding on the priorities and 
setting the budget in March.  
 
2012/13 has been a challenging financial year in 
which the council has achieved £61m of savings 
on top of £109m in 2011/12 following the reduced 

financial settlement from central government. 
 
The following table below the change in budget between 2011/12 and 2012/13. 
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        2011-12 

Spend 
Pressures 
and Other 

Adjustments Savings 2012-13 
           
Departmental 
Requirements:        
Children’s Services   158,627 3,397 -21,917 140,107 
Core Services   64,514 2,877 -5,002 62,389 
Adults Services   166,226 7,373 -16,122 157,477 
Neighbourhood Services   81,461 933 -12,941 69,453 
     470,828 14,580 -55,982 429,426 
           
Budgets to be allocated  2,906 2,277  5,183 
Cross Cutting Savings   -2,463  -4,256 -6,719 
           
Corporate Requirements:        
Levies    60,007 4,334  64,341 
Capital Financing Costs  48,564 3,455  52,019 
Contingency   1,113 196  1,309 
           
        580,955 24,842 -60,238 545,559 

 
 
Overall we spent £1,676 million (gross) which represented £3,328.69 per resident1.  The 
chart on the adjacent page, figure 4, shows where our revenue money was spent in 
2012/13 analysed across the main service divisions, which are different from how the 
Council is structured. The Council is required to report on these categories to ensure 
consistent accounting treatment and comparability with other local authorities. These 
figures exclude costs, such as depreciation, that do not have to be funded by council tax 
or housing rents.  However, these costs are included in the full accounts which are 
appended to this report.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1 Resident numbers based on ONS mid year estimates 2011 
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Figure 4 
 

 
 
 
Where the money came from in 2012/13 
 

The funding we receive is used to provide effective, 
high-quality services for our residents.   
 
In 2012/13 the majority of our income (60%) came from 
government including an allocation of business rates 
which are pooled nationally before being redistributed 
on a formula basis to Local Authorities. The remainder 
of our funding came from council tax, fees and charges 
and other income such as dividends and interest.    
 
The City Council did not increase its council tax in 
2012/13 from the previous year, or the year before that.  
We set the second lowest council tax in Greater 
Manchester.  Our average Band D council tax was 
£1,130.01, rising to £1,326.99 when the precepts were 
added for the Police Service and Fire Service.   
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The chart below, figure 5, shows how we funded our spending of £1,676 million in 
2012/13 analysed across the different types of income received during the year.  
 
 
Figure 5 
 

 
 
Cost of Council Services 
 
The Income and Expenditure Account below shows the cost of running Council services 
between 1 April 2012 and 31 March 2013 and how this has been funded. 
 

General Fund Services 
Gross 

Expendi-
ture 

Gross 
Income 

Net Expen-
diture 

  £000s £000s £000s 
Adult Social Care 204,078 (39,676) 164,402 
Central Services to the Public (cost of 
elections, registration of births, deaths and 
marriages and council tax collection) 

16,024 (8,729) 7,295 

Children’s and Education Services 595,413 (440,438) 154,975 
Cultural Services 53,598 (12,388) 41,210 
Environmental Services 38,695 (11,161) 27,534 
Planning Services 46,118 (16,071) 30,047 
Highways, Road and Transport Services 32,512 (23,019) 9,493 
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Housing Services including Benefits 364,236 (344,808) 19,428 
Net Cost of Services 1,350,674 (896,290) 454,384 
Other Operating Expenditure Including 
Levies 51,733 735 52,468 

Financing and Investment Income and Ex-
penditure 117,016 (49,393) 67,623 

Contributions to / (from) Reserves 84,967 (102,192) (17,225) 

Amount to be met from Government Grants and Local Taxation  557,250 

Financed By: 
Council Tax  144,170 
Council Share of Non-Domestic Rates   324,129 
General Government Grants and Other Income 88,951 
Total General Income   557,250 
 
Financial Position 
 
The Balance Sheet below shows the Council’s financial position at the 31 March 2013, 
the last day of the financial year. It shows what the Council owns (its assets) and its 
debts (its liabilities) as well as the net worth of the Council (assets less liabilities). 
 
Assets £000s Liabilities £000s 
Council Dwellings 385,485 Borrowing 507,685 
Other Land and Build-
ings 896,307 Provisions for Future Liabilities 20,263 

Heritage Assets 422,968 Liability for Pension Scheme 802,400 

Investment Properties 363,945 Capital Grants Received in 
Advance 11,112 

Other Assets 782,875 Money Owed by the Council 324,372 

Investments 131,949   

Money Owed to the 
Council 244,317   

Total 3,227,846 Total 1,665,832 
  

  Net Worth of the Council 1,562,014 
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Cost of Council Housing Services 
 
The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) below shows the income and expenditure 
relating to the 16,960 council houses owned by the Council between 1 April 2012 and 
31 March 2013. It is a legal requirement that the Council accounts for this income and 
expenditure separately from that of other services it provides.   
 
Housing Revenue Account     £000s 
Income 
Rents 59,842 
Charges for Services and Facilities 3,451 
Contributions towards expenditure on services provided by the 
Council on behalf of others. 8,562 

Other income 2,673 
 74,528 
Expenditure 
Repair and Maintenance 26,852 
Supervision and Management 17,546 
Net Interest Paid 9,584 
Other Expenditure 1,084 
Transfer to General Fund Reserve 15,000 

 70,066 
Total Surplus for the Year 4,462 

Housing Revenue Account Surplus at 31 March 2012 56,539 

Housing Revenue Account Surplus at 31 March 2013 61,001 

 
The Housing Revenue Account surpluses are held in a reserve on the balance sheet to 
meet future liabilities in relation to public housing private finance initiative (PFI) schemes 
and to support future investment in the Council’s housing stock. The majority of the 
housing reserves are earmarked for specific purposes. 
 
The Council owned the following properties at 31 March 2013: 
 
Property type   
Houses and Bungalows 9,692 
Flats 7,186 
Others 82 
Total 16,960 
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Capital Expenditure 
 
Capital expenditure is spent on the purchase or improvement of assets that have a 
long-term value to the Council, like land and buildings. This is different to revenue 
expenditure in that the Council and its residents receive the benefit from the capital 
expenditure over a longer period (over one year). 
 
Capital Expenditure £000s 
Council Dwellings 19,288 
Other Land and Buildings 27,232 
Vehicles, Plant and Equipment 8,383 
Infrastructure (e.g. Roads, Street Furniture) 23,149 
Community Assets 46 
Assets Under Construction 60,514 
Surplus Assets 14,643 
Capital Expenditure not Relating to Council 
Assets 22,262 

Assets Held for Sale 275 
Investment Properties 2,009 
Long Term Loans 4,887 
  182,688 
   
This has been spent within the following services areas: 
 
Capital Expenditure £000s 
Neighbourhood Services 3,412 
Private Sector Housing 12,052 
Public Sector Housing 19,498 
Families Health and Wellbeing 344 
Children and Commissioning 47,151 
Corporate Services 64,181 
Regeneration and Transport 36,050 
 182,688 
 
The following table explains the adjustments required to the Net Cost of Services as 
reported in the Summary Accounts compared to the Council’s Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Account as reported in the full Statement of Accounts. 
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  Gross Gross 
  Expenditure Income 
  £000s £000s 
Net Cost of Services per Summary 
Accounts 1,350,674 (896,291) 
Take out items shown as "other operating 
expenditure" within CIES (12,960) (34) 
Add Housing Revenue Account figures 73,927 (92,835) 
Add Capital Charges e.g. depreciation 134,353 (4,093) 
Pension Adjustments (6,101) 0 
Additional Interest Charges (4,019) 0 
Net Cost of Services per Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement 1,535,874 (993,253) 

 
 
We aim to be responsive and accountable to the residents of Manchester. Please 
contact Financial Accountancy if you wish to make any comments on this summary of 
accounts. 
 
Write to us at:  
 
Financial Accountancy 
Room 102 
Corporate Services 
Town Hall 
Manchester 
M60 2LA 
Telephone us at Financial Accountancy:  0161 234 3444 
Email:   k.macrae@manchester.gov.uk 
 
 
 
Sources of further information 
 

 This section will provide the reader with hyperlinks to the key strategies and documents 
that drive the Council’s business and set out our aspirations and vision for the future. 
These strategies and documents are also referenced in our Corporate Plan 2011-14.  

 
• Annual Governance Statement  
• Annual Statement of Accounts 
• Greater Manchester Strategy 
• Manchester Community Strategy 
• Children and Young People’s Plan 
• Crime and Disorder Strategy 
• Manchester Climate Change Action Plan 
• Neighbourhood Focus Strategy 
• New Economy 
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http://www.manchester.gov.uk/info/500117/green_city/3833/climate_change_and_energy/2
http://www.manchester.gov.uk/egov_downloads/NeighbourhoodFocusStrategyRep.pdf
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• Strategic Regeneration Frameworks 
• The People Strategy 
• Value for Money Strategy 
 
Contact Us 
  
If you have any general questions or wish to comment on the Annual Report, please 
contact us: 
Write to us at: 
 
Performance, Research and Intelligence 
Business Planning, Performance and Governance Team 
Manchester City Council 
PO Box 532 
Manchester 
M60 2LA 
 
Telephone: 0161 234 1882 
Email: a.blore@manchester.gov.uk   
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Explanatory Foreword to the Annual Accounts by the City Treasurer 
 
Financial Summary 2012/13 
The Council had a net revenue budget of £545,581,000 in 2012/13 to fund its services. 
This budget was net of savings of £61m required in 2012/13 on top of £109m of savings 
in 2011/12 following the reduced financial settlement. 
The table below shows the outturn position compared to the latest revenue budget 
taking into account all the budget adjustments made during the financial year. The 
revised budget showed a call on general reserves of £0.874m. At the end of the year 
the budget was underspent across all budgets by £0.422m or 0.1%, resulting in a 
revised call on general reserves of £0.452m.  The General Fund Reserve is now at 
£41.010m following the transfer of £15m from the Housing Revenue Account Reserve. 
The main reasons for the underspend are set out in the following table.   
 

  

Variance to 
revised 
budget 

  £000 
Available Resources (1,245) 
    
Planned use of Resources   
Service Requirements:   
Adult Services (460) 
Children's Services (163) 
Corporate Core (2,024) 
Neighbourhood Services 94 
Manchester Investment Fund Spend 84 
Total Service Requirements (2,469) 
    
Corporate and Cross Cutting Issues:   
Levies (72) 
Capital financing Costs (26) 
Cross Cutting Savings 16 
Adjustments to Provisions and Reserves 3,374 
Cost of 2013 Time Limited Voluntary Early Retirement 
/Voluntary Severance Scheme 11,809 
Use of Transformation Reserve (11,809) 
TOTAL CORPORATE AND CROSS CUTTING 3,292 
    
Underspend (422) 

 
The above table shows that available resources are £1.245m higher than budgeted due 
to the Academies Transfer Funding refund which has been confirmed at £2.109m and 
additional Early Intervention Grant of £173,000 partly offset by lower then forecast 
dividends received of £1.037m. 
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Expenditure for service requirements was broadly in line with the revised budget. The 
Corporate Core underspent by £2.024m, largely due to an underspend on revenues and 
benefits following an assessment of the required provision for bad debts relating to 
benefit overpayments and additional external income for various services together with 
underspends on the regeneration budget. 
The council has to make sure it has made adequate provision for all known future 
liabilities.  Provisions are made when it is probable, but not certain, that expenditure will 
be incurred relating to a past event. Adjustments have had to be made to a number of 
provisions including those for miscellaneous bad debts and compensation payments. 
Reserves are held where there is a likely future liability but the amount cannot be 
accurately quantified. Again the council has assessed its position and increased the 
contribution to specific earmarked reserves by £4m to meet potential liabilities.  
 
Due to the need to deliver significant budget savings the Council implemented a 
voluntary severance and early retirement scheme to achieve the staffing reductions 
required. The costs of the scheme which have been accounted for in 2012/13 are 
£11.809m. The costs have been met from the Transformation reserve which was 
established for this purpose.    
 
The Housing Revenue Account (HRA), which contains the costs of owning and 
maintaining properties which are let to tenants and income from renting Council houses 
to tenants, is shown separately from the general fund revenue budget position. The final 
outturn position for the HRA is an overall surplus of £4.462m in 2012/13, after the 
transfer of HRA reserves of £15m to the general fund, against a budgeted surplus 
position of £11.501m. 
Collection of rental income was £2m better than budgeted, capital financing costs 
showed a reduction of £3.5m against budget and housing supervision and management 
costs a £1.4m reduction.  
More detail on the Council’s Revenue budget and Outturn position can be found on the 
Council’s website www.manchester.gov.uk. 
 
Capital Expenditure  
The Council spends money on capital projects within the definitions of capital 
expenditure contained in the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) 
Regulations 2003.  
Capital expenditure has to be financed from one of the following sources: 

• Borrowing. 

• Grants or contributions from the Government or another third party. 

• Use of the HRA Major Repairs Allowance. 

• Proceeds from the sale of capital assets or the repayment of capital loans 
(capital receipts). 

• Contributions from revenue funding (revenue contributions). 
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The capital programme aims to deliver the optimum combination of projects and 
programmes that represent the key priorities of the Council: to provide excellent public 
services which provide true value for money whilst creating the conditions for economic 
growth, improved skills and productivity and less deprivation and dependency.  
 
The Capital Strategy embraces processes that: 
 

• ensure the efficient use of resources,  
• achieve maximum value for money,  
• are efficient and deliver more for less.  

 
The Council continues, with its partners locally, sub-regionally and regionally and with 
the government, to try to give individuals, communities and businesses the best 
possible support through the economic downturn, ensuring we are in a good position to 
take advantage of the recovery when it happens.  Flexibility needs to be retained within 
the Capital Strategy to enable the council to continue to pro-actively respond to 
pressures including the risk that private sector building activity remains slow.  
 
Many areas of the city that suffer from acute economic and social deprivation have 
undergone transformation to substantially improve their future prospects and long term 
sustainability. The city centre has benefited from major investment in new attractions 
and facilities and has become a location where people increasingly choose to live, work 
and play. The airport, universities and other major economic assets continue to expand 
and develop underlining Manchester’s prominence as regional capital of the North 
West. 
 
The Council is committed to a varied capital investment programme including: 
 
Housing, Regeneration and Economic Growth 
Public Sector Housing Programme  
Private Housing Assistance Programme 
Brunswick PFI 
Co-Op Regeneration Project 
Collyhurst and Irk Valley Regeneration Programme 
West Gorton Regeneration Programme 
First Street Cultural Facility  
Beswick Community Hub 
Manchester’s Digital Sector Programme 
 
Education and Schools 
Basic Need (additional places) Programme  
Schools Maintenance Programme 
Building Schools for the Future (ICT) 
 
 
Universal Services 
Highways Planned Maintenance Programme 
Waste – Weekly Collection Support Scheme 
Libraries and Leisure Centres 
Alexandra Park Restoration Programme 
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Corporate Core 
Asset Management Programme 
ICT Investment Programme 
Town Hall Complex Transformation Programme 
Strategic Acquisitions 
The Council spent £182,688,000 in 2012/13, which is summarised in the following table. 
More details can be found in Note 30 to the Core Financial Statements. 
 

  2011/12 2012/13 

  £m £m 

Non-current Assets (Property, Plant and Equipment and 
investment Properties) 163 156 

Revenue Expenditure funded from Capital under Statute 34 22 

Long-term Debtors 1 5 

Total 198 183 

 

The spend in 2012/13 was against the forecasted programme of £204m equating to 
90% delivery. 
Revenue Expenditure funded from Capital under Statute relates to capital expenditure 
incurred on non-Council properties (e.g. Academies) and grants to organisations for 
capital expenditure on their properties. 
Capital expenditure classed as long-term debtors relates to loans given to external 
organisations related to the Council. 
 
Detail of the variances between the Outturn and the previous reported forecast are 
shown in the following table.  
 
 

 

Outturn 
(31-Mar-
2013) 
 
£000 

Previous 
Forecast  
(31-Dec-
2012) 
£000 

Variation 
 
 
 
£000 

Housing (HRA) 19,498 23,551 
 

(4,053) 
Housing (General Fund) 12,052 13,963 (1,911) 
Adult Services 344 0 344 
Children’s Services 23,945 26,182 (2,237) 
Children’s Services (Building 
Schools for the Future) 23,206 20,378 2,828 
Corporate Services 59,268 70,739 (11,471) 
ICT 4,914 5,251 (337) 
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Outturn 
(31-Mar-
2013) 
 
£000 

Previous 
Forecast  
(31-Dec-
2012) 
£000 

Variation 
 
 
 
£000 

Regeneration 17,672 24,381 (6,709) 
Highway Services 18,378 13,965 4,413 
Neighbourhood Services 3,411 5,695 (2,284) 
Total 182,688 204,105 (21,417) 

 
Expenditure on capital schemes in 2012/13 was £21.417m less than the previous 
estimate reported to the Executive.  In summary this reduction in spend is mainly due to 
the following: 
 

• Housing (HRA) is largely due to savings on Higher Blackley external works and 
re-phasing of works in Collyhurst plus works no longer going ahead following the 
transfer of housing stock. 

• Housing (General Fund) is mainly due to the re-profiling of the Redrow Homes 
scheme in Moston into future years.  

• Children’s Services is mainly due to savings on the Primary School New Build 
programme, the Basic Need programme to establish additional primary places in 
the City and on the Schools Capital Maintenance Programme. 

• Corporate Services is largely due to the re-phasing of schemes relating to the 
Asset Management Programme, strategic acquisitions and the Town Hall 
Complex programme. 

• Regeneration is mainly due to the rephrasing of the acquisition of One Central 
Park and the design phase of Beswick Community Hub plus cost savings on the 
BMX building. 

• Neighbourhood Services is largely due to the re-phasing of the waste scheme to 
support weekly collections plus a number of other schemes including Harpurhey 
reservoir regeneration and the First Street Cultural Facility. 

 
These underspends are partly offset by overspends which are mainly due to the 
following: 
 

• Building Schools for the Future due to the acceleration of work on the Creative 
and Media Academy and Abraham Moss High School. 

• Highway Services due to an amended profile of spend for work on the Ringway 
Road Highways Improvements scheme. 

 
More detail on the Council’s Capital budget and Outturn position can be found on the 
Council’s website www.manchester.gov.uk. 
The financing of this expenditure was by the following methods: 
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  2011/12 2012/13 

  £m £m 

Internal Borrowing 22 80 

Government Grants 109 28 

External Contributions 2 21 

Capital Receipts 44 9 

Major Repairs Allowance 7 14 

Revenue Contributions 14 31 

Total 198 183 

 
Borrowing in 2012/13 mainly relates to expenditure on schools and the town hall 
extension project. 
 
Introduction to Manchester City Council’s Annual Accounts 
The annual statement of accounts has been prepared in accordance with the 2012/13 
Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting (The Code) and International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS). Changes in accounting requirements over the past several 
years have led to an increase in complexity of the accounts and the level of detail they 
contain. 
 
One of the purposes of this foreword is to provide a guide to the Council’s accounts and 
the most significant financial matters contained within the statements.  
 
These accounts contain a glossary of financial terms that are intended to assist the 
reader to understand the specialist accounting terms that are contained within the 
Statement of Accounts. 
 
The Accountancy Code of Practice requires that the Council’s accounts are set out with 
the core financial statements grouped together, followed by detailed notes, the 
supplementary statements and the Group Accounts. 
 
The core financial statements are: 
The Movement in Reserves Statement (MIRS)  
The Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES)  
The Balance Sheet  
The Cash Flow Statement  
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Each statement is preceded by a note explaining its purpose and followed by notes 
explaining the statements. 
 
The main statements are followed by three further sections: 
The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) reports on the costs of owning and maintaining 
properties which are let to tenants and income from renting Council houses to tenants. 
These costs are also shown within the main statements. 
 
The Collection Fund Account reports on the collection of local taxes (council tax and 
national non domestic rates) and their distribution to the Council, Greater Manchester 
Police (now superseded by the Greater Manchester Police and Crime Commissioner) 
and Greater Manchester Fire and Rescue Authorities.  
 
The Group Accounts show the full extent of the Council’s economic activities by 
reflecting the full extent of the Council’s involvement with its group companies and 
organisations. 
These are followed by notes explaining these statements. 
 
Accounting Policies 
The way the accounts are presented is governed by the accounting policies that the 
Council has to follow. The accounting practice governing local authority accounts has 
undergone major changes over the last few years in order to bring public sector 
accounting in line with that of the private sector. The most significant change was the 
move to accounting in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) in 2010/11. 
 
There were two further changes in 2011/12. These related to accounting for Heritage 
Assets and the Carbon Reduction Commitment. There have been no changes in 
accounting policies in 2012/13.  
The accounting policies are set out in note 1 to the financial statements. 
 
The Financial Statements 
 
The Council’s Movement in Reserves Statement 
This shows the movement in the Council’s reserves from 31 March 2011 to 31 March 
2013. The reserves are split between usable (those that can be used to finance 
expenditure) and unusable (those that contain technical accounting adjustments and 
cannot be used to finance expenditure). 
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The Council’s Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
This shows the accounting cost of Council activities including the notional accounting 
entries that have to be made rather than the actual money spent and funded by Council 
Tax.  
The statement is broken down into three sections – 

• Net cost of services 

• Corporate items 

• Council wide items 
 
The first section of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement shows the 
cost of the Council’s services to give a total of Net Cost of Services. This includes 
accounting adjustments for items such as depreciation that would be a significant cost 
in a commercial organisation but which do not need to be funded by Council Tax. The 
Net Cost of Services totals £542,621,000. 
The second section contains corporate items such as the loss on the disposal of non-
current assets, levies paid and payments made in relation to the pooling of HRA capital 
receipts. This is called Operating Expenditure and totals £95,054,000. 
The third section contains Council wide items such as interest paid and received (net 
cost totalling £10,482,000) plus general income due to the Council from either Council 
taxpayers, the share of National Non Domestic Rates (NNDR) and general government 
grants including grants to fund capital expenditure (totalling £613,612,000). 
These three sections are totalled to produce an overall deficit on the provision of 
services (£34,545,000). It should be noted that this is not a real deficit as it is the 
financial reporting deficit that includes the technical accounting adjustments that are not 
met by Council Tax. 
The deficit on the provision of services is reconciled to the movement in the Council’s 
net worth (change in level of reserves) via the Total Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure section of the CIES. 
The Movement in Reserves Statement adjusts the notional deficit to reflect any 
accounting entries that do not impact on the level of Council tax or housing rents.  
 

  £000 
Deficit in year in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 34, 545 

Items that do not affect Council tax or housing rents (34,093) 

Contribution from general fund reserve 452 
Budgeted contribution from general reserves 874 

(Underspend) against the budget (422) 
 

Therefore the Council made a surplus of £422,000 against planned expenditure. 
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Note 6 shows the items that do not affect the level of Council tax or housing rents. 

 
The details of this underspend are shown in the financial summary section of the 
foreword.  
Included within the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement are the 
following significant items: 
 
Housing Revenue Account (HRA)  
 
From 1 April 2012 a new financing regime for the HRA was introduced which 
fundamentally changed how local authority housing is funded. The housing subsidy  
system has been abolished and replaced by a new self financing system. Under self-
financing the Council retains all the housing rental income and has responsibility for 
financing the management and maintenance of the stock. The new self-financing 
system was created by a once and for all debt settlement on 28 March 2012 between 
Central Government and Local Authorities based on the level of debt that was deemed 
affordable from within the retained housing rental income. The required accounting 
entries for the debt settlement were made in 2011/12 and as a result of the settlement a 
surplus of £226,688,000 relating to the HRA was shown in the 2011/12 Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement within net cost of services. It is for this reason that 
the variation between 2011/12 and 2012/13 for HRA activities appears so significant. 
 
The HRA Income and Expenditure Statement follows the same format as the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. The table below shows how the 
surplus in the HRA reconciles to the movement in HRA reserves. 
 

 2011/12 
£000 

2012/13 
£000 

Surplus in year in the HRA Income and Expenditure 
Statement (including net cost of services and HRA share 
of operating income and expenditure) 

282,661 17,067 

Items that do not affect housing rents 277,895 (12,605) 

Contribution to HRA reserves 4,766 4,462 
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Voluntary Early Retirements and Voluntary Severance Costs 
 
Within the Council’s net cost of service expenditure are capital costs of pension 
payments and severance costs incurred on the Voluntary Early Retirement (VER) and 
Voluntary Severance (VS) scheme. This was offered to non-schools based staff during 
2012/13 in response to the need to reduce the Council’s expenditure by £80m in 
2014/15 following the Financial Settlement published in December 2012. Where VER 
and VS was approved and accepted, but not paid, before 31 March 2013 the costs are 
included as a creditor in the balance sheet. Where VER and VS was approved before 
31 March 2013 but accepted after that date the costs are included as a provision in the 
balance sheet. The total expenditure for voluntary early retirements and voluntary 
severance costs in 2012/13 is £11,809,000. The VER and VS costs have been funded 
from the transformation reserve. Fifty seven staff shown in the disclosure of staff 
receiving remuneration in excess of £50,000 are those who have received or accepted 
severance packages before 31 March 2013 as the cost of severance pay is considered 
as part of remuneration received.  The exit packages disclosure note in the accounts 
(note 17) shows the number and cost of exit packages (including both VER and VS) 
agreed, but not necessarily paid or accepted, by 31 March 2013.  
 
The Council’s Balance Sheet 
This shows the total assets, liabilities and reserves (net worth) of the Council. 
The net worth (total reserves) of the Council is £1,562,014,000. This is split between 
usable reserves (£355,319,000) and unusable reserves (£1,206,695,000).  
Included within the usable reserves section are reserves that are held to fund capital 
expenditure (£89,415,000) and revenue grants and contributions that have been 
received in advance of the expenditure being incurred (£19,212,000). This leaves a 
balance of other reserves to be used for revenue purposes of £246,692,000. 
The major reserves within this figure are the HRA reserve £61,001,000 (£34,000,000 is 
earmarked for future PFI payments and other potential liabilities), capital fund reserve 
£37,605,000 (to fund revenue contributions to major capital schemes), general fund 
reserve £41,010,000, Local Management of Schools (LMS) reserve £29,873,000 (for 
schools use only) and the insurance reserve £18,358,000 (to meet self-insured risks). 
Whilst these are classed as usable reserves all but the general reserve are earmarked 
for specific expenditure or risks.  
 
Included within the unusable reserves section is the minus pensions reserve totalling 
£802,400,000. This matches the pension liability in the balance sheet as measured 
under International Accounting Standard (IAS) 19. 
 
The purpose of IAS19 is to facilitate comparison of the pension obligations of 
employers. The IAS19 calculations are carried out using a prescribed method. As the 
method and assumptions underlying the IAS19 calculations are different to the formal 
triennial valuations, IAS19 calculations will produce different results. In particular, the 
calculated deficit is likely to be different from that published in the triennial valuation. 
IAS19 valuations have no effect on the level of contributions that need to be paid into 
the fund. The contribution rates are set by the triennial actuarial valuation. The full 
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calculated IAS19 deficit is shown in the accounts. In a normal funding valuation, 
however, the calculated deficit can be spread and paid off over a number of years by an 
addition to the contribution rate. 
 
Overall the net worth of the Council has decreased by £151,719,000 during 2012/13. 
Within this usable reserves have increased by £20,277,000 and unusable reserves 
reduced by £171,996,000. The reduction in unusable reserves is mainly as a result of 
the increase in the IAS19 valuation of the pension liability of £155,100,000.The 
decrease in the net worth is matched by a reduction in value of net assets of the Council 
of £151,719,000. 
The increase in the pension (IAS19) liability is mainly due to the reduction in the 
discount rate used to calculate the liability. The rate used in 2011/12 was 4.8% and has 
reduced to 4.5% in 2012/13. This reduction is due to falling bond yields.  
 
Borrowing Limit 
 
In 2012/13 the Council had an authorised limit for borrowing of £823,000,000 that 
compares to the actual level of debt outstanding at 31 March 2013 of £507,685,000. 
The reason for the variance between the authorised limit and debt outstanding at 31 
March 2013 is that due to positive cash flows the Council did not need to undertake the 
budgeted level of borrowing during the financial year. 
 
The debt outstanding is made up of the following figures: 
 

 2011/12 2012/13 
 £000s £000s 
Long-term Borrowing 492,815 482,298 

Short-term Borrowing 10,250 25,387 

Total 503,065 507,685 
 

During the year the amount of borrowing outstanding increased by £4,620,000.  
 
The Council’s Treasury Management Strategy is to use cash backed reserves in lieu of 
external borrowing. This is due to historic low investment rates not providing the Council 
with value on its investments when compared to using cash instead of borrowing, as 
borrowing rates are substantially higher than investment returns. As a result of this 
strategy investments made for less than three months, including call accounts, (shown 
in note 50 to the core financial statements) have reduced by £34,109,000 during 
2012/13.  
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The Council’s Cash Flow Statement 
This shows the reasons for the change in cash, cash equivalents (investments made for 
a period of less than three months) and the bank overdraft during the year. 
 
Major Acquisitions and Disposals 
The Council’s major acquisitions and disposals during 2012/13 are as follows.  
During 2012/13 the Council acquired the ownership of Grey Mare Lane Police Station 
and associated land for £1,128,000, Albert Shed (near Spinningfields) for £2,096,000 
and various plots in Collyhurst for £1,414,000. 
 
Major disposals in 2012/13 included schools which transferred to academy status. Their 
value upon disposal was £32,394,000. Almost all of the remaining Bowes Street 
redevelopment properties were also disposed of at a value of £1,725,000. 
 
Private Finance Initiatives (PFI) 
PFIs involve a private sector contractor building or improving non-current assets used in 
the provision of public services and operating and maintaining the asset for an agreed 
period of time. 
As at 31 March 2013, the Housing Energy Services Contract, Temple School, Plymouth 
Grove Housing, Miles Platting Housing, Public Lighting and Wright Robinson Sports 
College schemes were ongoing. The Housing schemes are funded by both PFI grant 
and the housing revenue account. The schools schemes are funded by both PFI grant 
and the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG). The street lighting scheme is funded by both 
PFI grant and Council resources. Further details on these schemes are shown in note 8. 
 
Private Public Partnership (PPP) Schemes 
The Council has developed the following PPP Schemes with private sector contractors 
to provide services to the Council and its residents: 

• Manchester Working – during 2006/07 the Council established a partnership 
arrangement with Morrison PLC for the provision of building maintenance 
services for the Council and Northwards Housing. 

• Indoor Leisure PPP – the Council has established a trust, which has contracted 
with Serco Ltd for renovation, maintenance and management of some indoor 
leisure facilities. 

• Wythenshawe Forum PPP – the Council has established a trust, which has 
responsibility for the renovation, maintenance and facilities management of 
Wythenshawe Forum. 

• Car Parks Partnership – the Council has entered into a partnership with National 
Car Parks Limited to manage its car parks. 
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Post Balance Sheet Events 
 
Public Health 
The Health and Social Care Act 2012 transfers substantial health improvement duties to 
councils from 1 April 2013. Councils have been given a ring-fenced public health grant, 
which takes into account estimates of baseline spending, including from the Primary 
Care Trust (PCT) recurrent resources and non-recurrent resources, such as the pooled 
treatment budget and drugs intervention programme, and a fair shares formula based 
on the recommendations of the Advisory Committee for Resource Allocation. 
Manchester’s share of the grant for 2013/14 is £40,105,000. 
 
Local Government Resource Review 
The Local Government Resource Review (LGRR), which came into force on 1 April 
2013, results in significant changes to the methodology for funding local government. 
National Non Domestic Rates were previously collected by local authorities and paid 
over to Central Government. By law, Government is obliged to use business rates to 
fund local authorities so NNDR was used to fund Formula Grant, alongside Revenue 
Support Grant (RSG). Formula Grant distributed funding to local authorities on the basis 
of their assessed need, and as such there was no direct link between the business rates 
collected within a local authority area and the funding they received. Further, the risk of 
any reduction in local NNDR yield due to closure of businesses or appeals against 
rateable values lay with Central Government, and similarly they benefitted from any 
increase in local NNDR yield. 
 
Due to the reforms brought forward as part of the LGRR, from 1 April 2013 those risks 
and benefits will be shared between Councils and Central Government. The Council’s 
share is 49%, Central Government’s 50% and the Greater Manchester Fire and Rescue 
Authority 1%. Each local authority will retain an element of the business rates they 
collect, and will retain an element of any growth in the business rates collected above 
an assumed baseline level. The retained business rates income will be subject to a 
safety net and local authorities will be protected at 92.5% of their base line funding 
which compares assumed NNDR income and any top up payments. This change in 
funding brings a higher level of uncertainty in Council resources and has implications for 
how the budget is set. 
 
At 1 April 2013 a provision will be made in the Collection Fund for the estimated effect 
of outstanding appeals against rateable values. The Council estimated that a provision 
of £55,237,000 for outstanding appeals against rateable values would be required. The 
Council’s share of these potential losses is 49%, with the balance being Central 
Government (50%) and the Greater Manchester Fire and Rescue Authority (1%). This 
amounts to a potential loss to the Council of £27,066,000. 
 
Schools transferring to Academies 
 
Five schools have transferred from Council control to Academy status since 31 March 
2013. As a result of this known reclassification the value of these schools has been 
removed from the Council’s balance sheet as at 31 March 2013. As a result, of the de-
recognition of these schools from the balance sheet, impairment of £24,890,000 has 
been charged in the Consolidated Income and Expenditure Statement. 
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Further details of these post balance sheet events are shown in note 54 to the financial 
statements. 
 
Post balance sheet events have been reviewed up to the date that the accounts have 
been authorised for issue by the City Treasurer. 
 
 
The Council’s Group Accounts 
 
The Council conducts activities through a variety of undertakings, either under ultimate 
control or in partnership with other organisations. The standard financial statements 
consider the Council as a single entity accounting for its interests in other undertakings 
as investments. For a full picture of the Council’s involvement in other activities group 
accounts are prepared. These reflect the figures contained in the single entity accounts 
consolidated with figures for the Council’s subsidiaries and associates. 
 
Subsidiaries are defined as organisations where the Council exercises control and gains 
benefits or has exposure to risks from this control. Those subsidiaries considered to be 
material are Destination Manchester Ltd, Northwards Housing Ltd, Manchester 
Mortgage Corporation plc and One Education Ltd. 
 
Associates are defined as organisations where the Council exercises a significant 
influence and has a participating interest. Those associates considered to be material 
are National Car Parks Manchester Ltd and Manchester Working Ltd. 
 
Joint Ventures are defined as organisations where the Council and another party 
exercise joint control with decisions relating to the organisation requiring unanimous 
consent of the parties sharing control.  
 
Manchester Airport Group plc was a subsidiary of the Council until 28 February 2013. 
On 1 March 2013 a new company was incorporated – Manchester Airports Holdings Ltd 
(MAHL). The voting shares of the new company are split equally between the Council 
and Codan Trust Company Limited (acting in its capacity as a trustee of Industry Funds 
Management (IFM) Global Infrastructure Fund) with each party holding ten voting 
shares. Non-voting shares in the capital of the company are allocated 35.5% to 
Manchester City Council, 35.5% to IFM and 29% split between the other 9 district 
councils within Greater Manchester. Future dividends will be payable pro rata to the non 
voting shares. The company owns and operates the following airports – Manchester, 
East Midlands, Bournemouth and Stansted. The Group Accounts for 2012/13 reflect this 
change in ownership. 
 
In producing the group accounts the Council is required by the CIPFA Code of Practice 
on Local Authority Accounting to make consolidation adjustments to take account of any 
differences in accounting policies between the Council and its subsidiaries, associates 
and joint ventures so that the group accounts are prepared on a standard set of policies. 
 
Land and buildings in the Council’s single entity accounts are valued at fair value (i.e. 
the amount that would be paid for an asset in its existing use). Where sufficient market 
evidence is not available, fair value is estimated at depreciated replacement cost, using 
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the modern equivalent asset method (i.e. the market value of the land on which the 
building sits plus the current gross replacement cost of the building less an allowance 
for physical deterioration of the building). 
 
Manchester Airport Holdings Ltd (MAHL) accounts are prepared using deemed cost for 
land and buildings. Deemed cost is the cost or valuation of assets as at 1 April 2005. 
Consequently property, plant and equipment is included in MAHL’s accounts at cost or 
deemed cost less accumulated depreciation. 
 
The land and building assets of the Destination Manchester Group (DMG), which is a 
subsidiary within the Council group, are shown at cost. These are included in DMG’s 
accounts at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment.  
 
Due to the cost required to undertake these valuations it has not been possible to 
update the value of the land and buildings relating to MAHL and DMG in the Council’s 
group accounts. All other accounting policies within the group have been aligned to 
those of the Council. 
 
The Group Accounts contain the Group Movement in Reserves Statement, the Group 
Consolidated Income and Expenditure Statement, the reconciliation of the single entity 
surplus / deficit to the group surplus / deficit, the Group Balance Sheet, the Group Cash 
Flow Statement and notes to the Group Accounts. 
 
Further Information  
Further information about the Council’s Annual Statement of Accounts is available upon 
request from the following address: 
Financial Accountancy 
Corporate Services Department 
Town Hall 
Manchester  
M60 2LA 
 
The Annual Statement of Accounts can also be viewed on the Council’s website. Please 
contact us at the above address if you have any comments on the presentation of the 
Annual Statement of Accounts. The summary accounts which provide a more user 
friendly version of the accounts can also be viewed on the website. 
 
Local electors and taxpayers have a statutory right to inspect the Council’s Annual 
Statement of Accounts and all related books, deeds, contracts, bills, vouchers and 
receipts before the annual accounts audit has been completed, giving an opportunity to 
question the auditor. The availability of the Annual Statement of Accounts for inspection 
was advertised in the Manchester Evening News on 27 June and on the Council’s 
website. The Council also publishes its future spending plans in its Medium Term 
Financial Plan, which is available on the Council’s website.   
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Cash Flow Statement    
     
The cash flow statement shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents of the Council 
during the reporting period. The statement shows how the Council generates and uses 
cash and cash equivalents by classifying cash flows as operating, investing and financing 
activities. The amount of net cash flows arising from the operating activities is a key 
indicator of the extent to which the operations of the Council are funded by way of 
taxation and grant income from the recipients of services provided by the Council. 
Investing activities represent the extent to which cash outflows have been made for 
resources which are intended to contribute to the Council's future service delivery. Cash 
flows arising from financing activities are useful in predicting claims on future cash flows 
by providers of capital (i.e. borrowing) to the Council. 
 

          
2011/12    2012/13  
£000s   Note £000s  

(183,404) Net (surplus) / deficit on the provision of services   34,545  

42,417 
Adjustments to net surplus or deficit on the provision of 
services for non-cash movements 51 (170,311)  

97,820 

Adjustments for items included in the net surplus or 
deficit on the provision of services that are investing and 
financing activities 52 69,813  

(43,167) Net cash flows from operating activities 53 (65,953)  
        

52,278 Investing activities 54 80,088  
28,159 Financing Activities 55 19,604  
37,270 Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents   33,739  

        

65,763 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the 
reporting period   28,493  

         

28,493 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the 
reporting period 50 (5,246)  
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Notes to the Core Financial Statements 
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Note 1. Accounting Concepts and Policies 
 
The Statement of Accounts summarises the Council’s transactions for the 2012/13 
financial year and its position at the year end 31 March 2013. The Council is required to 
prepare an Annual Statement of Accounts by the Accounts and Audit (England) 
Regulations 2011 which require the accounts to be prepared in accordance with proper 
accounting practices. These practices primarily comprise the Code of Practice on Local 
Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2012/13 (The Code) and the Service 
Reporting Code of Practice 2012/13 (SERCOP), issued by the Chartered Institute of 
Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA), supported by International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and statutory guidance issued under Section 21(2) of the 
Local Government Act 2003. 
 
As local authorities need to reflect statutory conditions, accounting standards are 
amended for specific statutory adjustments so that the Council’s accounts present a 
true and fair view of the financial position and transactions of the Council. All accounting 
policies are disclosed where they are material.  
 
The accounting convention adopted in these accounts is principally historical cost, 
modified by the revaluation of certain categories of non-current assets and financial 
instruments. 
 
 
1.1 Qualitative Characteristics of Financial Statements 
 
1.1.1 Relevance 
 
The accounts have been prepared with the objective of providing information about the 
Council’s financial performance and position that is useful for assessing the stewardship 
of public funds and for making financial decisions. 
 
1.1.2 Materiality 
 
The concept of materiality has been utilised in preparing the accounts so that 
insignificant items and fluctuations under an acceptable level of tolerance are permitted 
provided that in aggregate they would not affect the interpretation of the accounts. 
 
 
1.1.3 Faithful Representation 
 
The financial information in the accounts is a faithful representation of the economic 
performance of the Council as they have been prepared to reflect the reality or 
substance of the transaction, are free from deliberate or systematic bias, are free from 
material error and contain all the information necessary to aid understanding. 
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1.1.4 Comparability 
 
In addition to complying with the Code the accounts also comply with the Service 
Reporting Code of Practice. This code establishes proper practice in relation to 
consistent financial reporting below statement of accounts level and aids comparability 
with other local authorities  
 
1.1.5 Verifiability 
 
Different knowledgeable and independent observers will be able to reach the same 
conclusion from the information presented in the accounts. 
 
 
1.1.6 Timeliness 
 
The information provided in the accounts is available to decision makers in time to be 
capable of influencing their decisions. 
 
 
1.1.7 Understandability 
 
These accounts are based on accounting concepts and terminology which require 
reasonable knowledge of accounting and local government. Every effort has been made 
to use plain language and where technical terms are unavoidable they have been 
explained in the glossary contained within the accounts. 
 
 
1.2. Underlying Assumptions 
 
1.2.1 Accruals Basis 
 
The financial statements, other than the cash flow, are prepared on an accruals basis. 
Income and expenditure is recognised in the accounts in the period in which it is earned 
or incurred not as the cash is received or paid. 
 
1.2.2 Going Concern 
 
The accounts have been prepared on the assumption that the Council will continue in 
existence for the foreseeable future. 
 
1.2.3 Primacy of Legislation Requirements 
 
In accordance with the Code, where an accounting treatment is prescribed by law then 
it has been applied, even if it contradicts accounting standards. The following are 
examples of legislative accounting requirements have been applied when compiling 
these accounts: 
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• Capital receipts from the disposal of property, plant and equipment are treated in 
accordance with the provisions of the Local Government Act 2003. 

• The Local Government Act 2003 requires the Council to set aside a minimum 
revenue provision. 

• The Collection Fund account reflects the statutory requirement of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1988 (as amended by the 1992 Act). 

• The Housing Revenue Account is compiled following proper practice as defined 
by the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 and section 21 of the 2003 Act. 

 
1.3. Accounting Policies 
 
1.3.1 Property, Plant and Equipment (PPE)  
 
Property, Plant and Equipment assets have physical substance and are held for use in 
the provision of services or for administrative purposes for more than one year (e.g. 
land and buildings). 
 
Expenditure on the acquisition, creation and enhancement of property, plant and 
equipment has been capitalised on an accruals basis provided that it yields benefit to 
the Council and the services it provides for more than one financial year. Expenditure 
on maintenance is charged to revenue as it is incurred. 
 
Capital expenditure is initially added to the value of an asset but if this expenditure is 
not considered to increase the value of the asset it is classed as impairment. Fees, 
expenditure below £10,000 and 65% of the value of expenditure on council dwellings 
have been classed as impairment. This percentage is the amount by which the open 
market value of council dwellings is reduced to give a balance sheet value of 35% 
(known as the social housing discount). This percentage is determined by the 
Department for Communities and Local Government (CLG). In addition all property, 
plant and equipment, where expenditure in excess of £500,000 has been incurred 
during 2012/13, has been considered by the Council’s Valuers who have quantified the 
amount of impairment. 
 
Property, plant and equipment are initially shown on the Balance Sheet at cost, 
comprising the purchase price and all expenditure that is directly attributable to bringing 
the asset into working condition for its intended use. The Council does not capitalise 
borrowing costs incurred whilst the assets are under construction. The assets are then 
revalued using methods of valuation on the basis recommended by CIPFA and in 
accordance with the guidance notes issued by the Royal Institution of Chartered 
Surveyors (RICS).  
 
Land and buildings and other operational assets are valued at fair value. Where 
sufficient market evidence is not available, for example schools and leisure centres, fair 
value is estimated at depreciated replacement cost, using the modern equivalent asset 
method. Short life assets, such as vehicles, are held at depreciated historical cost as a 
proxy for current value on the grounds of materiality. 
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Council dwellings are valued, in accordance with CLG guidance, at open market value 
less a specified notified percentage, known as the social housing discount. 
 
Community assets and infrastructure are valued at depreciated historical cost. 
 
Assets under construction are held at historical cost and are not depreciated until 
brought into use. 
 
Surplus assets are valued at fair value based on existing use value. These are assets 
that are not in use by the Council but do not meet the definition of assets held for sale. 
Surplus assets mainly relate to land that is being held for regeneration purposes and 
future sale. 
 
Council dwellings are revalued annually. Other revaluations of property are planned at 
five yearly intervals unless there has been a material change in the value. Valuations 
are undertaken during the year with a valuation date of 1 April 2012. Any material 
change that occurs after the valuation date is taken account of in the balance sheet 
value. 
 
Increases in valuations are matched by credits to the Revaluation Reserve to recognise 
unrealised gains. In exceptional circumstances where the increase is reversing a 
previous impairment loss charged to the Surplus / Deficit on the Provision of Services 
on the same asset or where the increase is reversing a previous revaluation decrease 
charged to the Surplus / Deficit on the Provision of Services on the same asset the 
increase in valuation is credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement. 
 
Where decreases in value are identified and there is a balance of revaluation gains in 
the Revaluation Reserve relating to the asset, the value of the asset is written down 
against that balance (up to the amount of the accumulated gains). Where there is a nil 
or insufficient balance in the Revaluation Reserve the value of the asset is written down 
against the relevant service line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement. 
 
Where revaluation gains or losses are credited or charged to the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement they are reversed in the Movement of Reserves 
Statement to the Capital Adjustment Account. 
 
The Revaluation Reserve contains gains recognised since 1 April 2007 only, the date of 
its formal implementation. Revaluation gains arising before that date are included in the 
Capital Adjustment Account. 
 
The land and building elements of all properties are valued separately and treated as 
separate assets for accounting purposes. In addition to this and subject to an 
appropriate materiality level, the Code requires that any individual component within 
buildings which has a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of the building 

58 



Manchester City Council Annual Statement of Accounts 2012/13 

should be accounted for separately unless the components have a similar useful life to 
the main building. 
 
In considering assets for potential componentisation the Council has included all 
general fund buildings with a carrying value of more than £2m. Within each building the 
Council has set the threshold for recognition of components as 20% of the cost of the 
building.  The following components have been valued separately in council dwellings – 
main building, roof, windows, external doors, kitchens, bathrooms, heating and electrical 
systems. 
 
1.3.2 Depreciation on Property, Plant and Equipment 
 
Depreciation has been calculated using a straight-line method (i.e. apportioned equally 
over each year of the life of the asset) for all assets unless that depreciation is 
immaterial. The estimated useful life of each property is determined by a qualified 
valuer. Land and assets not yet available for use (assets under construction) are not 
depreciated. Each component of property, plant and equipment that is considered to be 
significant in relation to the total cost of the asset is depreciated separately. 
Depreciation is charged to the service with a corresponding reduction in the value of the 
asset. The depreciation charge is reversed in the Movement in Reserves Statement and 
a transfer made to the Capital Adjustment Account. Residual values, useful lives and 
depreciation methods are reviewed at each financial year end.  
 
Depreciation has been charged to the Housing Revenue Account (HRA). The Item 8 
determination requires that depreciation is charged in accordance with proper practices 
to the HRA.  
 
Revaluation gains are also depreciated, with an amount equal to the difference between 
current value depreciation charged on assets and the depreciation that would have 
been charged on their historical cost being transferred from the Revaluation Reserve to 
the Capital Adjustment Account. 
 
1.3.3 Derecognition of Property, Plant and Equipment 
  
An item of property, plant or equipment is derecognised by disposal or when no future 
economic benefit or service potential is expected from its use.  
 
The carrying amount of a replaced or restored part of an asset is derecognised with the 
carrying amount of the new component being recognised. 
 
When an asset is disposed of the carrying amount of the asset in the Balance Sheet is 
written off to Other Operating Expenditure within the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement as part of the gain or loss on disposal. Sale proceeds from 
disposals are credited to the same line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement also as part of the gain or loss on disposal. 
Any revaluation gains on the Revaluation Reserve, for assets disposed of or 
decommissioned, are transferred to the Capital Adjustment Account.  
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Income from asset disposals in excess of £10,000 is classed as capital receipts. Capital 
receipts from Right to Buy (RTB) sales of council dwellings are pooled between the 
Council and central government. The net RTB receipts received (after reduction of 
regional transaction costs and allowable debt) are split based on a share ratio provided 
by central government. If the government share of capital receipts, as calculated by the 
Office of Budget Responsibility, is exceeded the Council retains the remainder of the 
receipts to be used for the provision of new homes.  If these receipts are not used within 
three years they must be returned to the government (with interest at 4% above base 
rate). Non-RTB receipts are exempt from the capital pooling rules.  
 
The balance of capital receipts is credited to the Capital Receipts Reserve and used to 
fund new capital expenditure or repay debt.  
 
The written off value of disposals is reversed through the Movement in Reserves 
Statement to the Capital Adjustment Account.  
 
1.3.4 Private Finance Initiatives (PFIs) and Similar Contracts 
  
PFI and similar contracts are agreements to receive services where the responsibility 
for making available the property, plant and equipment needed to provide the services 
passes to the contractor. As the Council is deemed to control the services that are 
provided under the contract and as ownership of the property, plant and equipment will 
pass to the Council at the end of the contract for no additional charge, the Council holds 
the Property, Plant and Equipment used under the contracts on its Balance Sheet. The 
exception to this is certain types of schools as detailed in policy 1.3.7. 
 
The original recognition of these assets was matched by the recognition of a deferred 
liability for amounts due to the operator to pay for the assets. For some PFI schemes 
the liability was written down by an initial capital contribution. This capital contribution 
was either in the form of a cash contribution or assets transferred to the contractor. 
 
Property, Plant and Equipment, recognised on the Balance Sheet, is revalued, 
depreciated and impaired in the same way as other property, plant and equipment 
owned by the Council. 
 
The amounts payable to the operator each year are analysed as follows: 
 

• Value of the service received (including facilities management) during the year -
debited to the relevant service line in the Surplus / Deficit on the Provision of 
Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  

• Contingent rents (the increase in the amount payable to the operator due to an 
indexation factor in the contract) - debited to the relevant service line in the 
Surplus / Deficit on the Provision of Services in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement.  
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• Interest cost based on the outstanding deferred liability - debited to the Financing 
and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Surplus / Deficit on the 
Provision of Services. 

• Payment towards liability - debited to the deferred liability on the Balance Sheet 
thus reducing the liability. For non-HRA contracts this reduction in the charge in 
the Surplus / Deficit on the Provision of Services is replaced by an equivalent 
amount of Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) in the Movement in Reserves 
Statement. For HRA contracts this reduction in unitary charge is reversed in the 
Movement in Reserves Statement to the Capital Adjustment Account. 

• Lifecycle replacement costs - posted to the Balance Sheet as a prepayment and 
then included as additions to Property, Plant and Equipment when the works are 
carried out. 

 
Where lifecycle costs can be identified as capital in nature they have been recognised 
as capital expenditure. This expenditure relates to enhancements or replacement of 
assets. 
 
Government grants received towards the funding of PFI related payments are shown 
within the Taxation and Non-specific Grant Income line in the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement. 
 
1.3.5 Heritage Assets 
 
Heritage assets are those assets that are intended to be preserved for future 
generations because of their cultural, environmental or historical associations. They are 
held by the Council in pursuit of its overall objectives in relation to the maintenance of 
heritage. Heritage assets include civic regalia, museum and gallery collections and 
works of art. Community assets (including parks and cemeteries) are not heritage 
assets, but are accounted for as property, plant and equipment.   
 
Operational heritage assets (i.e. those that, in addition to being held for their heritage 
characteristics, are also used by the Council for other activities or to provide other 
services) are accounted for as operational assets rather than heritage assets and 
valued in the same way as other assets of that general type (e.g. buildings such as the 
Town Hall). 
 
Heritage assets are shown in the Balance Sheet at market value where this is available. 
For those assets where no market value is available the insurance valuation is used. 
Depreciation is not provided for as these assets are considered to have infinite lives. 
 
Any impairment is recognised and measured in accordance with the Council’s general 
policies on impairment (policy 1.3.9). The proceeds of any disposals are accounted for 
in accordance with the Council’s general provisions relating to the derecognition of 
property, plant and equipment (policy 1.3.3). 
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1.3.6 Investment Properties 
 
Investment Properties are those that are used solely to earn rentals and / or for capital 
appreciation. The definition is not met if the property is used in any way to provide 
services by the Council.  
 
Investment Properties are initially measured at cost. After initial recognition they are 
measured at fair value. The fair value reflects market conditions at the balance sheet 
date. A gain or loss arising from a change in the fair value of investment property is 
recognised in the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line within the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 
 
Investment Properties are not depreciated but are revalued annually according to 
market conditions at year end. 
 
An investment property is derecognised on disposal. Gains or losses arising from the 
disposal are recognised in the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line 
within the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 
 
Revaluation and disposal gains and losses are reversed in the Movement in Reserves 
Statement and posted to the Capital Adjustment Account and sale proceeds over 
£10,000 to the Capital Receipts Reserve. 
 
Rentals received in relation to investment properties are credited to the Financing and 
Investment income line in the Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement. 
 
1.3.7 Schools 
 
The Council has assessed the legal framework underlying each type of school. The 
Council controls the management and running of community and voluntary controlled 
schools and therefore the land and buildings of those schools are shown on the 
Council's balance sheet. The land and buildings of voluntary aided and foundation 
schools are owned and controlled by the trustees of the schools or the foundation body 
and are therefore not shown on the balance sheet of the Council. CIPFA are currently 
considering the treatment of schools in local government accounts and this may be 
amended in a future Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting. 
 
When the Council is aware that a school that is held on the balance sheet is to be 
transferred to academy status it is removed from the balance sheet as it will be 
transferred at nil consideration. This write down in value is classed as an impairment. 
Any schools held on the balance sheet that are transferred to academy status that have 
not been impaired form part of the loss on disposal of non-current assets. 
 
Capital expenditure on community and voluntary controlled schools is added to the 
values for those schools. Capital expenditure on voluntary aided and foundation schools 
is treated as REFCUS (Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital under Statute) 
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expenditure and written off each year to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement as part of the Education and Children's services line. 
 
The Dedicated Schools Grant is allocated between the central Council budgets and 
budgets allocated to individual schools (delegated school budgets). Expenditure from 
central Council budgets and delegated schools budgets is charged to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as part of the Education and 
Children's services line. 
 
Individual schools' balances at 31 March 2013 are included in the balance sheet of the 
Council as any unspent delegated schools budgets remain the property of the Council. 
 
 
PFI Schemes 
 
The Council has a number of schools subject to PFI contracts. The PFI buildings for 
community and voluntary controlled schools are shown on the Council's balance sheet. 
The buildings for the voluntary aided, foundation and academy schools are 
derecognised as the control of the right to use the buildings has passed to the school 
trustees and foundation bodies.  
 
The PFI liabilities in respect of all PFI schools remain on the Council's balance sheet as 
the Council is party to the contract with the PFI operator. 
 
1.3.8 Intangible Assets 
 
An intangible asset is an identifiable non-monetary asset without physical substance. It 
is controlled by the Council as a result of past events and future economic or service 
benefits flow to the Council from the intangible asset. The most common type of 
intangible assets are computer software licences. 
 
Intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment. 
The intangible asset is amortised over its estimated useful life to the relevant service 
line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. This amortisation is 
reversed in the Movement in Reserves Statement and a transfer made to the Capital 
Adjustment Account. 
 
An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal. Gains or losses arising from the 
disposal are recognised in the Surplus / Deficit on the Provision of Services. 
 
1.3.9 Impairment 
 
Assets are reviewed for impairment at the end of each reporting period. Examples of 
impairment include a significant reduction in a specific assets value and evidence of 
physical damage (e.g. fire damage). 
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The amount of impairment is charged to the Revaluation Reserve to the extent that the 
impairment does not exceed the amount in the Revaluation Reserve for the same asset. 
Thereafter the impairment is charged to the Surplus / Deficit on the Provision of 
Services. 
 
This charge is reversed out through the Movement in Reserves Statement to the Capital 
Adjustment Account.  
 
Where an impairment loss is subsequently reversed, the reversal is credited to the 
relevant service line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, up to 
the amount of the original loss, adjusted for depreciation that would have been charged 
if the loss had not been recognised.  
 
 
1.3.10 Provision for Redemption of Debt 
 
The Council is required to make provision for the repayment of an element of the 
accumulated General Fund capital expenditure, financed by borrowing, through a 
revenue charge, in accordance with the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) 
requirements. Regulations have replaced the detailed formula for calculating MRP with 
a requirement to be prudent. The MRP policy (which details the basis of the provision) is 
agreed by the Council prior to the start of the financial year. The MRP policy is detailed 
within the Treasury Management Strategy. 
 
For all non-HRA capital expenditure funded by supported borrowing (the costs of which 
were funded by resources provided by the Government), the Council’s policy is to adopt 
existing practice, the regulatory method (4% of the capital financing requirement) as this 
is considered to be the most appropriate method. 
 
For all non-HRA unsupported borrowing MRP is calculated using the estimated life of 
the asset. Dependant on the nature of the capital expenditure, a straight line (equal 
amount of MRP over the life of the asset) or annuity method (equal amount of MRP plus 
interest over the life of the asset) is used to link MRP to the future flow of benefits from 
the asset.  
 
MRP starts in the year after the capital expenditure is incurred or in the case of new 
assets, in the year following the asset coming into use.  
 
MRP is provided for non-HRA PFI related assets on the Council’s Balance Sheet. This 
equates to the amount of unitary charge charged against the deferred liability on the 
Balance Sheet.  
MRP is provided for assets held under finance leases (including embedded leases) 
where the Council is the lessee. This equates to the amount of the lease payment 
charged against the deferred liability on the Balance Sheet. 
 
There is no MRP charge to the HRA.  
 

64 



Manchester City Council Annual Statement of Accounts 2012/13 

1.3.11 Revenue Expenditure Funded From Capital under Statute 
  
Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital under Statute (REFCUS) is expenditure of a 
capital nature that does not result in the creation of a non-current asset on the Balance 
Sheet. These are generally grants and expenditure on property not owned by the 
Council. Expenditure is charged to the Surplus / Deficit on the Provision of Services as it 
is incurred. This is reversed out through the Movement in Reserves Statement and a 
transfer made to the Capital Adjustment Account.  
 
Details of the accounting policy relating to grants and external contribution funding of 
REFCUS expenditure is shown in policy 1.3.17c.  
 
 
1.3.12 Non-Current Assets held for Sale 
 
When it becomes probable that the carrying amount of an asset will be recovered 
principally through a sale transaction rather than its continued use it is reclassified as an 
asset held for sale. Before an asset can be classed as held for sale it must be available 
for immediate sale in its present condition, the sale must be highly probable, the asset 
must be actively marketed and the sale should be expected to be completed within one 
year of the date of classification. In situations where it is not necessary to carry out 
active marketing, for example because the Council is able to identify prospective 
purchasers willing to pay a reasonable price without marketing (such as housing stock 
transfers) or because a buyer initiates the transaction (such as right to buy sales), this 
test is not applicable. Where events or circumstances extend the period beyond one 
year and there is sufficient evidence that the Council remains committed to the plan to 
sell the assets they are classed as long-term assets held for sale. 
 
The held for sale asset is carried at the lower of the carrying amount or the fair value 
less costs to sell. Where this results in a loss in value this loss is posted to Other 
Operating Expenditure in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. Once 
an asset is classed as held for sale it is no longer depreciated. 
 
If assets no longer meet the classification as assets held for sale they are reclassified 
back to non-current assets and valued at the lower of their carrying amount before they 
were classified as held for sale (adjusted for depreciation, amortisation or revaluations 
that would have been recognised had they not been classed as held for sale) or their 
recoverable amount at the date of the decision not to sell. 
 
 
1.3.13 Accruals of Income and Expenditure 
  
Activity is accounted for in the year that it takes place, not when cash payments are 
made or received. In particular, revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the 
Council transfers the significant risks and rewards of ownership to the purchaser and it 
is probable that economic benefits or service potential associated with the transaction 
will flow to the Council. 
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Revenue from the provision of services is recognised when the Council can measure 
reliably the percentage of completion of the transaction and it is probable that economic 
benefits or service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the Council. 
Supplies are recorded as expenditure when they are consumed. 
 
Expenses in relation to services received (including services provided by employees) 
are recorded as expenditure when the services are received rather than when payments 
are made. 
 
Interest receivable on investments and payable on borrowings is accounted for 
respectively as income and expenditure on the basis of the effective interest rate for 
the relevant financial instrument rather than the cash flows fixed or determined by the 
contract. 
 
Where income and expenditure have been recognised but cash has not been received 
or paid, a debtor or creditor for the relevant amount is recorded in the Balance Sheet.  
 
1.3.14 Inventories and Long-Term Contracts 
 
Inventory items are recorded as expenditure when they are consumed. Where there is a 
time difference between the date supplies are received and their consumption they are 
shown on the Balance Sheet as inventory. Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or 
net realisable value.  
  
Long-term contracts are accounted for on the basis of charging the Surplus / Deficit on 
the Provision of Services with the value of the works or services provided under the 
contract during the financial year. 
 
1.3.15 Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
Cash is represented by cash in hand and deposits with financial institutions repayable 
without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are highly liquid 
investments that mature in three months or less from the date of acquisition and that are 
readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value. 
 
In the Cash Flow Statement cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank 
overdrafts that form an integral part of cash management. 
 
 
1.3.16 Provisions 
  
Provisions are made where an event has taken place that gives the Council an 
obligation that probably requires settlement by a transfer of economic benefits but 
where the timing of the transfer is uncertain. Examples include a legal case that could 
result in a payment of compensation.  
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Provision is made for debts that are not considered to be collectable – referred to as a 
bad debt provision. This provision is calculated based on experience of previous years' 
collectability of differing types of debt applied to the amount of outstanding debt. The 
balance of debtors on the Balance Sheet is reduced by the amount of provision made. 
 
Contributions to provisions are charged to the appropriate service line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in the year the Council becomes 
aware of the obligation based on the best estimate of the likely settlement. When 
payments are made they are charged to the provision. Estimated settlements are 
reviewed at the end of each financial year and where it becomes likely that a transfer of 
economic benefits will not be required the contribution to the provision is reversed and 
credited back to the service line.  
 
Provisions are classed as either short or long term dependant on the likely date of 
settlement. 
 
1.3.17 Government Grants and Contributions 
 
Government grants and contributions are not credited to the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement unless there is reasonable assurance that the conditions 
relating to the grant or contribution will be complied with and the grant or contribution 
will be received. Conditions are stipulations that must be satisfied or the grant or 
contribution must be returned. Monies advanced as grants and contributions for which 
conditions are not yet met are carried in the Balance Sheet as receipts in advance. 
 
a. Revenue Grants and Contributions 
 
Revenue grants and contributions are credited to the relevant service line for specific 
grants and the Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income line for grants that cover 
general expenditure (e.g. Revenue Support Grant and PFI Grants). When the 
expenditure relating to specific grants has not been incurred the Council has elected to 
make a contribution equivalent to the unspent amount of grant to an earmarked reserve. 
This reserve will be released in future financial years when the expenditure to which the 
grant relates is incurred. 
 
b. Capital Grants and Contributions 
 
Where there is reasonable assurance that the conditions relating to the grant or 
contribution will be met, capital grants and contributions are credited to Taxation and 
Non-Specific Grant Income in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 
The balance of the grant or contribution that has not been used to finance expenditure 
is transferred to the Capital Grants Unapplied Reserve via the Movement in Reserves 
Statement. The amount of the grant or contribution that has been used to finance 
expenditure is transferred to the Capital Adjustment Account via the Movement in 
Reserves Statement. Amounts in the Capital Grants Unapplied Reserve are transferred 
to the Capital Adjustment Account when they have been applied to fund capital 
expenditure.  
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c. Grants and Contributions attributable to Revenue Expenditure Funded from 
Capital under Statute (REFCUS) 
 
Where there is reasonable assurance that the conditions relating to the grant or 
contribution will be met these grants and contributions are credited to the relevant 
service line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. The balance of 
the grant or contribution that has not been used to finance expenditure is transferred to 
the Capital Grants Unapplied Reserve via the Movement in Reserves Statement. The 
amount of the grant or contribution that has been used to finance expenditure is 
transferred to the Capital Adjustment Account via the Movement in Reserves 
Statement. Amounts in the Capital Grants Unapplied Reserve are transferred to the 
Capital Adjustment Account when they have been applied to fund expenditure.  
 
1.3.18 Reserves 
  
The Council sets aside specific amounts as reserves for future policy purposes or to 
cover contingencies. Reserves are created by appropriating amounts in the Movement 
in Reserves Statement. When expenditure to be financed from a reserve is incurred it is 
charged to the appropriate service in that year. The reserve is then appropriated back 
into the Movement in Reserves Statement so that there is no net charge for the 
expenditure on the General Fund balance. 
Certain reserves are kept to manage the accounting treatment for Property, Plant and 
Equipment and retirement benefits and do not represent usable resources for the 
Council. These are shown as unusable reserves in the Movement in Reserves 
Statement and Balance Sheet. 
 
1.3.19 Revenue Recognition 
 
Revenue is a sub-set of income and is defined as the gross inflow of economic benefits 
or service potential during the reporting period when those inflows result in an increase 
in net worth. 
 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. In 
most cases, the consideration receivable is in the form of cash and cash equivalents 
and the amount of revenue is the amount of cash and cash equivalents receivable. 
 
Where the Council is acting as an agent of another organisation the amounts collected 
for that organisation are excluded from revenue. 
 
Revenue relating to the sale of goods is recognised when the amount of revenue can be 
measured reliably, it is probable the revenue will be received by the Council and the 
risks and rewards of ownership have passed to the purchaser. Revenue relating to the 
provision of services is recognised when the amount of revenue can be measured 
reliably, it is probable the revenue will be received by the Council and the stage of 
completion of the service can be measured. 
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1.3.20 Overheads and Support Services 
 
The costs of overheads and support services are recharged to all users that benefit 
from the service in accordance with the costing principles of the SERCOP. These costs 
are charged on the basis of staff time, staff numbers and units of output. The full cost of 
overheads and support services are shared between users in proportion to the benefits 
received, with the exception of: 
  

• Corporate and Democratic Core – costs relating to the Council’s status as a 
multifunctional, democratic organisation. 

• Non-Distributed Costs – depreciation, impairment and grants relating to non-
operational assets and past service pensions costs / credits plus settlements 
and curtailments relating to pensions. 

 
These two cost categories are accounted for as separate lines in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement, as part of the net cost of services on continuing 
operations. 
 
1.3.21 VAT 
 
VAT is only included in expenditure, either revenue or capital, to the extent that it is not 
recoverable from HM Revenues and Customs. VAT receivable is excluded from income. 
 
1.3.22 Leases 
 
Leases are classified as either finance or operating leases based on the extent to which 
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of a leased asset lie with the lessor or lessee. 
Whether the lease is a finance lease or an operating lease depends on the substance of 
the transaction rather than the contract. Leases are classed as finance leases where 
the terms of the lease transfer the majority of the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership of the property, plant or equipment from the lessor to the lessee. All other 
leases are classified as operating leases. Land and building elements of a lease are 
considered separately for the purpose of lease classification. 
 
Arrangements that do not have the legal status of a lease but convey the right to use an 
asset in return for payment are accounted for under this policy where fulfilment of the 
arrangement is dependant on the use of specific asset. This is referred to as an 
embedded lease. 
 
Finance Leases 
 
Lessee 
Property, Plant and Equipment held under finance leases are recognised on the 
Balance Sheet at the commencement of the lease at its fair value at the time of 
inception (or the present value of the minimum lease payments if lower). The asset 
recognised is matched by a deferred liability for the obligation to pay the lessor. 
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Lease payments are apportioned between a charge for the acquisition of the interest in 
the property, plant or equipment which is applied to write down the deferred liability and 
a finance charge which is recognised in the Financing and Investment Income and 
Expenditure line within the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  
 
These property, plant and equipment recognised are subject to depreciation. The MRP 
on these assets equates to the amount of the lease payment that is applied to write 
down the deferred liability. 
 
The deferred liabilities are classed as either short or long term in line with the lease 
repayments. 
 
 
Operating Leases 
 
Lessee 
Leasing payments for operating leases are charged to revenue on a straight-line basis 
over the term of the lease even if this does not match the pattern of payments (e.g. 
there is a rent-free period at the commencement of the lease) and are shown within 
service expenditure in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 
 
Lessor 
Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the 
period of the lease even if this does not match the pattern of payments (e.g. there is a 
premium paid at the commencement of the lease) and is shown in the Other Operating 
Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. Assets held 
for use as operating leases are recorded as assets in the Council’s Balance Sheet. 
 
1.3.23 Benefits Payable during Employment 
 
Short-term employee benefits are those due to be settled within 12 months of the year 
end. They include such benefits as wages and salaries, paid annual leave, flexi time 
leave and paid sick leave for current employees. They are recognised as an expense 
for services in the year in which employees undertake the service for the Council. An 
accrual is made for the cost of holiday entitlement (including flexi time leave), earned by 
employees but not taken before the year end, which employees can carry forward into 
the next financial year. The accrual is made at the wages and salary rates applicable in 
the following financial year, being the period on which the employee takes the benefit 
and includes employer national insurance and pension contributions. 
 
The accrual is charged to the Surplus / Deficit on the Provision of Services but then 
reversed through the Movement in Reserves Statement to the Short Term Accumulated 
Absences Account so that holiday absences are charged against Council Tax or 
Housing rents in the financial year in which the absence occurs. 
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1.3.24 Termination Benefits 
 
Termination benefits are amounts payable as a result of a decision by the Council to 
terminate an officer’s employment before the normal retirement date or an officer’s 
decision to accept voluntary severance and are shown on an accruals basis in the 
Surplus / Deficit on the Provision of Services in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement when the Council is demonstrably committed to the termination 
of the employment of the officer, or group of officers, or making an offer to encourage 
voluntary severance. 
 
1.3.25 Post Employment Benefits 
 
a. Teachers’ Pension Scheme 
  
The payment of statutory pensions to former teachers is administered by Capita 
Teachers’ Pensions on behalf of the Department for Education (DfE). Contributions from 
teachers together with the employer's contribution are paid by the Council. The 
arrangements for this scheme mean that liabilities for benefits cannot be identified to the 
Council. The scheme is therefore accounted for as a defined contribution scheme – no 
liability for future payments of benefits is recognised in the Balance Sheet and the 
Education and Children’s Services line within the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement is charged with the employer’s contributions payable in the year. 
The Council is responsible for the costs of any additional benefits awarded upon early 
retirement outside of the terms of the Teachers’ scheme. These benefits are fully 
accrued in the pensions liability. 
 
b. Local Government Pension Scheme 
  
The Council pays an employer's contribution into the Greater Manchester Pension 
Fund, which is a fully funded defined benefits scheme administered by Tameside 
Metropolitan Borough Council from whom an Annual Report is available. 
 
The amount chargeable to the General Fund and HRA for providing pensions to 
employees is the amount payable by the Council to the pension fund. Where this 
amount does not match the amount charged to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement for the year (i.e. the amount of pension earned by employees) 
the difference is taken to the Pensions Reserve. This item is shown as a reconciling 
item within the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 
The following amounts are charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement:  
  
The current service cost (the increase in the liability as a result of pension earned by 
Council employees in the year) is charged to the net cost of services.  
 
Past services costs (the increase in the liability arising from current year decisions 
whose effect relate to years of service earned in earlier years) are shown as non-
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distributed costs (costs that are not attributable to a particular service) within the net 
cost of services as are gains and losses on settlements and curtailments (the result of 
actions to relieve the Council of liabilities or events that reduce the expected future 
service or accrual of benefits of employees).  
 
The net of interest cost (the expected increase in the present value of liabilities during 
the year as they move one year closer to being paid) and the expected return on assets 
(the annual investment return on the fund assets attributable to the Council, based on 
an average of the expected long-term return) are included within Financing and 
Investment Income and Expenditure.  
 
Unfunded benefits (such as the award of additional years of service) are accrued for in 
the pension liability.  
 
Actuarial gains and losses (changes in the net pension liability that arise because 
events have not coincided with assumptions made at the last actuarial valuation or 
because the actuaries have updated their assumptions) are recognised within Total 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure. 
 
Financial Instruments 
 
1.3.26 Financial Assets 
 
Financial Assets (e.g. investments (excluding those in companies included in the 
Council’s group accounts) and debtors) are classified into three types – loans and 
receivables (assets that have fixed or determinable payments but are not quoted in an 
active market), available for sale assets (assets that have a quoted market price and / 
or do not have fixed or determined payments) and unquoted equity investments at cost 
less impairment. 
 
a. Loans and Receivables 
 
Loans and receivables are initially measured at fair value and carried at their amortised 
cost (where the interest received is spread evenly over the life of the loan). Credits to 
the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line within the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement for interest received are based on the balance 
sheet amount of the asset multiplied by the effective interest rate for the financial 
instrument. For most of the loans that the Council has made that means the amount 
shown in the Balance Sheet is the outstanding principal receivable plus accrued 
interest. The amount of interest credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement is the amount receivable for the year per the loan agreement. 
 
The Council has made a number of loans to individuals at less than market rates of 
interest (these are known as soft loans). The amount of interest forgone is charged to 
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (debited to the appropriate 
service line) and the outstanding principal is reduced on the Balance Sheet. This 
represents the present value of the interest that will be foregone over the life of the loan 

72 



Manchester City Council Annual Statement of Accounts 2012/13 

agreement. Statutory provisions require that the impact of the soft loans on the General 
Fund balance is the interest receivable in the year, so the amount of foregone interest 
charged is managed by a transfer from the Financial Instruments Adjustment Account to 
the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 
b. Available for Sale Assets 
 
Available for sale assets are initially measured and carried at fair value. Where there 
are no fixed or determinable payments (e.g. dividends are received rather than a fixed 
amount of interest) income is credited to the Financing and Investment Income and 
Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement when it 
becomes receivable (e.g. the dividend is declared) by the Council. 
 
Instruments that have a quoted market price are shown at market price. 
 
Changes in fair value are balanced by an entry in the Available for Sale Reserve and 
the gain or loss is recognised in the Surplus or Deficit on Revaluation of Available for 
Sale Financial Assets. The exception is where impairment losses are incurred. Any gain 
or loss on the disposal of the asset are credited / debited to the Financing and 
Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement along with any accumulated gains or losses previously recognised in the 
Available for Sale Reserve. 
 
1.3.27 Embedded Derivatives 
 
The Council has given equity mortgages and loans to individuals to assist with the 
purchase and improvement of properties. The repayments of these are based on a 
proportion of the value of the property in a number of years. This type of loan is classed 
as an embedded derivative as the amount of repayment is linked to future property 
values. When these are granted, long-term debtors and deferred capital receipts are 
written onto the balance sheet. At the end of each financial year the long-term debtors 
and deferred capital receipt are adjusted in line with the change in property values.  
 
1.3.28 Financial Liabilities 
 
Financial liabilities (e.g. borrowings and creditors) are initially measured at fair value 
and carried at their amortised cost.  
 
Charges to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement for interest payable are based on 
the carrying amount of the liability multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the 
instrument. (The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future 
cash payments over the life of the instrument to the amount at which it was originally 
recognised.)  
 
For many of the borrowings that the Council has, this means that the amount shown in 
the Balance Sheet is the outstanding principal repayable plus accrued interest, and the 
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amount charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is the 
amount payable per the loan agreement. 
 
For Lender Option Borrower Option (LOBO) loans the effective interest rate has been 
calculated over the life of the loan. This is an average and differs from the amounts 
actually paid in the year. The difference between the calculated interest charge and 
interest paid has been adjusted in the carrying amount of the loan and the amount 
charged in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is the effective 
interest rate for the life of the loan rather than the amount payable per the loan 
agreement. 
 
Gains and losses on the repurchase or early settlement of borrowing are credited or 
debited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in the year of repurchase or 
settlement. However if the repurchase takes place as part of a restructuring of the loan 
portfolio that involves the modification or exchange of existing instruments, the premium 
or discount is deducted from or added to the amortised cost of the new or modified loan 
and the write down to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is spread 
over the life of the loan by an adjustment to the effective interest rate.  
 
Where premiums and discounts (amounts paid or received on the rescheduling of a 
loan) have been charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, 
regulations allow the impact of premiums on the General Fund balance to be spread 
over the longer of the outstanding period of the replaced loan or the period of the 
replacement loan or any other shorter period that the Council wishes to choose. 
Discounts are required to be credited to revenue over a maximum period equal to the 
outstanding term of the replaced loan or ten years (if shorter).  
 
The reconciliation of amounts charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement to the net charge against the General Fund balance is managed by a transfer 
to or from the Financial Instruments Adjustment Account in the Movement of Reserves 
Statement.  
 
Following the HRA debt settlement the outstanding HRA share of premiums and 
discounts has been written off to the HRA. 
 
 
1.3.29 Carbon Reduction Commitment (CRC) Allowances 
 
The Council is required to participate in the CRC Energy Efficiency Scheme. The 
scheme is currently in its introductory phase which will last until 31 March 2014. The 
Council is required to purchase and surrender allowances, currently retrospectively, on 
the basis of emissions i.e. carbon dioxide produced as energy is used. As carbon 
dioxide is emitted, a creditor and an expense are recognised. The creditor will be 
discharged by surrendering allowances. The creditor is measured at the best estimate 
of the expenditure required to meet the obligation, at the current market price of the 
number of allowances required to meet the liability at the balance sheet date. The cost 
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to the Council is recognised and reported within the Council’s net cost of services and is 
charged to services on the basis of energy consumption.  
 
 
1.3.30 Contingent Assets and Liabilities 
  
Contingent assets are sums due from individuals or organisations that may arise in 
future but the amount due cannot be determined in advance. These are not recognised 
in the accounts. They are disclosed as a note to the accounts as there is a probable 
receipt, which may result in a transfer of economic benefits.  
 
Contingent liabilities are sums due to individuals or organisations that may arise in the 
future, but the amount due cannot be determined in advance. Contingent liabilities also 
arise in circumstances where a provision would otherwise be made but either it is not 
probable that a payment will be required or the amount of payment cannot be measured 
reliably. These are not accrued for in the accounts. They are disclosed as a note to the 
accounts as there is a possible obligation, which may result in a transfer of economic 
benefits. 
 
1.3.31 Prior Period Adjustments, Changes in Accounting Policies and Estimates 
and Errors 
 
Prior period adjustments may arise as a result of a change in accounting policies or to 
correct a material error. Changes in estimation techniques are accounted for 
prospectively (i.e. in the current and future years affected by the change) and do not 
give rise to a prior period adjustment. 
 
Changes in accounting policies are only made when required by proper accounting 
practices or the change provides more reliable or relevant information about the effect 
of transactions, other events and conditions on the Council’s financial position or 
financial performance. Where a change is made, it is applied retrospectively (unless 
otherwise stated) by adjusting opening balances and comparative amounts for the prior 
period. 
 
 
1.3.32 Exceptional Items 
 
Where items of income and expenditure are material, their nature and amount is 
disclosed separately either on the face of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement or in the notes to the accounts, depending on how significant the items are to 
an understanding of the Council’s financial performance. 
 
 
1.3.33 Events after the Balance Sheet Date 
 
Events after the balance sheet date are those events that occur between the end of the 
reporting period and the date when the Statement of Accounts is authorised for issue. 
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Where these provide evidence of conditions in existence at the balance sheet date, 
the amounts recognised in the accounts are adjusted (e.g. settlement of a court case 
that confirms the amount of obligation at the balance sheet date). Where these are 
indicative of conditions that arose after the balance sheet date the amounts in the 
accounts are not adjusted (e.g. significant decline in market investments after 31 
March). This is known as a non-adjusting event and is disclosed as a note to the 
accounts.  
 
Events taking place after the date of authorisation for issue are not reflected in the 
Statement of Accounts. 
 
1.3.34 Interests in Companies and Other Entities 
  
The Council has material interests in companies and other entities and therefore group 
accounts have been prepared for the Council and its interest in its subsidiaries, 
associates and joint ventures. Inclusion in the Council group is dependent upon the 
extent of the Council’s interest and power to influence an entity. The determining factor 
for assessing the extent of interest and power to influence is either through ownership of 
an entity, a shareholding in an entity or representation on an entity’s board of directors. 
An assessment of all the Council’s interests has been carried out during the year, in 
accordance with the Code of Practice, to determine the relationships that exist and 
whether they should be included in the Council’s group accounts. In the Council’s 
single-entity accounts the Council’s interest in companies and other entities are 
recorded as financial assets at cost less any impairment. Any impairment gains or 
losses are recognised in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 
 
1.3.35 Local Taxation 
 
The Council is a Council Tax billing authority, collecting Council Tax on behalf of other 
authorities as well as itself. The collection of Council Tax on behalf of other authorities is 
treated as an agency arrangement and therefore only the elements of Council Tax that 
relate to the Council’s income are included within the main financial statements. 
 
The Council collects National Non-Domestic Rates on behalf of the government. This 
activity is treated as an agency arrangement and therefore not included within the main 
financial statements. 
 
The Collection Fund accounts include all local taxation collected by the Council on 
behalf of itself, other authorities and the government. 
 
 
Note 2. Critical Accounting Judgements  
 
In applying the accounting policies set out in Note 1 the Council has to make certain 
judgements about complex transaction or those involving uncertainty about future 
events. The critical judgements made in the Statement of Accounts are: 
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2.1 PFI and Similar Arrangements 
 
The Council is deemed to control the services provided via its PFI arrangements and 
also to control the residual value of the assets at the end of the contract. The 
accounting policy for PFIs and similar contracts has been applied to these 
arrangements and the assets valued at £114,075,000 (£115,553,000 in 2011/12) are 
recognised as Property, Plant and Equipment in the Council’s Balance Sheet.  
 
The operators’ models were examined to identify the service element of the unitary 
charge. Where that charge couldn’t be clearly separated the relevant costs were 
obtained from the models and a margin was applied to the costs to provide an amount 
for the service costs. The margin used was based on advice received from expert 
external advisors. The service element of the unitary charge is inflated annually by an 
agreed indicator (e.g. RPI) as per the contract. 
 
The implicit interest rate (IIR) was calculated by discounting the non-service element of 
the unitary charge at a rate that brings it back to the fair value of the asset. The fair 
value of the asset is taken as the construction or refurbishment costs of the scheme. 
The IIR calculated is compared to the closing swap rate in the financial model to check 
the reasonableness of the assumptions made. 
 
2.2 Classification of Leases 
 
The Council has undertaken an analysis to classify the leases it holds, both as a lessee 
and lessor, as either operating or finance leases. The accounting policy for leases has 
been applied to these arrangements and assets valued at £1,656,000 (£2,780,000 in 
2011/12) are recognised as Property, Plant and Equipment in the Council’s Balance 
Sheet. 
 
2.3 Arrangements Containing a Lease 
 
The Council is deemed to control assets that fall within contractual and other 
arrangements which involve the provision of a service using specific underlying assets 
and which therefore are considered to contain a lease. The accounting treatment for 
leases has been applied to these arrangements to determine whether the lease 
contained within them is a finance or an operating lease and as a result assets valued 
at £2,688,000 (£3,683,000 in 2011/12) are recognised as Property, Plant and 
Equipment in the Council’s Balance Sheet. 
 
 
2.4 Investment Properties 
 
The Council has reviewed all assets in accordance with the accounting policy for 
investment properties and as a result assets valued at £363,945,000 in 2012/13 
(£364,653,000 in 2011/12) are classified as Investment Properties. 
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2.5 Valuation of Property Plant and Equipment 
 
The Council's fixed assets are valued on the balance sheet in accordance with the 
statement of asset valuation principles and guidance notes issued by the Royal 
Institution of Chartered Surveyors (RICS): 
 

• plant and machinery is included in the valuations of buildings when it is an 
integral part of the building. 

 
• properties classified as operational, excluding council dwellings, were valued on 

the basis of net realisable value in existing use or, where a market did not exist, 
on the basis of depreciated replacement cost. 

 
• council dwellings were valued in accordance with Department for Communities 

and Local Government guidance at open market value less a specified, notified 
percentage known as the social housing discount. 

 
• community assets and infrastructure have been valued at depreciated historical 

cost. 
 

• properties classified as non-operational have been valued on the basis of market 
value. 

 
All assets, with the exception of those valued at depreciated historical cost, are revalued 
as part of a five year rolling programme. Accordingly, at least 20% of the above 
valuations have been reviewed by Jacobs and District Valuers, external valuers 
commissioned by the Council and M. Robertson RICS, valuer employed by the Council. 
All assets reviewed had a valuation date of 1 April 2012. 
 
Material changes after the valuation date have been accounted for. 
 
 
2.6 Valuation of Heritage Assets 
 
The Code permits councils to measure community assets in the same way as heritage 
assets. The Council has decided that these should continue to be measured at 
depreciated historical cost. 
 
The Code states that valuation of heritage assets may be made by any method that is 
appropriate and relevant. There is no requirement for valuations to be carried out or 
verified by external valuers. The Council has therefore chosen to use market valuation, 
where this is available. Where a market valuation is not available insurance valuation 
has been used. As a result assets valued at £422,968,000 in 2012/13 (£391,289,000 in 
2011/12) have been classed as Heritage Assets. 
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2.7 Schools Property, Plant and Equipment 
 
The Council has assessed the legal framework underlying each type of school. The 
Council controls the management and running of community and voluntary controlled 
schools and therefore the plant, property and equipment of those schools are shown on 
the Council's balance sheet. The plant, property and equipment of voluntary aided and 
foundation schools are owned and controlled by the trustees of the schools or the 
foundation body and are therefore not shown on the balance sheet of the Council. 
 
2.8 Municipal Mutual Insurance (MMI) 
 
In January 1994, the Council’s then insurer, Municipal Mutual Insurance (MMI), made a 
Scheme of Arrangement with its creditors.  Under this scheme claims were initially paid 
out in full, but if the eventual winding up of the company resulted in insufficient assets to 
meet all liabilities, a claw back clause would be triggered, which could affect claims 
already paid. On 13 November 2012, the directors of MMI triggered MMI’s Scheme of 
Arrangement. The Scheme Administrator has set an initial levy of 15% of claims for 
which scheme creditors have received settlement of more than £50,000. When scheme 
creditors are owed amounts from claims not yet paid by MMI, the settlement will be 
reduced to 85%. It is now known that the claw back clause will be invoked and therefore 
a provision for the potential liability has been made in the balance sheet set at the initial 
15% levy.  
 
 
Note 3. Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty 
 
The Statement of Accounts contains estimated figures that are based on assumptions 
made by the Council about the future or that are otherwise uncertain. Estimates are 
made taking into account historical experience, current trends and other relevant 
factors. However because balances cannot be determined with certainty, actual results 
could be different from the assumptions and estimates.  
 
The items in the Council’s Balance Sheet at 31 March 2013 for which there is a risk of 
adjustment in the following financial year are: 
 
 
3.1 Revaluation of Property, Plant and Equipment 
 
Property, plant and equipment (with the exception of infrastructure, community assets, 
assets under construction and small value items of vehicles, plant and equipment) are 
revalued on a periodic basis and tested annually for indicators of impairment. 
Judgements are required to make an assessment as to whether there is an indication of 
impairment. The impairment tests include examination of capital expenditure incurred in 
the financial year to ascertain whether it has resulted in an increase in value or an 
impairment of an asset. Advice has been provided by valuers employed by the Council. 
If the actual results differ from the assumptions the value of PPE will be over or 
understated. This would be adjusted when the assets were next revalued. 
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3.2 Depreciation of Property, Plant and Equipment. 
 
Assets are depreciated based on useful lives that are dependent on assumptions about 
the level of repairs and maintenance that will be incurred in relation to individual assets. 
The current economic climate makes it uncertain that the Council will be able to 
maintain the expenditure on repairs and maintenance resulting in uncertainty in the 
useful lives assigned to assets by the Valuers. If the useful life of assets is reduced 
depreciation increases and the carrying amount of assets falls. It is estimated that the 
annual depreciation charge would increase by £3,970,000 for every year the useful lives 
are reduced.  
 
However, due to capital regulations, there would be no impact on the general fund 
balance. 
 
The District Valuer has provided percentages, based on their professional judgement, 
for various components of council houses and flats. These percentages have been 
applied to the valuations of these houses and flats to obtain valuations of the 
components to which useful lives are applied to calculate the depreciation on council 
dwellings. If these percentages were amended, the value of the council dwellings and 
the related depreciation would be over or under stated.  
 
3.3 Provisions 
 
The Council has made various provisions in relation to compensation claims made to 
the Council. These provisions are based on the number of claims outstanding at the end 
of the financial year, the average settlement amount for each type of claim and the 
likelihood of each type of claim being settled. It is not certain that the precedents set in 
previous years will be applicable to the current outstanding claims. An increase of 1% in 
the estimate average settlement would have the effect of adding £100,000 to the 
provision required. An increase of 1% in the likelihood of each claim being settled would 
have the effect of adding £106,000 to the provision.  
 
 
3.4 Arrears 
 
At 31 March 2013 the Council had a balance of sundry debtors of £127,980,000, 
housing rents of £12,680,000 and council tax debtors of £42,113,000. A review of these 
outstanding balances suggests that an impairment of doubtful debts of £77,445,000 
(£31,761,000 sundry debtors, £9,778,000 housing rents and £35,906,000 council tax) 
was appropriate. However in the current economic climate it is not certain that such an 
allowance would be sufficient. If collection rates were to deteriorate by 1% this would 
require an additional £1,228,000 (£540,000 sundry debtors, £61,000 housing rents and 
£627,000 council tax) to be set aside. 
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3.5 Pensions Liability 
 
Estimation of the net liability to pay pensions depends on a number of complex 
judgements relating to the discount rate used, the expected rate of price inflation, the 
rate at which salaries and pensions are expected to increase, mortality rates and rate of 
commutation of pensions. A firm of actuaries are engaged by the Pension Fund to 
provide expert advice about the assumptions to be applied. The effects on the net 
pensions liability of changes in individual assumptions can be measured. For instance a 
0.5% decrease in the discount rate assumption would result in an increase in the 
pension liability of £288m, a one year increase in member life expectancy would result 
in a £91m increase in the pension liability, a 0.5% increase in the salary increase rate 
would result in a £76m increase in the pension liability and a 0.5% increase in the 
assumed pension rate increase would result in a £209m increase in the pension liability.  
 
3.6 Employee Benefits Accrual 
 
At 31 March 2010 an accrual for employee benefits (annual and flexi time leave) was 
calculated at an average of 0.58 day per Council employee excluding teachers. As the 
Council’s policy on the carry forward of annual leave has not changed since 2009/10 the 
same number of days per employee has been used to calculate the accrual for 31 
March 2013. If the accrual had increased by half a day per employee, the value of the 
accrual would have increased by £633,000. 
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GLOSSARY OF FINANCIAL TERMS 
 
Actuarial Gains and Losses 
 
For a defined benefit pension scheme, the changes in actuarial deficits or surpluses 
that arise because events have not coincided with the actuarial assumptions made 
for the last valuation (experience gains and losses) or the actuarial assumptions 
have changed. 
 
Agency Services 
 
Services that are performed by or for another authority or public body, where the 
authority responsible for the service reimburses the authority carrying out the work 
for the cost of that work. 
 
Amortisation 
 
A charge to the comprehensive income and expenditure statement spread over a 
number of years. 
 
Assets 
 
Items of worth that are measurable in terms of value. Current assets are ones that 
may change in value on a day-to-day basis (e.g. inventory). Non current assets are 
assets that yield benefit to the Council for a period of more than one year (e.g. land). 
 
Balances 
 
The reserves of the Council, which include the accumulated surplus of income over 
expenditure. 
 
Capital Expenditure 
 
Expenditure on the acquisition or enhancement of property, plant and equipment that 
have a long-term value to the Council. This includes grants or advances paid to third 
parties to assist them in acquiring or enhancing their own property, plant and 
equipment. 
 
Capital Receipts 
 
Money received from the sale of property, plant and equipment or repayment of a 
capital advance. 
  
Collection Fund 
 
The fund maintained by the Council into which are paid the amounts of Council Tax 
and National Non-Domestic Rates that it collects, and out of which are to be paid 
precepts issued by precepting authorities, its own demands and payments into the 
NNDR pool. 
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Community Assets 
 
These are assets that the Council intends to hold in perpetuity, which have no 
determinable finite useful life and may have restrictions on their disposal (e.g. parks). 
 
Contingent Assets 
 
Sums due from individuals or organisations that may arise in the future but which 
cannot be determined in advance. 
 
Contingent Liabilities 
 
Sums due to individuals or organisations that may arise in the future but which  
cannot be determined in advance. 
 
Core Cities 
 
Core Cities are a unique and united local authority voice to promote the role of cities 
in driving economic growth, representing the councils of England’s eight largest city 
economies outside London - Birmingham, Manchester, Liverpool, Leeds, Sheffield, 
Bristol, Newcastle and Nottingham. 

These cities drive local and underpin national economies.  Working in partnership, 
they aim to enable each City to enhance their economic performance and make 
them better places to live, work, visit and do business. 
 
Corporate and Democratic Core 
 
This comprises the activities that all local authorities engage in because they are 
elected multi-purpose authorities. The cost of these activities is over and above 
those which would be incurred by a series of independent, single purpose, 
nominated bodies managing the same services. 
 
Creditors 
 
Amounts owed by the Council for goods and services provided by the balance sheet 
date, where payment has not been made at that date. 
 
Current Service Cost  
 
The increase in present value of a defined benefit pension scheme’s liabilities 
expected to arise from employee service in the current financial year. 
 
Curtailments 
 
For a defined benefit pension scheme, an event that reduces the expected years of 
future service of present employees or reduces the accrual of defined benefits for a 
number of employees for some or all of their future service. 
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Debtors 
 
Sums of money owed to the Council at the balance sheet date but not received at 
that date. 
 
Defined Benefit Scheme 
 
A pension or other retirement benefit scheme other than a defined contribution 
scheme.  Usually, the scheme rules define the benefits independently of the 
contributions payable, and the benefits are not directly related to the investments of 
the scheme.  The scheme may be funded or unfunded. 
 
Defined Contribution Scheme 
 
A pension or other retirement benefit scheme into which an employer pays regular 
contributions fixed as an amount or percentage of pay and will have no legal or 
constructive obligation to pay further contributions if the scheme does not have 
sufficient assets to pay all employee benefits relating to employee service in the 
current and prior periods. 
 
Depreciated Replacement Cost 
 
A method of valuation that provides a proxy for the market value of specialist 
properties.  
 
Depreciation 
 
The measure of the wearing out, consumption or other reduction in the useful 
economic life of property, plant and equipment. 
 
Exceptional Items 
 
Material items which derive from effects or transactions that fall within the ordinary 
activities of the authority and which need to be disclosed separately by virtue of their 
size or incidence to give fair presentation of the accounts. 
 
Expected Return on Pension Assets 
 
For a funded defined benefit pension scheme, the average return, including both 
income and changes in fair value but net of scheme expenses, expected over the 
remaining life of the related obligation on the actual assets held by the scheme.  
 
Expenditure 
 
Amounts paid by the Council for goods received or services rendered of either a 
capital or revenue nature. This does not necessarily involve a cash payment - 
expenditure is deemed to have been incurred once the goods or services have been 
received even if they have not been paid for. 
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Fair Value 
 
The fair value of an asset is the price at which it could be exchanged in an arms 
length transaction. 
 
Fees and Charges 
 
Income arising from the provision of services, e.g. the use of leisure facilities. 
 
Finance Lease 
 
A finance lease is one that transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of items of property, plant and equipment to a lessee.  
General Fund 
 
The total services of the Council except for the Housing Revenue Account and the 
Collection Fund.  Council Tax, Government Grants and NNDR meet the net cost of 
this. 
 
Impairment 
 
A reduction in the value of a property, plant and equipment below its carrying amount 
in the balance sheet. 
 
Income 
 
Amounts due to the Council for goods supplied or services rendered of either a 
capital or revenue nature. This does not necessarily involve cash being received - 
income is deemed to have been earned once the goods or services have been 
supplied even if the cash has not been received. 
 
Infrastructure Assets  
 
These are inalienable assets, expenditure on which is recoverable only by continued 
use of the asset created. Examples of such assets are highways and footpaths. 
 
Interest Cost (Pensions) 
 
For a defined benefit scheme, the expected increase during the period in the present 
value of the scheme liabilities because the benefits are one period closer to 
settlement. 
 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
 
These are statements prepared by the International Accounting Standards Board to 
ensure consistency in accountancy matters.  Many of these standards now apply to 
local authorities and any departure from these must be disclosed in the published 
accounts. 
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Inventory 
 
Raw materials and consumable items the Council has purchased to use on a 
continuing basis and has not used by the end of the financial year. 
 
Investment Properties 
 
These are property or land that is held solely to earn rentals or for capital 
appreciation or both. 
 
Liabilities 
 
Amounts due to individuals or organisations that will have to be paid at some time in 
the future.  Current liabilities are usually payable within one year of the balance 
sheet date. 
 
Long-term Contracts 
 
A contract entered into for the design, manufacture or construction of a single 
substantial asset or service where the time taken to complete the contract is such 
that the contract activity falls into different accounting periods. 
 
Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) 
 
This is the amount that is charged to an authority's Movement in Reserves 
Statement each year and set aside as a provision for credit liabilities. 
 
National Non-Domestic Rate (NNDR) 
 
All non-domestic properties have been valued and the Government determines a 
national rate poundage each year, which is payable to all local authorities. Local 
authorities collect the national non-domestic rate but the proceeds are pooled and 
distributed by the Government. 
 
Operating Lease 
 
A lease other than a finance lease. 
 
Past Service Cost 
 
For a defined benefit pension scheme, the increase in present value of the scheme 
liabilities related to employee service in prior periods arising in the current period as 
a result of the introduction of, or improvement to, retirement benefits. 
 
Precept 
 
The amount levied by the various joint authorities (e.g. fire and rescue authority), 
which is collected by the Council on their behalf. 
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Provisions 
 
These are sums set aside to meet liabilities or losses that have been incurred but 
where the amount and/or timing of such costs are uncertain. 
 
Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) 
 
A Government agency that lends money to local authorities. Local authorities are 
able to borrow some or all of their requirements to finance capital expenditure from 
this source. 
 
Residual Value 
 
The net realisable value of property, plant or equipment at the end of its useful life.  
 
Reserves 
 
These are sums set aside to meet possible future costs where there is no certainty 
about whether or not these costs will be incurred. 
 
Revenue Contributions 
 
The method of financing capital expenditure directly from revenue.  
 
Revenue Expenditure 
 
Expenditure incurred on the day-to-day running of the Council. This mainly includes 
employee costs, general running expenses and capital financing costs. 
 
Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital Under Statute (REFCUS) 
 
These are items of capital expenditure that do not result in, or remain matched by, 
the Council’s property, plant and equipment.  
 
Revenue Support Grant (RSG) 
 
A grant paid by the Government to each local authority to help to finance its general 
expenditure.  
 
Settlement 
 
An irrevocable action that relieves the employer of the primary responsibility for a 
pension obligation and eliminates significant risks relating to the obligations and the 
assets used to effect the settlement. 
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1. Scope of Responsibility 
 

1.1 Manchester City Council is responsible for ensuring that its business is conducted in 
accordance with the law and proper standards. It is also responsible for ensuring that 
public money is safeguarded, properly accounted for and used economically, efficiently 
and effectively. The Council also has a duty under the Local Government Act 1999 to 
make arrangements to secure continuous improvement in the way in which its functions 
are exercised. 

 
1.2 In discharging these responsibilities, the Council must put in place proper arrangements 

for the governance of its affairs and effective exercise of its functions, which includes 
arrangements for the management of risk. The Council first adopted a Code of 
Corporate Governance in June 2008. This Code is included in the Council’s Constitution 
(part 6 section G). It sets out how the Council operates, how decisions are made and the 
procedures which are followed to ensure that these are efficient, transparent and 
accountable to local people. Some of these processes are required by law, while others 
are a matter for the Council to choose. 
 

1.3 The Code of Corporate Governance and the Council’s Constitution are reviewed 
annually to ensure they remain consistent with the principles of the Chartered Institute of 
Public Finance and Accountancy and the Society of Local Authority Chief Executives 
and Senior Managers (CIPFA/SOLACE) joint framework for delivering good governance 
in local government (2012).  
 

1.4 This Annual Governance Statement (AGS) explains how Manchester City Council has 
complied with the Code of Corporate Governance.  The AGS also meets the 
requirements of the Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2011 regulation 4(3) 
which requires all relevant bodies to prepare an Annual Governance Statement (AGS). 
 

1.5 Further details on any areas of particular interest can be accessed by clicking on the 
hyperlinks (highlighted and underlined throughout the document).  
 

2. The Purpose of the Governance Framework 
 

2.1  The governance framework comprises the systems and processes, cultures and values 
by which the Council is directed and controlled, and through which it accounts to, 
engages with and leads the community. It enables the Council to monitor the 
achievement of its strategic objectives as set out in the Corporate Plan 2011/2014, and 
to consider whether those objectives have led to the delivery of appropriate, cost 
effective services.  These objectives are underpinned by the corporate values of People, 
Pride and Place.  

 
2.2  The system of internal control is a significant part of the framework and is designed to 

manage risk to a reasonable level. It cannot eliminate all risk of failure to achieve the 
Council’s aims and objectives, and can therefore only provide reasonable and not 
absolute assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal control identifies and 
prioritises risks; evaluates the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact 
should they be realised; and aims to manage them efficiently, effectively and 
economically. 
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3. Context of 2012/13 AGS  
 

3.1 Over the past year the Council has been developing and strengthening work on new 
delivery models to implement Public Service Reform, and the additional responsibilities 
placed on the Council by new legislation. This includes the Localism Act 2011, Health 
and Social Care Act 2012 and Welfare Reform Act 2012. The Council has introduced 
new governance structures and systems and made a number of revisions to the Code of 
Corporate Governance, to support our on-going transformation and to ensure that the 
Council is well positioned to deliver its new responsibilities effectively. This section sets 
out brief details of the key policy and legal drivers to transformation.   

 
The Local Government Settlement December 2012 

 
In December 2012, Government published the provisional local government finance 
settlements for both 2013/14 and 2014/15. The settlements were broadly as expected, 
which left the Council with the expected £80m (approximate) funding gap in 2013/15. 
The impact of this has been that the Council has faced significant funding reductions 
from 2010/11 and 2014/15, with an overall reduction in the Council’s budget of 28% 
during this period. This combined with the increased cost of the levies for Waste 
Disposal and Transport has led to a 37% reduction in the resources available to support 
the Directorate net revenue budgets. In addition, there have also been considerable 
changes to how local government is funded including: 
 

•   Local Government Resource Review and the partial re-localisation of business 
rates 

•   Changes to the Council Tax system with the localisation of council tax support 
and associated reduction in funding, the resultant changes to how the tax base is 
calculated and the ability to generate income locally through council tax charges 

•   Reform of the funding arrangements for schools from 2013/14 
•   Transfer or responsibility for public health functions from 1 April 2013 

 
Together these bring more volatility and uncertainty to the level of resource the Council 
will receive. 
 

 Impact of Welfare Reform Act 2012 
 
3.2 The Welfare Reform Act 2012 has fundamentally changed the administration and 

entitlement of welfare benefits and the process of getting people ready for work. The 
reforms are expected to lead to a migration of benefit claimants from areas with a high 
cost of living to more affordable localities both within and across councils. This could 
significantly impact on key services such as school allocations, or primary and social 
care services. Manchester City Council has a critical role in managing the impact the 
changes will bring both to place and people and influencing the behavioural changes 
that will help people move from welfare dependency to work and independent living. Key 
elements of the Act include: 

• Universal Credit – The introduction of a single welfare payment to replace a mix 
of out of work benefits and working tax credits 

• The Work Programme – A single welfare to work programme to support the long 
term unemployed into work 

• Fit for Work Assessments – Aimed at reassigning disability and incapacity 
benefits based on an individual’s capability to work 
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3.3 The Council’s performance management framework has been updated to include a real 
time ‘Welfare Reform Dashboard’. This dashboard presents intelligence and insights on 
the impact of welfare reform and measures the effectiveness of interventions and 
activities. In collaboration with the Core Cities Working Group, the performance 
measures have been developed to ensure comparative benchmarking data is available 
across the core cities. The Welfare Reform Dashboard is reported to the Strategic 
Management Team (SMT) led by the Chief Executive, the Strategic Housing Board and 
Welfare Reform Programme Board. 

 
 
 Greater Manchester City Deal 
 
3.4 In March 2012, Government announced a range of bespoke City Deal Agreements with 

Greater Manchester Combined Authority. This was a major step in empowering the 
region to make its own decisions on how to maximise economic growth, based on the 
unique needs and opportunities of the region’s economy.  The City Deal Implementation 
Plan sets out the delivery programme for the different elements of City Deal including 
the creation of a City Apprenticeship and Skills Hub, a housing investment fund, and a 
revolving infrastructure fund on an ‘earn back’ basis; strengthening of the Greater 
Manchester Business Growth Hub; and work with government on devolution of transport 
funding.  

 
3.5 Governance of City Deal is delivered through the Greater Manchester Combined 

Authority. The Combined Authority has a track record of multiple authorities pooling 
resources, sharing risks and benefits, agreeing strategic investment programmes and 
working together to deliver. The Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) is a key component 
of Greater Manchester’s governance arrangements combining business leadership with 
the political accountability of the local authority.  The LEP brings together nine private 
sector, four local authority members and two observers that support the City’s growth 
strategy. 
 
A New Strategic Narrative 
 

3.6 A new strategic narrative reflecting the changed context for the City, has been 
developed through a process of engagement with key partners, to accompany The 
Manchester Way: Manchester’s Community Strategy 2006 – 2015 . The narrative 
supports the strategic priorities of the Manchester Partnership and the Council’s budget 
setting process. It emphasises the importance of aligning budget decisions with the 
overall vision for the City, through supporting growth and investing in the future of the 
City. It also emphasises the need to invest in people, to build personal and community 
resilience, in order to reduce demand on high cost public services. The strategic 
narrative provides the high level policy framework for transformation and reform.  
 
Transformation of Council Services and Public Service Reform 
 

3.7 Over the past year the Council has accelerated the pace of transformation across 
services. Social care and health services have been integrated into two Directorates: 
Children and Commissioning Services and Families, Health and Wellbeing. The latter 
also has responsibilities for commissioning and delivering services to protect and 
promote public health. From 1 April 2013 the statutory Health and Wellbeing Board will 
be in place -shadow for a year - with responsibility for a programme of integration, public 
health and prevention. The Council has stepped up reform, taking a longer term 
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sustainable approach that is evidence based, with the objective of reducing dependency 
on public sector services. The Greater Manchester Whole Place Budget is a key 
element of this work testing new methods of commissioning, co-investing and delivering 
services across public sector agencies to: 

• Integrate health and social care 
• Transform the justice system 
• Increase work and skills 
• Increase early intervention with children in their early years, and  
• Reduce the number of troubled families. 

 
3.8 The Council’s Manchester Investment Fund (MIF) enables continued investment in 

interventions that aim to reduce dependency, implement new delivery models, and 
produce results that will secure reinvestment in the Fund. 
 

3.9 The funding reductions set out in the final financial settlement in January 2013 will lead 
to further reductions in our workforce to deliver savings of approximately £24 million. In 
December 2012, the Personnel Committee and the Executive agreed a VSS Scheme 
(combined Voluntary Severance and Voluntary Early Retirement Scheme) to support the 
transformation of the workforce and to achieve the anticipated workforce budget savings 
across 2013/14 and 2014/15.  The practical application of the VSS Scheme has been 
developed to ensure that important skills necessary for the future needs of the Council 
are not lost and disruption to services is managed on a practical level. The on-going 
review of services and skills will drive workforce reductions and be linked to corporate 
objectives in line with m people principles.  
 

4. The Governance Framework 
 

4.1 Corporate governance is a phrase used to describe how organisations direct and control 
what they do. It also encompasses the values that councils hold important and promote 
throughout their work. The Council operates to a Code of Corporate Governance. This is 
set within the Council’s Constitution. The Code and the Constitution are reviewed 
annually. The Code was last updated in July 2012. However, given the pace and scale 
of change since then, the Code is currently being revised. It was approved, as part of the 
refreshed Constitution, at Full Council in May 2013.  

 
4.2 This section of the AGS outlines the key changes that have been made to the Council’s 

governance framework during 2012/13. These changes have been organised around the 
six principles of good governance in local government: 

 

• Principle 1: Focussing on the Council’s purpose, its outcomes for the community and 
on implementing a vision for the local area; 

• Principle 2:  Having clear responsibilities and arrangements for accountability; 
• Principle 3: Promoting values for the authority, demonstrating values of good 

governance and upholding good conduct and behaviour; 
• Principle 4: Taking informed and transparent decisions that are subject to effective 

scrutiny and managing risk; 
• Principle 5: Developing the capacity and capability of Members and Officers to be 

effective; 
• Principle 6: Engaging with local people and other stakeholders to ensure robust public 

accountability. 
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Principle 1: Focussing on the Council’s purpose and outcomes for the community and on 
implementing a vision for the local area 
 

 Manchester’s Vision 
 
4.3 The New Strategic Narrative, described in paragraph 3.6, refreshes and updates The 

Manchester Way: Manchester’s Community Strategy 2006 - 2015. Progress towards 
achieving the vision for Manchester continues to be measured through the State of the 
City indicators and reported in the annual State of the City report. Additional 
performance indicators are being developed to measure progress against new areas in 
the Strategic Narrative. This work is overseen by the Manchester Board and will be 
completed by July 2013. More frequent reporting on the strength and performance of 
Manchester’s economy is through The Real Time Economy Dashboard. 
 

4.4 Manchester City Council’s Corporate Plan 2011/2014 sets out our key strategies, 
priorities and related activities to deliver the Community Strategy. 
 
Our vision articulated in the budget setting process  

 
4.5 The budget setting framework includes a budget reporting and public consultation 

process. This allows people to express their views on where money should be invested 
and where savings should be made to ensure we set a balanced budget. The 2013 
budget consultation process included online and hard copy questionnaires. The online 
form was available on our Council consultation webpages, which were publicised 
through a variety of digital, business and community channels. All Manchester 
households received information about the budget consultation. Front-line staff were 
made aware of how to appropriately collect and record budget responses. Residents 
who needed additional support were able to request a digital recording of their views 
through the Customer Contact Centre. 

 
Creating a vision for the local area 
 

4.6 Local Councillors (Members) are our key community leaders. They work with local 
businesses, residents, public, private and voluntary sector organisations, to create and 
manage the delivery of a vision for their local area.  Underpinning the vision are Local 
Plans and Ward Plans. The ward co-ordination process allows flexibility for Members 
and Ward Co-ordinators to deal with resident engagement and local issues in ways that 
best suit the needs of their wards.  
 
Implementing a vision for the local area  
 

4.7 Manchester has been modelled into Strategic Regeneration Framework (SRF) areas to 
set a broad spatial framework within which investment can be planned and guided to 
make the greatest contribution to a local area. The Neighbourhood Focus Strategy takes 
a strategic approach to the neighbourhood aspects of economic, environment and 
housing strategies. The Neighbourhoods Board plays a key role in responding to the 
new challenges and opportunities presented by the ‘Place’ agenda and for ‘Place 
Shaping’. Membership of the Board includes partners from a range of organisations with 
a clear stake in local delivery and management.  
 
Reviewing the vision 
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4.8 We continue to review the implications of our vision on our governance arrangements 
through: 
• The Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 2010/11 to 2012/13. 
• The Performance Management Framework  
• Member Scrutiny through the Overview and Scrutiny Committees 
• Regular resident consultation and engagement activities and engagement with our 

staff 

Communicating the vision 
 

4.9 We communicate our vision, purpose, and performance through a number of channels. 
These include: our Council website; social media sites and Blog Networks; online digital 
publications; local and business specific media partners and printed publications such as 
the Annual Report and the State of the City report. 

 
Value for Money 
 

4.10 Manchester City Council Value for Money Strategy 2010/2013 defines Value for Money 
(VfM) as: “about obtaining the maximum benefit from the resources available to the 
organisation. It is often defined as achieving the right balance between economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness, the 3 E's - spending less, spending well and spending 
wisely.  For Manchester this means delivering the best services at the lowest possible 
costs to our residents.” 

 
4.11 The VfM Strategy is regularly monitored through the VfM Action Plan. It is an integral 

component of the Council’s business planning process and the Performance 
Management Framework (PMF). The VfM Strategy has come to the end of its lifecycle 
and is being reviewed to ensure the lessons learnt from the deliver of the VfM Strategy 
inform future VfM work which will be embedded into the PMF rather than continuing with 
a standalone strategy. 
 
Failure in service delivery 
 

4.12 The Council’s complaints procedure is committed to ensuring the highest possible 
standards of public accountability. Grievances against the Council can be reported 
directly to the Council’s Corporate Complaints team, local Councillors or the Local 
Government Ombudsman. The Complaints procedure is published in the booklet 
“Comments, Compliments and Complaints – Let us know what you think about Council 
services”. Staff policy and procedural guidance on complaints handling is also available. 

Principle 2: Having clear responsibilities and arrangements for accountability  
 

4.13 The Council’s Constitution sets out and describes the functions, responsibilities and 
lines of accountability that the Council operates within. The Constitution is reviewed at 
least annually to ensure it reflects political and organisational changes in the national 
and local context. The Constitution has been updated and was presented to full Council 
in May 2013 to adopt. The Constitution includes:  
• A Scheme of Delegation that states the decision making powers of the Chief 

Executive, the City Treasurer (The Section 151 Officer), City Solicitor (The 
Monitoring Officer) and senior officers; 

• The Code of Conduct for Members and Code of Conduct for Employees; 
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• The Member/Officer Relations Protocol which ensures Members receive objective 
and impartial advice and that Officers are protected from accusations of bias and any 
undue influence from Members; 

• A clear statement of the respective roles and responsibilities of all Councillors and 
senior officers; 

• Clear guidance for Councillors on their individual and collective roles and 
responsibilities when working with partners; 

 
4.14 Several revisions were made to the Constitution during 2012/13 to keep pace with new 

legislative requirements coming into effect at different times in the year. For instance, 
the Health and Social Care Act 2012 transferred the general duty to improve and protect 
public health from the NHS to local authorities, along with some mandatory public health 
functions. The Constitution was amended to include a Health and Wellbeing Board for 
Manchester, as a Committee of the Council, and a scheme of delegation for a Director of 
Public Health.   

 
4.15 The Partnership Governance Framework sets out the Council’s expectations of 

governance arrangements in its partnerships. The Framework is currently being 
reviewed to ensure that it remains relevant to partnership working in the current climate 
and continues to be underpinned by principles of good governance. The Framework also 
makes clear the roles and responsibilities of Members and Officers, both individually and 
collectively.  The Council’s Register of Significant Partnerships lists brief details of all our 
key partnership arrangements. This Register is reviewed annually to ensure it remains 
up-to-date. 

Principle 3: Promoting the values for the authority and demonstrating values of good 
governance through maintaining high standards of conduct and behaviour. 
 

4.16 The Council fosters a culture of behaviour based on shared values, ethical principles 
and good conduct. These values underpin everything the Council does, including how it 
works with partners and serves its local communities. The Council’s values are People, 
Pride, Place:  
• People - Every day Council employees will go further to make a difference to the 

lives of Manchester people. Council employees will treat colleagues, partners and 
customers with the respect they deserve and believe only their best is good enough 

• Pride - Council employees are proud of the role they play in making Manchester a 
success. Council employees accept the responsibility invested in them and rise to 
meet the challenges they need to overcome 

• Place - Council employees celebrate all things Manchester and strive to make 
Manchester’s streets, neighbourhoods and city an even greater place to live, work 
and visit. 

 
4.17 The Localism Act 2011 required councils to adopt a local Code of Conduct for elected 

and co-opted Members of the Council. Manchester City Council’s Local Code of 
Conduct for Members was adopted by the Council in July 2012. It is based on the 7 
principles of public life, set out by the Nolan Committee on Standards in Public Life, to 
enhance and maintain the integrity (real and perceived) of local government.  

 
4.18 The Standards Committee reports annually on ethical governance within the Council. 

Alongside the Audit Committee it has overview of the Council’s Whistle Blowing 
Procedures. Policies that relate to ethical governance include the Whistle Blowing 
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Policy, Anti Fraud and Anti-Corruption Policy and Anti-Bribery and Money Laundering 
Regulations. 
 

4.19 To prevent Members from being influenced by prejudice, bias or conflicts of interest, the 
Council maintains and performs regular checks on our Register of Interests for 
Members.  

Principle 4: Taking informed and transparent decisions that are subject to effective 
scrutiny and managing risk 
 
Informed and transparent decision making 
 

4.20 The Council’s Constitution sets out the decision making framework and processes. 
Paragraph 4.13 provides further information. The Council and Committee meetings are 
held in public (subject to limited exemptions). Agendas and reports are made available 
to the public well in advance of meetings. The Council also publishes the Forward Plan 
of Key Decisions. This Forward Plan provides the public with notification of key matters 
that will be considered and resolved by Council and Committees. 

 
4.21 The Council’s Performance Management Framework provides accurate, relevant and 

timely information to Council and Committees through performance reports and 
dashboards. This crucial information supports decision making and informs how 
resources can be allocated in the most cost effective and efficient way. Committee 
reports provide clear explanations of technical issues and their implications. Appropriate 
legal, financial and other professional advice is also included and considered as part of 
the decision-making process. 
 
Scrutiny Committees 
 

4.22 The decisions of the Executive and the way in which Council services are delivered, are 
subject to scrutiny by Scrutiny Committees. Members of Scrutiny Committees hold 
decision makers to account and consider how public services are meeting the needs of 
local residents. Scrutiny Committees have a key role in ensuring that the people of 
Manchester get the best out of their public services and that they are delivered in the 
way residents want.  
 
Business planning 
 

4.23 Each of the Council’s Directorates produced a Business Plan. These Business Plans 
focus on the Council’s priorities of Sustainable Economic Growth, People and Place. 
The plans identify the risks and potential impacts policy changes such as welfare reform 
changes. Business Plans also include budget delivery and workforce development 
plans. The Council’s Scrutiny Committees are responsible for reviewing the Business 
Plans. Different elements of a plan are then allocated to individual services and teams to 
deliver. Staff are set individual objectives based on their team plans, via the appraisal 
process, and their performance against these objectives is measured throughout the 
year. 

 
4.24 Significant progress has been made with the Council’s transformation programme to 

commission and deliver health and social care services for adults and children under a 
single, integrated approach.  As the future plans for these directorates focus on a shared 
approach it was not sensible to produce separate plans for Children’s Services and the 
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Directorate for Adults, Health and Wellbeing.  In recognition of this, an Integrated Health 
and Care Delivery and Integrated Commissioning Plan was developed covering these 
two directorates. 
 

 Use of information 
 
4.25 The Council works within the Code of Recommended Practice for Local Authorities on 

Data Transparency. The Council publishes data on our performance in a timely manner 
and in a clear format, and complies with requests to publish data whenever this is in the 
public interest.  Manchester launched its Intelligence Hub in September 2012. The 
Intelligence Hub is an interactive, on-line product which includes an analysis tool 
containing over 100 statistical variables, spanning different themes of data. The tool 
enables a user to display statistical data in different formats and to export it for their own 
analysis. The Hub brings together information on:  
• The State of the City reports; 
• Joint Strategic Needs Assessments; 
• Ward profiles; 
• Performance Dashboards and statistics, including the Real Time Economy 

Dashboard that is published online every month; 
• Links to advice and guidance about procurement, commissioning and the Data 

Protection Act 1998 and the Freedom of Information Act 2000.   
 
The Equality Act 2010 
 

4.26 The Council must consider its obligations under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010. 
We have in place a robust Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) framework that informs 
decision making and budget considerations.  

 
  Risk Management 

 
4.27 The City Treasurer has overall responsibility for the Risk Management function. The 

Head of Internal Audit and Risk Management manages these functions through the 
Corporate Risk and Resilience Team. The Risk and Resilience function is primarily 
concerned with: 
• Supporting and embedding effective governance, risk management and internal 

control arrangements; 
• Providing support in improving arrangements for the identification, evaluation and 

management of risks, including the provision of health and safety support, business 
continuity planning and insurance; 

• Reviewing strategic risk management and business continuity arrangements as set 
out in the Corporate Risk and Resilience Strategy 2013/14.  

 
4.28 The Corporate Risk and Resilience Strategy 2013/14 articulates the objectives and 

priorities for risk and business continuity. It is set within the context of changes in 
government policy, Public Service Reform (PSR), financial constraints and the Council’s 
Transformation Programme. The Council’s Strategic Directors and their management 
teams identify, scrutinise and manage the risks to the delivery of their Business Plans 
and broader strategic risks to their Service, in a Directorate Risk Register. 
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Principle 5: Developing the capacity and capability of Members and officers to be 
effective 
 

4.29 A cross party Member Development Working Group (MDWG), chaired by the Deputy 
Leaders, meets to review the training needs of Members. The MDWG ensures that 
Members have the correct skills and knowledge to deliver their Council duties. 
Development opportunities are available through:  
• Internal and external training opportunities, including courses with the North West 

Employers Organisation; 
• Online e-learning and training; 
• Council in-house briefing sessions.  

 
4.30 Members are accountable for their performance to their political leadership and to their 

constituents.  All Members sign a Public Service Contract that requires them to submit 
cyclical reports on the level and nature of their activities as Members. These reports are 
available for public inspection. The Political Groups on the Council also have their own 
internal performance management systems. 

 
4.31 The Council’s People Strategy was first agreed in 2007. It set out the organisation’s key 

priorities and objectives with regards to developing the skills and capacity of the 
workforce. The Strategy was refreshed in 2012, with the revised document agreed by 
the Personnel Committee. The People Strategy 2013/2015 sets out the organisation’s 
key workforce development priorities in the context of a significant period of change. The 
Strategy is aligned with the commitments and approach to managing the workforce 
detailed in the m people agreement. The Strategy focuses on five themes which are 
being taken forward both corporately and at a Directorate level:  
• Developing leadership skills and capacity 
• Planning the future workforce 
• Developing workforce skills and capacity 
• Reducing worklessness 
• Reward and recognition 

Principle 6: Engaging with local people and other stakeholders to ensure robust public 
accountability. 
 

4.32 The Ward Co-ordination, process facilitates direct communication between residents 
and their elected Councillors and ensures a focus on service improvement at a 
neighbourhood level. Councillors are democratically elected and so accountable for 
decisions in their local area and responsible for providing a leadership role in building 
sustainable communities. Public accountability is also achieved through the scrutiny 
function (see paragraph 4.22).  

 
4.33 Business Plans identify key engagement and communication activities that will provide 

opportunities for people to influence decision making. Our Community Engagement 
Strategy sets out different ways of effectively engaging with our communities. It is 
supported by the Community Engagement Toolkit which provides practical guidance on 
implementing the Strategy.   
 

4.34 Paragraph 4.12 sets out the Council Complaints Procedure which allows people to 
scrutinise and challenge decisions made by the Council. Regular review and analysis of 
complaints has enabled the Council to strengthen weak processes and procedures.   
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4.35 The Council’s Publication Scheme describes the information that the Council routinely 
makes available to the public and the Council's legal obligations for making information 
publically accessible.   

5. Annual review of effectiveness of the governance framework 
 

5.1 Manchester City Council has a legal responsibility to conduct an annual review of the 
effectiveness of its governance framework, including the systems of internal control.   
Through evaluation and analysis during the 2012/13 review, the Council has good 
assurance that its governance arrangements and systems of control are robust and 
reflect the principles of the Code of Corporate Governance (see paragraph 4.1).  

 
5.2 The 2012/13 review of governance arrangements comprised: 

• Evaluation of the process of challenge and scrutiny by Council and its Committees; 
• The Annual Opinion of the Head of Internal Audit and Risk Management; 
• Outcomes of the Annual Review of the Systems of Internal Audit; 
• Our External Auditor’s opinion of the effectiveness of our systems of risk and 

governance; 
• Review of the role and responsibilities of the Chief Finance Officer;  
• Assessment of the robustness of corporate governance in business planning, 

including analysis of findings from the Governance Self Assessment Questionnaire; 
• Evaluation of the effectiveness of our processes to gain reassurance about the 

robustness of governance arrangements in the Council’s Significant Partnerships; 
• Outcomes of external assessments carried out by regulatory bodies. 
 
Evaluation of the process of challenge and scrutiny by Council and its Committees 
 

5.3 The Council has four committees jointly responsible for monitoring and reviewing the 
Council’s governance: 
• The Executive - Proposes the budget and policy framework to Council and makes 

decisions on resources and priorities relating to the budget and policy framework; 
• The Audit Committee - Approves the Council’s Annual Accounts, responds to the 

External Auditor’s recommendations and oversees the effectiveness of the Council’s 
governance and risk management arrangements, the internal control environment 
and associated anti fraud and anti corruption arrangements; 

• The Finance Scrutiny Committee - Scrutinises the implications of financial decisions 
and budget management; corporate, partnership and city region governance 
decisions; and the Council’s Transformation Agenda; 

• The Standards Committee - Promotes and maintains high standards of conduct 
amongst Members, advising on the adoption and revision of the Code of Conduct for 
Members, and monitoring the Code of Corporate Governance.  

 
5.4 There is provision for Councillors (minimum of five or the Chair of the relevant Scrutiny 

Committee) to call in decisions taken by the Executive (or Senior Officers under 
delegated authority), for consideration by the relevant Scrutiny Committee. The 
Committee will then consider the reasons for calling the decision in and either confirm 
the decision, refer it to the decision maker for reconsideration, or refer it to full Council if 
the Committee believes that the decision runs contrary to the budget or policy 
framework. No decisions were subject to the call in process during 2012/13. This 
provides good assurance that decisions taken by the Executive and Committees were in 
accordance with the Council’s agreed budget and policy framework.   
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Head of Internal Audit and Risk Management Annual Opinion 2012/13 
 
5.5 Based on the programme of planned Internal Audit work, and other than a small number 

of significant control issues that arose during the year, the Head of Internal Audit and 
Risk Management provided substantial assurance that the Council’s systems of 
governance, risk management and internal control were generally sound and operated 
reasonably consistently. Key governance, risk management and internal control issues 
that arose during the year are listed below:  
 
• Internal Audit raised concerns over cash management and handling throughout the 

year, particularly in relation to service users. These emerged from planned audits 
and in response to allegations of irregularity. There are inherent risks in cash 
handling, especially when managed on behalf of service users and clients, but 
improvement is needed in 2013/14;  

• Two audits raised concerns over social care casework and management, particularly 
on children’s social care and adult mental health. Clear, comprehensive action plans 
to address areas for improvement are being delivered and Internal Audit will follow 
these up including further reports to Audit Committee in 2013/14 to independently 
confirm progress made; 

• Given the scale and range of data and information assets held, there are inherent 
risks of loss or leakage of sensitive information. During 2012/13 a small number of 
incidents emphasised the need for controls to be strengthened and whilst work was 
already underway to improve the current arrangements this remained a key risk 
issue in the year. 

 
5.6 The additional challenge from an audit perspective is the financial context in which the 

Council is required to operate. The impact of delivering savings programmes will be 
substantial, will impact on all business areas and is based on reasonable but ambitious 
assumptions. There has been extensive planning and ongoing consultation on the 
budget proposals. Programmes for transformation of Services have been set out in 
business plans. Whilst the Council is well placed to respond to this challenge, the scale 
and pace of required change remains a fundamental risk. In a Council of Manchester’s 
size and complexity, with its significant ambitions, change agenda and savings 
requirements, there is an inherent risk of breakdown in the systems of control 
particularly where roles, responsibilities and systems are changing. We have worked 
actively with management to identify and examine these areas of potential risk and 
support them in anticipating future risks and challenges for 2013/14 and beyond. 

Annual Review of the System of Internal Audit 2012-13 
 
5.7 In accordance with the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2003 (Amended 2006 and 2011) 

the Council conducts an annual review of the effectiveness of its system of internal audit 
to be considered as part of its governance assurance processes, including production of 
the Annual Governance Statement.  The review found that Internal Audit had continued 
to build on its strengths and to consolidate its role. Service delivery in support of the 
Council’s priorities and objectives, and identifying and addressing risks to service 
delivery, remained key priorities. The Internal Audit Team delivered its audit plan on 
time, had a sound base for carrying out audit activity and met its overall objectives of 
providing audit assurance and advisory support to the Council. Section managers and 

 191 



staff were aware of and operated in line with professional standards and codes of ethics. 
External Audit provided positive, independent assurance of the work of the Team. 

External Auditor’s Review of the Effectiveness of our Governance Arrangements  
 
5.8 Grant Thornton, in their capacity as the Council’s external auditor, produce an Annual 

Audit Letter.  The Annual Audit Letter summarises the key issues arising from the work 
that Grant Thornton have carried out. The Annual Audit Letter 2011/12 was reported to 
Audit Committee on 1 November 2012.  The main conclusions of the Audit Letter were:  
 
“That the Council made proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ending 31 March 2012”.  
 
“That the AGS and Explanatory Foreword (of the Annual Accounts) were consistent with 
our knowledge of the Council and met the requirements of CIPFA/SOLACE and showed 
an overall improvement in the compilation and content of the AGS.” 
 
“Whilst the Council faces significant financial challenges in 2012-13 and beyond, its 
current arrangements for securing financial resilience are robust”. 
 

5.9 The Annual Audit Letter for 2012/13 is due to be reported to Audit Committee on 28 
November 2013. As part of the 2012/13 audit, Grant Thornton will provide its opinion on 
key risk areas, including: 

 
• financial resilience following the reduced central government grant settlement; 
• the Annual Accounts 2012/13; 
• Value for Money. 

 
5.10 The Council takes external audit recommendations very seriously and monitors their 

implementation on an ongoing basis. Assurance reports are presented to Audit 
Committee and Grant Thornton bi-annually summarising our performance in 
implementing recommendations effectively and within agreed timescales. The latest 
assurance report was presented to Audit Committee on 21 March 2013 and the next 
report will be in September 2013. 

Annual Review of the role and responsibilities of the Senior Finance Officer 
 

5.11 As part of its work on governance and financial management across public services, the 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy issued its Statement on the role 
of the Chief Financial Officer in Local Government (the Statement) in 2010. The Council 
has undertaken a review of the role and responsibilities of its Chief Financial Officer 
(CFO) against the five principles that define the core activities and behaviours that 
belong to the role of the CFO and the governance requirements needed to support 
them.  

 
5.12 We have concluded that the CFO is ideally placed to develop and implement strategic 

objectives both within Manchester City Council and the Greater Manchester Combined 
Authority, given his role as the City Council’s Section 151 Officer, City Council Treasurer 
and Greater Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA) Treasurer. He reports directly to 
the Chief Executive and is a Member of the Council’s Senior Leadership Team. The 
CFO influences all material business decisions and oversees the corporate governance 
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arrangements, audit and risk management framework, the financial and annual budget 
strategy and planning processes.  

 
Assessment of the robustness of corporate governance in business planning, including 
analysis of findings from the Governance Self Assessment Questionnaire 

 
5.13 The annual business planning process includes a questionnaire about the extent to 

which corporate governance is embedded in each of the Directorates. Responses to the 
questionnaire enable us to draw conclusions about the areas of corporate governance, 
systems and processes our staff need support with implementing and/or understanding. 
During 2012/13 the governance self assessment questionnaire was amended to closely 
align with and reflect the Council’s Code of Corporate Governance and systems of 
control. Responses to the questionnaire provided crucial information about how well the 
Code is understood by staff and how robustly it is embedded in local procedures and 
working practices. Detailed guidance was also provided on sources of evidence to 
demonstrate compliance with the Code. The assessment concluded that staff across the 
organisation had a good understanding of the Code. The assessment also concluded 
that further work is needed to ensure robust corporate governance in three key areas. 
These areas are set out below and discussed in sections six and seven.   

 
• Embedding good conduct and behaviour – This is particularly important where new 

integrated delivery models are in place involving staff from a number of different 
public sector organisations working together. We need to ensure that all staff are 
aware of whistle blowing, Anti-fraud, Anti-Corruption policies, the Council’s 
Constitution and Financial Regulations.  

• Impact and implications of the Localism Act 2011 and Education Act 2012 – We need 
to be clearer about how new Acts will affect decision making, strategic planning and 
operational management across all our services.  

• Strengthening decision making – Whilst sound decision making processes are in 
place, we need to make improvements in how we gathering and use evidence-led 
intelligence, identify and manage risk at an appropriate level and how we manage 
our performance in a timely fashion. 

 
Evaluation of the effectiveness of our processes to gain reassurance about the 
robustness of governance arrangements in the Council’s Significant Partnerships 

 
5.14 The Council’s Register of Significant Partnerships comprises a summary of all our key 

partnership arrangements. These partnerships are structured in a number of different 
forms, from joint venture partnerships, statutory partnerships and strategic alliances to 
partnerships responsible for key contractual agreements. The partnerships are defined 
as significant because they either manage substantial amounts of public money and/or 
are leading bodies that determine high level strategy and set out our vision for the future. 
As such, they present some level of risk to our reputation and standing. We provide 
leadership and advice on governance matters, through the Partnership Governance 
Framework (see paragraph 4.15).  

 
5.15 In 2012/13 we reviewed the effectiveness of processes used to assess the robustness of 

good governance in partnership arrangements, to ensure they continue to provide a 
reasonable, reliable assessment of partnership governance risk. We concluded that 
there were a number of areas that could be strengthened.  

• Self-assessment Questionnaire  
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Additional questions will be added to the partnership self-assessment questionnaire 
to assess the effectiveness of processes related to monitoring spend, delivering 
value for money, insurance liability cover and implementing recommendations from 
external inspection and audits. Approval of self-assessments will also need to be 
obtained from the Strategic Management Team (SMT) Lead Officer.   

• Governance in new and emerging partnerships 
Information on registration and self-assessments forms will help inform Council 
decisions on whether to enter into partnerships, providing an early opportunity to 
influence governance arrangements.  The Internal Audit and Risk Management 
Team will be able to provide early advice and guidance on governance processes 
to assist partnerships to manage and mitigate risks.  

• Role and responsibilities of officers and Members in partnership arrangements 

The Partnership Governance Framework will be reviewed to ensure governance 
arrangements reflect CIPFA principles, that the individual and collective roles and 
responsibilities of Members and Officers are clearly set out and that the Council’s 
expectations of good governance systems and processes are made explicit.   

The Council’s internal governance and internal control management groups 
 

5.16 Overall officer responsibility for internal governance and internal control lies with the 
Chief Executive and Strategic Management Team (SMT). The SMT Use of Resources 
and Governance Sub-Group is responsible for evaluating the effectiveness and fitness 
for purpose of the Council’s corporate governance arrangements and for leading the 
development and implementation of changes necessary to bring about improvement. 
The Annual Governance Statement (AGS) Working Group is responsible for supporting 
the work of the SMT Use of Resources and Governance Sub-Group and developing this 
AGS. 

Manchester City Council’s 2012/13 Local Accounts  
 

 
5.17 The Care Quality Commission (CQC) is the regulatory body responsible for the quality of 

health, mental health and adult social care in England. The CQC continue to publish 
information of the standards of residential, nursing and home care, which includes both 
internal services such as Reablement and the wider care sector from whom Manchester 
commission care. Until 2009/10 the CQC produced an annual assessment (Capturing 
Regulatory Activity at a Local Level - CRILL) of how each local authority commissions 
services for people in their local area. However, changes to the role of the CQC means 
that this is no longer the case. Instead, Councils are now advised to produce ‘local 
accounts’. This is not a statutory requirement but good practice in demonstrating 
accountability and transparency. Local accounts must demonstrate how the Council has 
safeguarded and maintained personal dignity, put people first and achieved value for 
money, judged against the health and social care outcomes for their area. At the time of 
writing Manchester’s 2012/13 Local Accounts was not available for assessment and 
analysis.  

 
5.18 Currently, across the north-west region, Councils are working on a sector led 

improvement programme to raise standards in adult social care through peer support, 
challenge and review. A suite of performance measures are being developed to allow 
Councils to benchmark their social care provision performance data. This data will 
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enable Councils to engage in a process of peer challenge and review. Annual 
performance outturn data will be considered alongside a range of other factors in order 
to assess standards across the region. 
 
The Office for Standards in Education, Children’s Services and Skills (Ofsted) 
 

5.19 Ofsted inspects and regulates services which care for children and young people and 
those providing education and skills for learners. As of 28 March 2013, Ofsted inspection 
reports were published for 50 schools during 2012-/3.  Ofsted concluded that 35 or 70% 
of schools inspected were good or better for overall effectiveness. 41 schools or 82% 
were judged to be good or better for Leadership and Management. Overall, 75% of 
schools in Manchester are judged to be good or better in their most recent inspection.  
74% of all children in Manchester schools attend an outstanding or good school. All 
school inspection reports are published on the Ofsted website. 
 

5.20 The last Safeguarding Children Ofsted judgement of the Council took place in 2011. 
Manchester was judged as ‘Adequate’. A more recent Safeguarding Peer Review took 
place in March 2013. The findings are currently being acted upon and progress is 
regularly monitored at the Performance Improvement Board. An Ofsted Inspection of the 
Council’s Fostering Service in March 2013 judged it to be ‘Good’. 

6 Progress on governance issues identified from last year’s (2011/12) 
Annual Governance Statement 
 

6.1 This section summarises the activity against each of the governance improvement 
actions identified in the 2011/12 AGS.  
 
Greater Manchester City Deal 
  

6.2 A City Deal Implementation Plan was agreed between the Combined Authority and 
Cabinet Office in September 2012. The Plan sets out an agreed programme of delivery 
and progress is discussed on a monthly basis with the Cabinet Office. Good progress 
has been made on most areas although some milestones, in particular related to the 
Earnback model, have been significantly delayed in progressing through Whitehall 
departments. Agreement to the detailed arrangements for Earnback is expected shortly.  
Progress to date includes:  
 
• Endorsement of the Greater Manchester Investment Framework aligning core 

economic development funds, enabling the more efficient use of investment that 
meets Greater Manchester’s economic priorities. The Regional Growth Fund 3 
programme has been incorporated within the framework and further work is in hand to 
ensure that this forms the platform for further devolution of funding or increased 
influence over national programmes; 

• Funding has been agreed for the City Apprenticeship and Skills Hub which will place 
apprentices with Small and Medium Enterprises and a skills tax incentive pilot. 
Implementation is underway. Good progress is being made to link mainstream skills 
funding with local labour market priorities. The analysis of labour priorities is complete 
and work to develop a mechanism to link these to outcomes is progressing. These 
initiatives will help deliver a step change in labour market participation, and help drive 
down welfare dependency; 
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• Funding from Regional Growth Fund 2 to strengthen Greater Manchester’s Business 
Growth Hub is due to be agreed imminently providing businesses large and small with 
the support they need to grow; 

• MIDAS and UK Trade and Investment are developing pilot proposals to increase high 
value inward investment following agreement of the GM Internationalisation strategy. 
The first phase will focus on e-health.  

• The Low Carbon Hub has been established with a plan to reduce emissions by 48% 
by 2020 and is developing a portfolio of investment propositions as part of the joint 
venture with the UK Green Investment Bank; 

• A housing investment board has been established with the Homes and Communities 
Agency as part of the investment framework with a business plan to support delivery 
of projects across GM and enable  receipts to be recycled locally; 

• Good progress has been made on transport projects with the announcement of the 
High Speed 2 rail line with stations proposed at Piccadilly and Manchester Airport and 
funding for the Northern Rail Hub. Manchester is working across the North to develop 
proposals to for the devolution of rail franchising.   

 
6.3 Further support from Government is sought focused on the outputs of the Greater 

Manchester Community Budgets pilot. The Community Budget work demonstrates how 
Greater Manchester can effectively deliver savings through developing new public 
service delivery models that reduce dependency and support growth. Further funding 
would be devolved to a local level under proposals put forward by the Heseltine Review 
of October 2012. This has been broadly adopted by Government to advance 
decentralisation, unleash the potential of local economies, strengthen partnerships with 
industry and foster economic growth. Central to the Review was empowering Local 
Economic Partnerships (LEPs) and devolution of some central funding streams into a 
single Local Growth Fund pot from 2015 onwards, the content of the Single Local 
Growth Fund will be addressed at the spending round in June 2013.  
 

6.4 Governance of City Deal is through the Greater Manchester Combined Authority. See 
paragraphs 3.4 to 3.5 for further details.  
 
Implications of the Appointment of Police and Crime Commissioner 
 

6.5 The Greater Manchester Police and Crime Panel hold monthly, public meetings. It first 
met on 30 November 2012. At that meeting the Panel’s governance arrangements and 
rules of procedures were agreed. The Association of Greater Manchester (AGMA) 
structures include the Police and Crime Panel, the Steering Group and the Police and 
Crime Leads meeting. Manchester City Council’s representative at these meetings is the 
Leader of the Council. A Working Group is in place to support the Police and Crime 
Commissioner. The Working Group includes representation from Manchester City 
Council (Councillor Priest and the Deputy Chief Executive (Neighbourhoods).  

 
6.6 The Greater Manchester Police and Crime Panel discusses matters relating to how it 

contributes to AGMA level discussions, opportunities to collaborate on jointly 
commission services and interventions to create economies of scale within the 
community safety agenda. The Police and Crime Commissioner is responsible for the 
Police and Crime Plan, produced through consultation with the Police and Crime Panel 
Steering Group and other key partners, including Manchester City Council.  
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Localism Act 2011 
 

6.7 Different parts of The Localism Act 2011 took effect at different times during 2012/13. A 
new "local" Code of Conduct for Members and new arrangements for dealing with 
complaints that a Member has acted in breach of the Code, are now in place. There is 
also a new "Register of Members' Interests" on the Council’s website. Independent 
Persons and Co-opted Independent Members of the Council's new voluntary Standards 
Committee have also been appointed. Revisions to the Council’s Constitution to include 
new procedures to address the following aspects of the Act, are currently under 
consideration:  
 

• The ‘Community Right to Challenge’ expressions of interest submitted by a voluntary 
or community body, charity or Council employees, to provide or assist in providing a 
service provided by, or on behalf of the Council; 

• The “Community Right to Bid” nominations for assets to be included on the Council’s 
Register of Assets of Community Value"; 

• The designation of community groups as Neighbourhood Forums, with powers to 
submit Neighbourhood Development Plans and Neighbourhood Development Orders 
for planning permission. 

 
6.8 The Localism Act also required the development of an annual Pay Policy Statement 

setting out the Authority’s position with regard to pay in general and the pay of Chief 
Officers in particular. Manchester’s second statement was agreed by full Council in 
March 2013. 
 
Health and Social Care Act 2012 
 

6.9 The Health and Social Care Act 2012 signalled wide ranging reorganisation of the NHS 
with significant implications for Councils. The Act has placed greater emphasis on 
integration between health agencies, social care and other council services to deliver 
person centred support that promote early intervention, independence, health and 
wellbeing.  The Act also established statutory Health and Well-Being Boards to provide 
governance for public health. The Boards work towards encouraging agencies who 
arrange the provision of any health or social care services in Manchester to work 
together in an integrated way, to advance the health and wellbeing of Manchester’s 
residents.   

 
6.10 Membership of the Health and Wellbeing Board includes the Director of Families, Health 

and Wellbeing, the Director of Children’s and Commissioning Services, the Director of 
Public Health, at least one elected Member of the Council and representatives from 
each of the three Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs). A representative of the 
Council’s Local Healthwatch organisation will also be included on the membership (yet 
to be appointed).     
 
Public Service Reform and The Manchester Investment Fund (MIF) 
 

6.11 The Whole Place Community Budget (WPCB) work started the journey of Public Service 
Reform (PSR) in Greater Manchester. PSR aims to reduce dependency on high cost 
services and support economic growth across Greater Manchester. It also aims to 
ensure that residents of all ages in Manchester are learning, working, developing their 
skills and enjoying life in the city.  PSR is key to the future development of Greater 
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Manchester in terms of helping to deliver the Greater Manchester Strategy and the role 
of the Combined Authority.   

 
6.12 The first phase of the WPCB was completed in October 2012.  The business cases, 

which were the outcome of joint work with Whitehall colleagues, were presented to 
AGMA and Government Ministers. They were also show-cased at a national conference 
in November 2012. The second phase of WPCB was completed in March 2013. The 
evaluation of outcomes from this phase will inform the evaluation and reporting 
framework of the Council’s PSR Programme. The four  themes of the Programme are:  

• Troubled Families and Work and Skills 
• Integrated Health and Social Care  
• Early Years  
• Transforming Justice. 

 
6.13 The Greater Manchester Public Service Reform Executive has overall responsibility for 

the PSR Programme. The PSR Executive in turn reports to the AGMA Wider Leadership 
Team and the AGMA Joint Committee / Combined Authority. Thematic Strategic Groups 
and operational groups drive progress on particular themes. At a Greater Manchester 
Level there is also a GM Troubled Families Steering Group.  Progress is reported 
nationally to the Troubled Families Unit through regular returns and attendance at 
regional/national events or visits to Manchester.  
 

6.14 The work in Manchester is overseen by the Manchester Investment Board (MIB).  This 
Board is chaired by the Deputy Chief Executive (Performance) and includes 
representation from Strategic Directors and partners. There are governance 
arrangements in place for each of the four themes:-  
  
1. There is a Troubled Families Board. Local Integration Teams (LITs) review 
performance and direct activity around Troubled Families at a local level. The LITs 
report to the Troubled Families Board, which reports progress to the Manchester 
Investment Board. 
2. Health and Social Care is governed via the Blueprint Steering Group and the Health 
and Wellbeing Board. 
3. Early Years via the joint steering group with the Health, also the Health and Wellbeing 
Board. 
4. Transforming Justice is governed at a Greater Manchester level. 
 

6.15 These governance arrangements have strengthened the links between delivery at a 
local level and the citywide strategic direction for the PSR Programme. Involvement of 
partners at both local and Board level has strengthened the commitment and 
involvement of partner organisations. It has also provided a higher level of scrutiny to the 
work required to secure investment, and maximised the knowledge and intelligence of 
different organisations.  
 

6.16 An evaluation framework for the Troubled Families Workstream has been developed to 
monitor progress and to highlight risks. An interim evaluation of the Troubled Families 
programme highlighted a positive cost benefit analysis ratio. However, it is too soon to 
fully evaluate the programme as most of the interventions currently in place are still 
running their course. An evaluation framework is also in place to assess the 
effectiveness and resilience of new delivery and investment models in place across 
Targeted and Specialist Services. 
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6.17 The core principles of Public Service Reform are: 
 
• Interventions chosen on the strength of the evidence base. 
• Integrated, co-ordinated and sequenced interventions packaged in the right order and 

at the right time for each family. 
• Family based approach not just focus on individual, in order to best influence 

behaviour. 
• New investment models to move money and resources between partners and enable 

sharing of investments and benefits. 
• Robust evaluation evidence to inform investment decisions. 
• Decommissioning of some existing provision and integrated recommissioning of 

provision by scaling up proven pilots, together with early intervention and prevention. 
 
The Local Authority’s Leadership and Influencing Role in School Governance 
 

6.18 In light of the Education Act 2011 and changing policy landscape, governance 
arrangements were reviewed in order to strengthen the leadership and influencing role 
of the Council across an increasingly diverse education system.  A new collaborative 
partnership, the Strategic Education Partnership (SEP), was established between the 
Council, partners and all schools. See paragraph 7. 10 for further information about the 
SEP. 
 

6.19 The Council maintains an ‘intelligence-led’ approach to ensuring that governing bodies 
are effectively discharging their duties including their statutory responsibilities. It brings 
together data from school performance and inspections, school finance teams, Internal 
Audit and Human Resources/Organisational Development (HR/OD) to identify key 
issues and determine support and intervention. Overall this approach supports the 
development of community accountability. 
 

6.20 A rolling programme is being developed to systematically review all current School 
Governor appointments. A role specification is being developed to clearly set out the 
competencies, roles and responsibilities of School Governors. Terms of Office in relation 
to both the school and the Council will also be specified. The Council will provide 
ongoing training and information to support School Governors in their role.  A Local 
Authority Governance Unit will also be established to provide ongoing support.  
 
One Education  
 

6.21 One Education Limited promotes school improvement services which schools can 
commission. It began operating on 1 September 2011 following an extensive period of 
development including consideration of the governance arrangements for the new 
company. One Education is a wholly owned Council company with the facility for Council 
representation on the Board. There is currently one Council officer represented on the 
Board. One Education operates under a Service Level Agreements (SLA) with the 
Council and is subject to a formal performance review process.  

 
6.22 Various SLAs are in place with One Education including one which focuses on the 

appointment and training of School Governors and management of the Governors 
database. In discussion with One Education, this SLA was reviewed and a decision was 
taken to end the SLA. These functions are now being managed internally within the 
Council.  One Education, together with the Council, are undertaking a review of the 
current business model. 
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Third Sector 
  

6.23 Following a collaborative design process between the Council and representatives from 
volunteering-focused third sector organisations, an interim volunteering service began 
delivery in January 2012, branded “Volunteer Centre Manchester”.  The volunteering 
service provides volunteers with new ways to develop skills and gain experience of the 
workplace as well as providing capacity to the third sector to deliver services to local 
residents.  

 
6.24 The new Volunteer Centre Manchester successfully gained accreditation with 

Volunteering England in late December 2012. The centre now runs sessions in the 
Customer Centre at First Street (and will continue to offer them from the newly 
refurbished town hall extension). A total of 2,500 volunteers have registered with the 
centre since it began operations in January 2012 and 308 organisations now use the 
volunteer centre to recruit volunteers to over 3,700 volunteer opportunities.  
 

6.25 The Third Sector Assembly provides an important strategic link between the sector and 
the Council. With a clear mandate from its membership and a reporting structure through 
which to feed back, representatives of the Assembly can liaise between the member 
organisations and the Council on a range of issues, including future budget reductions. 
The Assembly has provided an excellent opportunity to involve the third sector in the 
planning and delivery of consultations. 
 

6.26 Between March 2013 and August 2013 the infrastructure support service to the third 
sector will be retendered. The third sector assembly will form a key part of the revised 
specification alongside the volunteer centre and a bespoke support service to help third 
sector organisations access commissioning opportunities.  
 
Managing Reductions in Resources 
 

6.27 The funding reductions set out in the financial settlement in January 2013 led to further 
large scale transformation across the Council with a greater emphasis on Public Service 
Reform (PSR). Strong governance arrangements to support delivery of changes are 
necessary to continue to provide effective services with due regard to our legal 
obligations. New governance arrangements include the Targeted and Specialist Board 
which will assist in monitoring delivery of savings and performance improvements 
needed across Integrated Delivery and Commissioning.  

 
6.28 The Council’s budget decisions are framed around our ability to achieve the strategic 

objectives outlined in the Greater Manchester Strategy and the recent refresh of the 
New Strategic Narrative. The strategic approach is supported by the detailed budget 
reports and business plans. Where necessary proposals are subject to consultation and 
consideration of Equality Impact Assessments (EIAs) before final decisions are taken. 
When considering service redesign or service reduction, a range of factors including 
costs, efficiencies, impact on equalities and local factors (such as resident need and 
access to services) are taken into account before decisions are taken. 

 
6.29 In December 2012, Personnel Committee and the Executive agreed a time limit VSS 

Scheme (combined Voluntary Severance and Voluntary Early Retirement Scheme) to 
support the transformation of the workforce and assist with the anticipated workforce 
budget savings across 2013/14 and 2014/15.  Potentially the staffing implications impact 
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on all the spines in the Community Strategy. However, the ongoing review of services 
and skills will drive workforce reductions and be linked to corporate objectives. The 
practical application of the VSS Scheme has been developed to ensure that important 
skills necessary for the future needs of the Council are not lost and disruption to services 
is managed on a practical level.  
 
Workforce Development 
  

6.30 Organisational change and workforce development are governed through the m people 
principles and an agreed set of principles for organisational design. These organisational 
design and budget principles are aligned with our values, PEOPLE, PRIDE and PLACE.   
When workforce changes are being considered HR/OD Strategic Business Partners 
work within the Directorates to ensure these principles and values are considered as 
part of strategic decision making.  From a skills perspective each Directorate operates a 
Workforce Development Group (WDG). The WDG is responsible for delivering the 
Directorate Workforce Development Plans agreed through the business planning 
process and underpinned by the People Strategy.  The WDG also considers current and 
future skills needs and investment. These Groups are responsible, with their Heads of 
Service, for identifying and commissioning development for the next financial year. 

 
6.31 M people is an effective framework for delivering the required workforce changes 

needed by the transformation programme. It has been successful in supporting over 
5,000 staff through service redesigns and provided a flexible framework to move 
individuals to the point of greatest organisational need whilst supporting skills 
development and aspirations. m people will remain critical as the workforce transforms 
further over the coming year.  The Support for Change Programme was externally 
evaluated and received nationally recognition in the 2012 National Training Awards. 
 

6.32 Directorate Assistant Business Partners have an important role in coaching and 
developing managers in their understanding and subsequent compliance with the policy 
framework. Information is also available on the newly updated intranet pages, through 
the HR/OD helpline service and via manager briefings.   
 

6.33 The ICT structure was reviewed and this has led to a mini service redesign.  In addition 
to structural changes the ICT Management Team have developed a training plan which 
identifies the required skills and level of competence for all roles within the service, and 
links them to service outcomes. The training plan captures both the technical ICT 
development and non technical development required for all staff within the service.  
Successful implementation of the Plan will result in an improved ability to support the 
back-end functionality of some of the infrastructure and an improved understanding of 
the project governance process. The impact on service/customers would be expected to 
be felt through a streamlined project process and an ability to start to provide 
management information on some elements of infrastructure performance. 
 

6.34 The Council’s workforce must have the appropriate skills and capacity to support Public 
Service Reform (PSR), to support economic growth and achieve better outcomes for 
residents. Skills development needs to be focused around leadership and management 
as well as financial modelling, commercial acumen and research and evaluation.  
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Compliance with Internal Processes and Procedures 
 

6.35 The Handbook for Leaders is an online resource which brings together and summarises 
the various codes, policies and protocols concerned with the Council’s governance 
arrangements. It provides signposts to more detailed policies and procedures and who 
to contact for help. The Handbook was refreshed in June 2012.  A communication 
campaign was developed to raise awareness of the Handbook. The Handbook had a 
constant presence on the staff intranet front page for the month of July.  In addition, the 
Handbook was featured in the staff news, Love Manchester and m people broadcasts.  
Six different messages were developed for the campaign, each different and each 
adapted for the different types of staff communication channel. The communication 
campaign was successful with site usage improving from an average of 50 distinct users 
a month before the campaign, to an average of 560 distinct users a month by 6 August 
2012. 
 

6.36 A link to the Handbook for Leaders has been added to the m people offer letter.  This 
will ensure that everyone who takes an m people placement has the opportunity to read 
the appropriate guidance within the Handbook. 

7 Significant governance issues identified during 2012/13 
 

7.1 The following issues were identified as ways to manage possible risks to the resilience 
of our governance arrangements and/or systems of control, after the publication of the 
last AGS , through a four stage process:  
• Business Plan Self Assessments, which incorporated the Annual Governance Self 

Assessment Questionnaire; 
• Analysis of key performance documents, such as the Budget Monitoring Reports and 

Risk Reports; 
• Discussions with our external auditor, Grant Thornton, and an analysis of external 

audit recommendations reports; 
• A meeting of key SMT Leads to identify and discuss any potential emerging 

governance issues. 
 
Local Government Resources Review (LGRR) 
 

7.2 The Local Government Resources Review (LGRR) has brought, and will continue to 
bring, major changes to how Councils are funded, including the partial relocalisation of 
business rates.  Finance Scrutiny Committee on 6 September 2012 considered a paper 
on the possible implications for the Council’s funding position and the proposed new 
Business Rates Retention Scheme. The new scheme will increase volatility to the 
Council’s funding system as levels of funding will fluctuate depending on the change in 
business rates income from year to year. The Council has taken measures to 
adequately address any appeals to business rate changes and is looking into new ways 
of monitoring resources in this area.  

 
7.3 Councils will continue to receive an element of Revenue Support Grants. This means 

government will retain the ability to reduce spending in line with Comprehensive 
Spending Reviews. The impact of the local government financial settlement 2013/15 has 
been included in the budget reports considered by The Executive. Finance Scrutiny 
Committee also received a paper in January 2013 which set out the financial 
consequences of the settlement.   
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7.4 The other significant change is the localisation of the Council Tax Support Scheme with 
a 10% grant reduction. A new scheme has been implemented. This is likely to impact 
collection rates as many of those residents now liable for Council Tax previously did not 
have to pay. The scheme was approved by the Executive Committee on 16 January 
2013, having been reviewed in detail by the Finance Scrutiny Committee and will be 
carefully monitored.  
 

7.5 New monitoring arrangements are in place for the localised Council Tax Support 
Scheme and new Business Rates Retention Scheme in order that the impact of their 
introduction can be assessed and inform preparation for the challenges of the 15/16 
Comprehensive Spending Review. 
 
Welfare Reform 
 

7.6 Welfare Reform changes are expected to affect approximately 12,500 social tenants in 
Manchester, who under the new under-occupancy rules, could potentially lose up to 
25% of their Housing Benefit. Universal Credit has capped benefit for around 600 
residents and removed direct rent payments to social landlords. This could lead to an 
increase in rent arrears and household debt, and ultimately homelessness. In addition, 
there could be increased movement between landlords, or across Council boundaries as 
tenants may be driven toward the private rented sector, already under pressure from 
reductions in Local Housing Allowance. Work has been ongoing with housing providers 
to develop initiatives to support tenants likely to be impacted by the changes.  

 
7.7 A corporate officer Welfare Reform Programme Board is in place to ensure all services 

take a co-ordinated approach to dealing with impacts.  Directorate Business Plans 
recognise the risks and potential impacts and include measures to keep any increase in 
demand from the most vulnerable of families under close review. SRF Delivery Groups 
include representation from across the public sector, enabling agencies to coordinate 
and deliver effective integrated responses to the impacts relating to both welfare reform 
and cuts in services.  Briefing sessions for Ward Members have also taken place. A 
Welfare Reform ‘dashboard’ is now in place to monitoring impacts of welfare reform as 
changes start to take effect.  

 
7.8 The Council’s new Local Welfare Provision Scheme has replaced the Discretionary 

Social Fund (includes community care grants and crisis loans) from April 2013. The new 
scheme was approved by Executive on 16 January 2013.  Access to the scheme will be 
online, at council buildings, or with support from other agencies, for example through a 
Housing Association.  The new scheme will help our most vulnerable residents with 
basic furniture packages where people are being rehoused, additional furniture or 
equipment where residents require support to stay in their home, and small emergency 
loans for those in need of immediate financial assistance following a crisis.  Our scheme 
has tight eligibility criteria, as we need to be able to manage the fixed budget for the 
whole year.  
 

7.9 When considering applications for support, staff will consider individual circumstances 
and where necessary will link through to wider support packages and Council priorities, 
including safeguarding, Complex Families workstream, debt and money advice.  The 
scheme has been developed so that it supports appropriate circumstances and need 
and does not reward negative or inappropriate behaviours or perpetuate dependency. 
On this basis future applications can be restricted and as a general rule any cash 
payments need repaying to the Council. 
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The Strategic Education Partnership and the Schools Alliance 
 

7.10 A new collaborative partnership, the Strategic Education Partnership (SEP) was 
established between the Council, partners and all schools. A Strategic Education 
Partnership Board, chaired by the Leader, established the aspiration, direction and 
vision of education in Manchester by engaging and securing commitment from all 
partners. Board membership includes representation from the Council, schools, health 
partners, businesses, industry, higher and further education.  

 
7.11 The Schools Alliance (SA) was created to ensure that the SEP could deliver the City’s 

vision and aspiration. A Director of Education and Skills was appointed with 
responsibility for the Implementation Plan to establish the SEP and SA as fully 
operational from 1 April 2013. The SA is coordinated and managed through a Forum 
chaired by a Head Teacher, who is also be a member of the SEP Board. The Forum will 
also scrutinise the work of the SA to ensure it remains focused on school improvement. 
The SA will report to the SEP and to Manchester City Council. Members will have 
opportunities to scrutinise the work of the SA through the committee process.  

 
 Compliance Issues  

 
Information Governance 
 

7.12 The Council handles a significant volume of data and information relating to residents, 
customers and service users.  The Council will adhere to the Code of Recommended 
Practice for Local Authorities on Data Transparency.  Our governance and security 
arrangements help safeguard personal and sensitive data. These arrangements remain 
under continual review as there have been examples where security arrangements have 
been shown to be vulnerable in the year. Lessons learnt from our reviews have led to 
further improvements and refinement of our arrangements.  The Council’s Internal Audit 
Team has focused its review on controls over identity passes, email groupings and email 
access.  Work to further strengthen arrangements in these and other areas of 
information security will continue with the oversight of the Corporate Information 
Assurance and Risk Group during 2013/14. 
 
Social Care Casework 
 

7.13 Following an internal audit of casework management arrangements in Children's 
Services, concerns were raised with management regarding issues of non-compliance 
with standards of recording in the electronic social care system (MiCare).  The issues 
raised reflected risks in terms of the completeness and accuracy of records and the 
ability to readily access information that was held outside of the system.  In response the 
Strategic Director of Children and Commissioning Services is responsible for the 
development and implementation of an Improvement Action Plan which included 
briefings to senior staff, the establishment of a Quality Assurance Framework and 
management audits of case files.  These issues and the management response were 
the subject of a report and update to Audit Committee on 24 January 2013. The Action 
Plan has had an impact on the quality of recording and this will be subject to 
independent verification as part of a Peer Review and further Internal Audit work 
scheduled for 2013/14. 
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7.14 Delivering social support and health-related services involves handling perhaps the most 
sensitive and confidential information about citizens. Using, sharing and protecting this 
information effectively is fundamental to the transformation and integration of these 
services. In 2012/13, the Directorate for Adults, Health and Wellbeing achieved baseline 
compliance with the social care delivery version of the NHS Information Governance 
Toolkit – an annual self assessment framework for information-handling in health-related 
organisations.  In 2013/14 work will continue to improve performance against the IG 
Toolkit standards and to develop our information governance arrangements in the light 
of the recently published second Caldicott review 
 
Behavioural change across the workforce and within Manchester’s communities 

 
7.15 A key element of achieving our priorities will be creating the conditions that facilitate the 

sustainable behavioural change of our workforce and communities. Changing structures, 
processes and organisational arrangements alone will not create the scale and pace of 
change required. We must also develop resilient and aspirational communities with the 
skills and behaviours to access the opportunities created through growth.  

 
7.16 It is essential that the behaviours that are most effective in reducing demand and 

creating independence are clearly identified and articulated. Appropriate rewards, 
disincentives and sanctions need to be built into the way services operate, in order to 
encourage behaviours for independence and discourage those behaviours that 
perpetuate demand. Approaches to achieving behavioural change for both staff and 
Manchester residents are currently being progressed. 
 

7.17 A Members group has been established to oversee the approach to behavioural change 
and monitor progress and impact.  Each Transformation Programme will incorporate 
behavioural change projects which will be governed through Transformation Boards.  A 
co-ordination group of Senior Officers from across the Council will ensure consistency of 
approach, ensure that appropriate models of behavioural change are deployed, share 
learning and address issues as they arise. 

 

8 Future actions for further improvements to our governance 
arrangements 

 
8.1 The review of governance arrangements has identified four areas where the Council will 

need to focus its efforts during 2013/14.   
  
Monitoring the impacts of organisational change 
 

8.2 Following the introduction of new directorate structures along with workforce reductions 
and closer partnership working, transformation, public service reform and welfare 
reform, real-time performance information will become increasingly important for budget 
monitoring and forecasting. We will ensure that our performance management 
framework provides appropriate intelligence and data to support decision makers to 
strategically plan and deliver against our key objectives. Each of the PSR workstreams 
will need to be supported by a robust evaluation and reporting framework, this is 
currently under development.  

 
8.3 During 2013/14 PSR work will be expanding. There is a need to ensure that roles, 

responsibilities and expectations of staff working in partnerships are clearly set out and 
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communicated. In addition, there is a need to ensure that sound governance 
arrangements are in place for the management and operation of the Commissioning 
Hub. 
 
Information Governance 
 

8.4 Evidence based decision making is a key part of public service reform which in turn 
relies on quality data. The Council holds increasing volumes of personal and sensitive 
data and there are governance and security arrangements to help safeguard the control 
of this data. The Council will need to ensure that data security, information sharing 
protocols and data quality issues are appropriately addressed.  
 
The Integration of Health and Social Care 
 

8.5 The whole programme of public health spend will be subject to a review during 2013/14. 
This will include a review of all contracts to ensure that expenditure is evaluated to 
ensure that it is evidence based, aligned to delivering the public health outcomes, 
supports the integration of health and social care and achieves the best possible 
efficiency and value for money through integration and reducing duplication with other 
areas of Council and NHS spend. The transfer of public health to the Council has been a 
lengthy and complex task. A good understanding exists with the City’s three Clinical 
Commissioning Groups to enable local resolutions of any issues whilst changes are 
being embedded. It is clear that the integration of public health into the Council brings 
with it many opportunities to do things differently and for the Council to strengthen its 
leadership role as a public health and prevention focused organisation. Further work is 
currently underway to identify options for achieving this. 
 

 ICT  
 
8.6 There is a comprehensive governance structure in place led by the ICT Board. An ICT 

Continuity Change and Risk Group has been established to lead on ICT Projects such 
as the relocation to a new data centre. Risks around the migration and security of data 
need to be clearly identified and managed. There are funded improvements underway 
with the data centre, network and telephony which are designed to improve resilience. 
We will monitor and report progress on these and other key ICT projects throughout the 
year.  
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